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DAY 1 – 16 NOVEMBER 2015 

 

  [9.31 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Just to notify that the conflicts issues have been posted 5 

online and if there are any specific ones arising in the course of the 

hearing members of the Panel will put those on the record, for the 

transcript. 

 

 So, Ms Ash? 10 

 

MS ASH:   May it please your Honour, would you like me to start now with 

the submissions?  

 

SJH:   Yes, we have got the record of everybody in front of us so I won’t 15 

needlessly go through the appearances, just go straight to the business 

at hand. 

 

MS ASH:   Thank you, sir.  I am very aware that we filed these submissions 

after working hours so I am not aware whether you have had an 20 

opportunity to have a look at them yet. 

 

SJH:   I will confess, I haven’t. 

 

MS ASH:   So I will begin then, sir, with the introduction. 25 

 

SJH:   But if you would just speak to them because you will get a better chance 

in closing. 

 

MS ASH:   Just starting off at paragraph 1.2.  The Panel is likely to be aware 30 

through the evidence that has been filed that a significant number of 

matters have actually been resolved on the way through the process 

having had the mediation before the evidence exchange.   

 

 In paragraphs 1.3 and 1.4 I summarise there the matters that are still 35 

outstanding, and at paragraph 2 I outline the scope of the hearing.  

Specifically at 2.4 and 2.5 there are two matters, first, in relation to the 

Residential New Neighbourhood zones, these matters can’t be 

addressed in this hearing because there is infrastructural work that has 

to be done Ms Hogan is going to address a high level policy matter 40 

only and they will be done in further hearings.  And similarly in 

relation to the Fulton Hogan proposal, if the Panel is minded to look at 

the exchange zoning that is being requested, then there are some open 

space matters that would need to be determined by the Panel before that 

zoning is finalised. 45 
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 Just a summary of the legal issues there which relate to ultimately the 

Fulton Hogan deferred zoning and also the issue of natural justice.  In 

terms of the proposal essentially paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) address the 

matter that the importance of the rural areas for the Christchurch 

economy.  And going to paragraph 4.2, primarily in my submission the 5 

proposal provides an enabling framework for the variety of rural 

activities including quarrying which is now a discretionary activity and 

I address that later in these submissions. 

 

 The paragraph 4.3. I have just outlined there for completeness the range 10 

of zones which are six recognising the unique elements of the various 

rural areas within the Christchurch region.   

 

  [9.35 am] 

 15 

 Section 5, just highlighting there the importance of the urban, non-

urban and rural divide which has already been addressed before this 

Panel and, in summary, it is submitted that the direction that urban 

activities, and I would like to add in there at paragraph 5.2 “and urban 

development”, if I can add those words after “urban activities”, are to 20 

be avoided outside the existing urban areas, or greenfield priority areas.   

 

 So I understand the Panel has had quite a lot of material presented to 

them on these issues, but they do come through in these rural matters 

that you have to decide. 25 

 

 Just skipping through then, the recovery strategy, the coastal policy 

statement and the strategic direction objectives; the Council is 

proposing a new strategic objective for rural matters.  The Panel will be 

aware that in decision No 1 the Panel indicated that there was not 30 

enough information to make a determination in relation to a rural 

objective.  So in the provisions that are attached to Ms Hogan’s 

evidence there is a new objective and that objective addresses, at 5.11, 

enabling rural productive activities so that the rural environment can 

efficiently use the rural resource and contribute to the economy.  And 35 

that drives all of those provisions that you will have before you in the 

proposal.  It also recognises the contribution that rural land makes to 

natural and cultural values including Ngāi Tahu values and that is 

addressed in more detail in Ms Hogan’s evidence. 

 40 

 Coming to the objectives and policies these have largely been agreed 

between the parties through the process, both the evidence and the 

mediation, and the outstanding issues are addressed in the evidence.  

Essentially the ones that will be probably the most contentious that you 

are going to hear from during this hearing are those at (d), (e) and (f) as 45 

those are the policy issues relating to the issue of extracting quarry 
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material whether it is onsite or it is off, the high quality gravel overlay 

and the issue relating to the rezoning of the Templeton Country Club 

and those will be dealt with during this hearing. 

 

 Then in section 7, 8 and 9 I have just outlined there the key matters that 5 

are related to Ms Hogan’s evidence which have to be addressed and 

decided by the Panel.  And then moving to quarrying which is, I think 

fair to say, the more contentious aspect of these rural matters.  At 10.1 

the Council submits that this is an enabling framework for quarrying.  

First of all within the Quarry zone it is a permitted activity subject to 10 

certain standards and the Rural Quarry zone provides a framework for 

both the existing quarries within the previous Quarry zone and 

facilitates their continued operation and indeed for new quarries in that 

zone as well.   

 15 

 The second element of this enabling framework is the fact that it is a 

discretionary activity in the zones outside the Quarry zone and it is 

supported in the policy framework.  So that is much more enabling than 

district plans previously and I am going to be addressing later this issue 

of the fact that it has moved from a non-complying activity to a 20 

discretionary activity with a policy framework that supports that 

discretionary activity status. 

 

 There is broad agreement between the Crown, the Council and industry 

submitters in relation to this approach.  The disagreement relates to a 25 

few key matters, and I am going to take you through those now. 

 

 First of all, the activities associated with quarrying are enabled within 

the Rural Quarry zone.  These activities include concrete batching and 

asphalt plants, aggregate recycling including concrete crushing.  These 30 

activities were non-complying under previous plans whereas here they 

are permitted, restricted discretionary or discretionary depending on 

their scale, character and potentially effects.  And I repeat the fact that 

that is more enabling than under previous plans. 

 35 

 And it leads to efficiencies which can be gained from co-locating these 

activities within operational quarries but it does so in a manner that 

allows for the varying degrees of effects to be managed appropriately.  

The point of contention in relation to the activity status of ancillary 

processing activities between industry and the Council relates to 40 

processing once the majority of the inputs are no longer sourced from 

within the quarry site. 
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  [9.40 am] 

 

 And what we mean by “majority” there – which is in the rules – Is over 

50 percent.  And there seemed to be agreement about that matter at 

mediation, that that was majority equals over 50 percent. 5 

 

 Once this occurs, once it is over 50 percent is brought in from outside 

then the Council’s view is it has changed its nature and it essentially 

becomes an industrial activity located in a rural area and that is when 

you should need to actually apply for a resource consent. 10 

 

 At 11.7, it is submitted that Council’s approach, specifically requiring a 

resource consent once it is over 50 percent, appropriately gives effect to 

the higher order policy objectives seeking urban consolidation.  There 

is an analysis of that in the Council’s evidence.  Ms Radburnd 15 

concludes that when processing and selling of imported aggregate 

becomes the primary activity at a quarry that activity has ceased to be a 

legitimate rural activity as defined by the CRPS and it is better 

described as an industrial activity and therefore, because they have to 

be avoided outside the urban area, then you should have a resource 20 

consent. 

 

 The second matter which requires a determination is the High Quality 

Gravel Overlay.  At 12.2, this was recommended to be removed by 

Ms Radburnd in her evidence because there is a perception by the 25 

community that this is encouraging quarries within the overlay and that 

wasn’t the intention of the overlay at all and, given it is not achieving 

the clarity that is required in a district plan, then the Council’s position 

is that it is appropriate to remove it.   

 30 

SJH:   This I take it came from community consultation? 

 

MS ASH:   It came from submissions and during the process. 

 

SJH:   Just the submission process? 35 

 

MS ASH:   And I understand discussions with submitters in an informal way. 

 

SJH:   All right. 

 40 

MS ASH:   And it meant that the Council realised that its great intention had 

not actually been achieved. 

 

 The third matter is quarry rehabilitation at 13.1.  The provisions for 

rehabilitation have been refined significantly throughout the process.  45 

An agreed position has been reached whereby the 2031 sunset clause 
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and the staged restoration rules, which set maximum open excavated 

area, were removed and replaced with a new rehabilitation rule which 

requires all existing quarries to have a rehabilitation plan in place 

within two years of the plan becoming operative.  So that rule is 

complemented by the minimum internal batter rules, and the retention 5 

of the one metre groundwater extraction rule.   

 

 The one metre groundwater extraction rule in the proposal is limited to 

rehabilitation considerations, from the point of view of the Council 

officers but you will be aware from our evidence that the Councillors 10 

have a different position, and that is provided to you in separate 

evidence. 

 

 Although the agreed position has been reached the Council has some 

concerns about the status of the permitted activity rule but this has been 15 

agreed at mediation and any issue in terms of its certainty will 

hopefully be addressed on the way through this process. 

 

 Another matter is the groundwater protection rule and the depth of 

excavation at section 15 of these submissions.  The Panel will be aware 20 

that the Council officers and the elected members have different 

positions on the appropriateness of including a rule to protect 

groundwater.   

 

 Ms Radburnd’s position is that it is to be used for rehabilitation and 25 

future land use rules, particularly given that it is addressed in the 

Canterbury Land and Water Regional Plan.  Mr Potts agrees with that, 

and then over in 15.4, the elected members’ position is that the 

consequences of contaminating the aquifers from quarrying are so 

serious that it is appropriate for this matter to be regulated by the plan.   30 

 

 The aquifers provide drinking water, which is of such a high quality, 

that it is currently supplied untreated in most cases and, as the supplier 

of that drinking water, the elected members consider that the Council 

has a duty to protect it.  And the further basis for that is in 15.5 and 35 

these two witnesses providing support of the Councillors’ position. 

 

  [9.45 am] 

 

 The Panel will have received further evidence from the Council in 40 

relation to the definition of maximum high water level.  We 

acknowledge that it was agreed at the mediation but subsequently, 

having assumed that June to August were the wettest months, further 

research has showed that that actually isn’t the case and Mr Potts has 

consequently revised his position. 45 
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 The next matter where there is a difference of opinion between the 

Council and other parties is the Council officers believe that the 

notification clause should be just based on the normal provisions of the 

Resource Management Act section 95, whereas the elected members 

believe that a mandatory public notification increases the certainty for 5 

surrounding residents and enables them to participate in applications, 

and so that is a difference of position and there are residents supporting 

that notification issue. 

 

 Then the key matter to be really determined by the Panel relates to the 10 

Fulton Hogan proposed rezoning.  The Panel will be aware that this is 

effectively a swapping of zoning between the Fulton Hogan current 

quarry and the Templeton Country Club.  In their evidence they make it 

very clear, and I have outlined the issues there at 17.2(a) you need a 

reserve exchange process under the Reserves Act, on page 18(b) a 15 

resource consent needs to be granted and, thirdly, Fulton Hogan have 

proposed a contract.  And the Council isn’t quite clear whether it is a 

contract with someone to do an international quality golf course or 

whether it is with the Council.  There is some clarification which I am 

sure we will get during the process of the hearing. 20 

 

 Fulton Hogan recognise that if any of the above matters fail to 

eventuate then the deferred zonings would not be uplifted and the 

status quo zoning would be retained, and that is the position. 

 25 

 Now I have outlined there, sir, a range of case law because obviously 

deferred zoning it can be contentious.  There are some instances when 

it is there.  I am very happy to take you through it but you might like to 

take it as read. 

 30 

SJH:   I think it is probably better, Ms Ash, that we leave it for closing once we 

have heard the evidence and we may or may not have greater clarity 

around that evidence and the position, once we have heard it. 

 

MS ASH:   Thank you.  The only point I want to highlight there, sir, is that the 35 

case law is very clear that most of the situations relate to infrastructure 

and the issue for the Council is that the case law is very much around 

infrastructure being provided at some point in the future and usually it 

is matters such as bulk infrastructure which are generally within the 

control of the Council.  And the point here is that some of the matters 40 

are not within the control of the Council and that is what puts it into a 

slightly different position and I guess from the Council’s point of view 

it is about making sure that we have got a good resource management 

process going on. 

 45 
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 17.12, it is submitted that the Fulton Hogan proposal is contrary to the 

sustainable management purpose of the Act, the principles of sound 

resource management practice and the notion of certainty in securing 

investment as set out in the OIC.  The Fulton Hogan proposal 

unnecessarily adds a layer of complexity and uncertainty to the plan in 5 

order to zone a small area of land for quarrying when quarrying may 

well prove to be inappropriate at the site, and we have summarised 

below the key reasons. 

 

 First of all it relates to a high level of uncertainty associated with the 10 

proposed triggers.  And the first one of those is the exchange of the 

reserve under section 15, it depends on a decision first by the Council 

and ultimately by a third party, the Minister of Conservation.  And I 

have outlined there some of the matters, I won’t go through them now 

because you are going to hear from them during this process, the 15 

matters of concern to Mr Wedge. 

 

 At paragraph 17.15(c), if a land exchange could not be achieved under 

the Reserves Act, the reserve status would have to be revoked and if 

that could be achieved this would lead to the land being returned to the 20 

Crown who are obliged to offer it to Ngāi Tahu in the first instance if 

the Crown wish to dispose of the land.  So this highlights in the 

Council’s position the uncertainty. 

 

  [9.50 am] 25 

 

 The second matter is the outcome of a resource consent process to 

remove significant indigenous vegetation for the site.  That is also 

uncertain, particularly given that it is a section 6 issue.  Dr Partridge 

has outlined in his evidence the issues that he sees as considerable, and 30 

as I have said I will not go through those, but they are summarised 

there for the benefit of the Panel. 

 

 Those two matters in the position of the Council are of a significant 

concern in terms of the certainty.   35 

 

 At 7.17 the resource consent is needed in any event because of the 

significant indigenous vegetation on the site.  The third point is 

accepting the zoning now may inadvertently pre-empt future decisions 

for the land, and it is submitted that this can, by zoning it now, 40 

ultimately be considered as premature, the two issues that I have 

already highlighted in relation to the Biodiversity and the Reserves Act, 

are in the Council’s submission at 17.21 it is accepting the deferred 

zoning now carries an unnecessary and inappropriate risk that it would 

add pressure to the Ministry of Conservation and Council to make 45 

decisions in favour or Fulton Hogan. 
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 And I am going back to the case law that I refer to at 7.9 above, it pre-

empts the analysis that is yet to be done, and that is something that the 

cases consider is very important, that issue of not pre-empting 

something that has to be decided in due course.   5 

 

 Clarity and ease of use, once again there is a very clear direction to the 

Council to make the District Plan provisions clear, it is not something 

that the Council wants to do in terms of deferred zoning, I am not 

aware of any other matter that has that in this process, and the Council 10 

doesn’t want to resile from that policy position.   

 

 In conclusion, the level of uncertainty is greater than which the Council 

considered unacceptable in the four-walled decision discussed above, 

that is inconsistent with the purpose of the Act and will lead to 15 

uncertainty for plan users.   

 

 The final matter in relation to Fulton Hogan is procedural fairness.  It is 

submitted that the way Fulton Hogan has approached the proposal has 

inadvertently led to procedural unfairness on behalf of submitters.  20 

Fulton Hogan submitted, and I need to correct that it was a four page 

submission not a two page, apologies for that.  However, significant 

detail and an outlined development plan were subsequently provided in 

Fulton Hogan’s evidence.  There are a number of parties who are 

potentially directly affected by the rezoning, and had the proposal been 25 

advanced in the normal way by a plan change they would have been 

notified under clause 5 of schedule one.   

 

 In the present case, while neighbours or other members of the public 

could make a further submission on the Fulton Hogan submission, this 30 

is very much reliant on their being aware of Fulton Hogan’s submission 

when there are so many submissions and no summary of submissions 

so there is a risk - - - 

 

SJH:   Well can I say could have made summaries but their database was so 35 

flawed it did not really allow it.  Perhaps you could have mentioned 

there, Ms Ash. 

 

MS ASH:   I am not aware of that, sir.   

 40 

SJH:   Well you should be.   

 

MS ASH:   In terms of, for laypersons, even if there is a flaw in the process, 

sir, there is potential prejudice - - - 

 45 

SJH:   We understand the point. 
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MS ASH:   So there is a risk that there are parties that could have been, and it 

is interesting that in something like this there is only one submitter, 

Ms Harnett, who has made a submission. 

 5 

 Just to interpolate here orally, the Council has provided the Panel with 

rebuttal evidence in relation to noise, landscape and traffic, which 

acknowledges potentially those effects can be managed.  We have 

actually done that to assist the Panel but that does not remove the 

Council’s preliminary position which is that it is opposed to the 10 

rezoning proposal, but we have fulfilled our obligation to assist the 

Panel in that way. 

 

  [9.55 am] 

 15 

 I have outlined the witnesses there, and obviously I will not read that 

out.  I would just like to concluded by saying that throughout the 

Council’s evidence, both its evidence-in-chief and rebuttal, the planners 

have referred to either the section 32 assessment, and ultimately the 

section 32AA assessment on their way through.  Ms Hogan has very 20 

much done that, Ms Radburnd has done it by referring to the tests under 

the Act.   

 

 If it would assist the Panel, we would be very happy to pull that 

together into a table to be attached to our rebuttal, if that would assist 25 

the Panel.  I understand how important section 32AA is to the Panel, 

but we haven’t got it in one place, so I would like to - - - 

 

SJH:   That would be helpful.  It would be of assistance to have it one place, 

thank you for that.  30 

 

MS ASH:   Those are my submissions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  If you call your first witness then. 

 35 

MS ASH:   I now call Ms Debbie Hogan.   
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<DEBORAH JANE HOGAN, affirmed [9.56 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [9.56 am] 

 

MS ASH:   Ms Hogan, is your full name Deborah Jane Hogan? 

 

MS HOGAN:   It is. 5 

 

MS ASH:   Do you have the qualifications and experience that you outlined in 

previous statements of evidence for the Stage 1 Definitions Proposal? 

 

MS HOGAN:   I do. 10 

 

MS ASH:   Would you please confirm to the Panel that the material that you 

have provided in your evidence-in-chief and in your rebuttal is true and 

correct? 

 15 

MS HOGAN:   It is true and correct.  There are a couple of minor errors that I 

wish to address. 

 

MS ASH:   Would you please outline those to the Panel.   

 20 

MS HOGAN:   Firstly in terms of my evidence-in-chief on page 3, paragraph 

2.4, the third line should refer to appendix 6 and not 2.4.  Then turning 

to my rebuttal evidence on page 1, paragraph 2.2, delete the first 

sentence, as that is not relevant to the rebuttal evidence.   

 25 

 Then in terms of the revised proposal that is attached rebuttal evidence, 

just a few corrections in there. 

 

SJH:   Can they be put into a document and that can be lodged to replace these 

corrections and it can be posted online and made available to other 30 

submitters, rather than go through that now.  

 

MS ASH:   Certainly, sir.  Thank you, yes. 

 

SJH:   But if they could be briefly outlined, but we will expect a clean copy 35 

with the closing of it close together. 

 

MS ASH:   It might assist everyone if we do that and provide it first thing 

tomorrow at the latest. 

 40 

SJH:   Yes, but in the course of Mr Hogan’s evidence she can outline the 

changes or corrections she wishes to make.  

 

MS ASH:   Ms Hogan, would you please outline your summary to the Panel 

and answer any questions. 45 
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MS HOGAN:   Certainly.   

 

SJH:   And as part of that highlights, just outline those changes that you will 

incorporate in that final document.   

 5 

MS HOGAN:   Okay, I will address those at the end. 

 

 Good morning, my name is Deborah Hogan and I hold the position of 

Senior Policy Planner at the Christchurch City Council.  I have been 

Rural Chapter Lead since February 2014.   10 

 

 My evidence provides a strategic overview and discusses the policy 

framework in relevant zone provisions, for the Rural Proposal.  I do not 

deal with quarry related provisions, which are covered by 

Ms Radburnd.   15 

 

 The policy includes six rural zones based on their geographic location 

and other factors.  Through these zones the provisions provide an 

enabling framework for rural productive activities, and this terms refers 

to; farming, forestry, intensive farming and quarrying activities. 20 

 

 Overall, this seeks to achieve a productive and diverse rural 

environment across the district.  The provisions provide an appropriate 

package to manage activities that may result in reverse sensitivity 

effects on both rural productive activities and strategic infrastructure, to 25 

avoid urban activities and development in the greater Christchurch area 

– sorry, in terms of the rural environment in that part of the greater 

Christchurch area – and overall to main rural character and amenity 

values. 

 30 

  [10.00 am] 

 

 And just here, I will just clarify that my evidence uses the term “urban 

activities – avoiding urban activities”, and I realise that the RPS states 

“avoiding urban development” and that flows through into ensuring 35 

new activities are avoided or, sorry, not provided for within or outside 

of existing urban areas.  So I have used the term “activity” as a proxy 

for development and generally just in terms of providing an enabling 

framework for rural productive activities. 

 40 

 In terms of recovery there are no significant issues for the rural 

environment and the focus is on the continued operation of rural 

productive activities and their ability to adapt to changing industry 

needs and economic conditions.  The policy framework recognises the 

economic role of rural land, particularly its working function.  45 
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 The revised proposal reflects successful mediation, both informal and 

formal, where agreement was reached on amendments, including an 

agreed policy framework.  The agreed changes mainly relate to the 

Rural Urban Fringe and the Rural Banks Peninsula zones. 

 5 

 Key changes from the notified version of the proposal include: a 

strengthened policy framework with improved clarify in the outcomes 

sought and additional or amended policies to provide better links to the 

rules and through to chapter 9.  A new strategic direction objective has 

been recommended to cover the rural environment.  There has also 10 

been strengthened provisions to manage incompatible activities in 

relation to strategic infrastructure and additional provisions to manage 

reverse sensitivity effects on rural productive activities. 

 

 A more enabling approach for some rural productive activities has been 15 

provided and this includes intensive farming moving from a 

discretionary to a restricted discretionary activity status.  In addition 

some built form standards now include exemptions for farming 

activities. 

 20 

 In the Rural Urban Fringe zone, the activity status for a residential unit 

and minor residential unit on a one hectare site, or less, has been 

reduced from prohibited to non-complying.  There is also better 

recognition of new community facilities through a reduced activity 

status from discretionary to restricted discretionary.   25 

 

 For Rural Banks Peninsula there are also less restrictive provisions in 

relation to minor residential units, rural tourism and farm stay 

activities, recognising the different environment and pressures that are 

placed on Banks Peninsula.  There has also been alignment of 30 

provisions between subdivision and land use for Rural Banks 

Peninsula. 

 

 In addition, all plantation forestry on Banks Peninsula requires resource 

consent as a restricted discretionary activity in order to manage the 35 

effects on visual amenity, natural values and the risk of wilding tree 

spread. 

 

 There are a number of outstanding matters that are unresolved, most of 

which are relatively focused on a specific area or provision.  I consider 40 

that the proposal has undergone significant improvements to meet relief 

sought by submitters.  There has been a reduction in the number of 

built form standards, a reduction in activity status where appropriate, 

and improved clarity in policies and linkages to rules in other chapters. 

 45 
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 Where the proposal has been revised in response to submission my 

evidence-in-chief addresses the appropriateness of these amendments 

in a specific statement in relation to section 32 to meet the requirements 

of section 32AA.  My rebuttal evidence also assesses further 

amendments to the revised proposal with consideration for section 5 

32AA, along with acceptance of any assessments included in 

submitters’ evidence, where appropriate 

 

 Overall, I consider the revised proposal achieves the rural objective, 

Strategic Directions, and gives effect to the RPS and Statement of 10 

Expectations, and meets the relevant statutory tests under the RMA.   

 

 Just in terms of the errors in the revised proposal, they are just some 

minor cross-referencing errors in relation to the – In the Rural Banks 

Peninsula zone – minimum separation distances, a cross referencing 15 

matter for a matter of discretion, and then there are a couple of minor 

errors in relation to the quarry site rehabilitation rule, just some internal 

cross referencing errors there, sort of insignificant. 

 

  [10.05 am] 20 

 

 Just one other omission from evidence is, there is an appendix 3 

attached to my statement in evidence and this appendix relates to the 

planning maps that have been amended in response to an agreement 

with the Summit Road Protection Society, and this agreement is 25 

currently being drafted up, however the planning maps that have been 

attached essentially show the extent of the Summit Road Protection Act 

and they are provided on the planning maps for information purposes 

only and so that is what those maps address, and connected to that there 

is an advice note that sits in the Rural Banks Peninsula zone and Rural 30 

Port Hills that advise plan users of the need to go - - - 

 

SJH:   Can we expect the agreement by the end of the hearing? 

 

MS HOGAN:   It was almost there, however we are trying to also wrap up their 35 

stage 3 submission as well within that.  So yes we will endeavour to get 

that done for the hearing, yes. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Thank you.  Mr Cleary? 

 40 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [10.06 am] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, sir, and members of the Panel.  Good morning, 

Ms Hogan. 

 45 

MS HOGAN:   Morning. 
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MR CLEARY:   Ms Hogan, I am here to ask you some questions on behalf of 

submitter Kerry Jones (ph 1.32) submitter 2316, and in respect of two 

properties at number 9 and number 15 Barters Road, are you familiar 

with those properties? 5 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And you understand that those properties are 2.6 hectares and 

2.04 hectares in size respectively? 10 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And therefore they do not meet the minimum four hectare 

requirement set out in the plan. 15 

 

MS HOGAN:   Correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Is that for new sites? 

 20 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, okay and these are existing sites, sites that have been in 

existence for probably 30 or 40 years at least, that is correct? 

 25 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Can I take you to page 5 and it is appendix 1 to your rebuttal 

evidence, which is the amendments that have been made to policy 

17.1.1.5 and that is policy 5.  I am just wondering whether – I think 30 

Mr Osborne is bringing this up on the screen.  That is page 5, 

appendix 1 to Ms Hogan’s rebuttal evidence. 

 

SJH:   So it is appendix 1 on page 5. 

 35 

MR CLEARY:   Appendix 1, page 5. 

 

SJH:   Not page 5 of the evidence. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Page 5 of appendix 1, that is what I said. 40 

 

SJH:   So is it attachment, appendix 1 of attachment A. 

 

MR CLEARY:   That is correct.  It is on the screen now, sir. 

 45 

SJH:   So it is attachment A you are referring to? 
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MR CLEARY:   Appendix A, yes. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   And if I take you, Ms Hogan, to clause 6(vi) which has been 

deleted and that is the clause that reads, “enable use of existing sites 

less than four hectares for rural dwellings in the Rural Urban Fringe 

zone”. 

 10 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Have a look at that, and that has been deleted, it appears, on 

the basis of a submission by the Crown.  Is that correct? 

 15 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And a submission by Cathedral City Developments. 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 20 

 

MR CLEARY:   Are you familiar with the submission by the Crown? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes I am, yes. 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and it refers there to page 29, submission point 2387.A 

Crown page 29, and I think Mr Osborne will bring that up. 

 

 Now if you can take time to familiarise yourself again with the relief 

sought, you would agree that within that relief sought there is no 30 

specific reference to the actual policy on development of existing sites 

less than four hectares? 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 35 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, I would agree with that. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And are you able to say which part of point 8, formed the 

basis for the deletion of that clause 6? 

 40 

MS HOGAN:   It would be first and foremost the top one, clarifying the 

outcomes intended by objectives and policies, and then the linkages 

through to the rules - - - 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay. 45 
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MS HOGAN:   - - - probably the first one, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And then point 9.8 refers to shall I say more specific rule 8 in 

terms of amending the proposals in accordance with the more detailed 

decisions sought in part B of their submission.  That is correct?  Part B 5 

of their submission you understand contained the Crown’s submission 

on chapter 17. 

 

MS HOGAN:   It did. 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   And I could go, Mr Osborne, if you could go to page 199 of 

the submission.  Now again if you familiarise yourself with this, 

Ms Hogan, you accept that the Crown has not made a submission 

requesting any changes to that specific policy 5? 

 15 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, I agree they did not make a specific request. 

 

MR CLEARY:  Okay, and the second reference is to Cathedral City 

Developments, in terms of the deletions. 

 20 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And you are familiar with the Cathedral City Developments? 

 

MS HOGAN:   I am. 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   Cathedral City Developments, you understand, Ms Hogan, the 

relief they sought was not to delete that sub-clause?   

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 30 

 

MR CLEARY:   And in fact it was to amend that clause so that it would read, 

“enable use of existing sites for rural dwellings”.  That is correct, is it 

not? 

 35 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, from memory, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   You would accept that there is no specific submission seeking 

deletion of clause 6 of policy 5? 

 40 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, I would accept that. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And in the same respect there is no submission if we go back 

to that policy 5, page 5 of the first appendix to Ms Hogan’s rebuttal 

evidence.  If you look at sub-clause 4 and there is a deletion, “prioritise 45 
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the use of existing sites”, and that has been deleted on the basis, it 

appears, of the Crown’s very general submission.  That is correct? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Correct. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   So there is no specific submission seeking deletion of those 

words in clause 4, that is correct? 

 

MS HOGAN:   That is correct. 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   Do you accept, Ms Hogan, that there may be a significant 

number of landowners affected in a policy sense by those deletions? 

 

MS HOGAN:   There may be, yes, I may accept that that may be the case, 

however those amendments were made in terms of clarifying the intent 15 

of the policy and those clarifications, including the deletion, I do not 

believe excludes consideration of those matters from that policy. 

 

MR CLEARY:   They are very specific deletions that are not raised in any 

submissions.  You accept that? 20 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, yes, I do. 

 

MR CLEARY:   In terms of the section 32 analysis for the Rural proposal, you 

are the author of appendix 6 which is entitled A Management Approach 25 

for Rural Living in the Peri-urban Flatland Area of the Christchurch 

District.  You were the author of that appendix? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, yes, I was. 

 30 

  [10.15 am] 

 

 And that report recommended that for existing sites, between one to 

four hectares, establish a dwelling on such sites should be a restricted 

discretionary activity, you recall that? 35 

 

MS HOGAN:   No, I do not recall that specifically in terms of the report 

recommended that. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 40 

 

MS HOGAN:   Do you have a page number? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Can I introduce – these are extracts from that appendix. 

 45 

SJH:   Well is it not better simply to refer to the appendix? 
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MR CLEARY:   Pardon? 

 

SJH:  Rather than create an exhibit, is it not better simply to refer to the 

appendix? 5 

 

MR CLEARY:   Well this is the appendix.  I am not sure whether you have it. 

 

SJH:   But the appendix is already in evidence is it, or are you saying it is not? 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   No it is not in evidence. 

 

SJH:   I see.  Exhibit 1 then. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Sir, I think I might take a few minutes longer than the allotted 15 

10 minutes, if that is okay?  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Try to be succinct though, Mr Cleary. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I do try to be, sir.  So do I need the witness to formally 20 

produce this document? 

 

SJH:   Yes, you do. 

 

EXHIBIT #1 – DISTRICT PLAN REVIEW, RURAL CHAPTER 17, 25 

SECTION 32, APPENDIX 6 

 

MR CLEARY:  Ms Hogan, this document, it is entitled A Management 

Approach for Rural Living in the Peri-urban Flatland Area of the 

Christchurch District, that is correct? 30 

 

MS HOGAN:   That is correct, yes.   

 

MR CLEARY:   And it was prepared by yourself? 

 35 

MS HOGAN:   It was. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And it stated October/November 2014, that is correct? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 40 

 

MR CLEARY:   And at the bottom in the footnote it refers to the document as 

being a section 32 report. 

 

MS HOGAN:   Correct. 45 
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MR CLEARY:   Publically notified on 2 May 2015. 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   If I could produce that document as Exhibit 1, sir. 5 

 

SJH:   I am sorry, I did not hear, did you produce it? 

 

MR HOGAN:   Yes, I did. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And the first page of that document, not the cover page, refers 

to the recommended approach and it says that that approach involves, 

and that is, enabling a dwelling on existing sites of one hectare to four 15 

hectare, that is correct? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Sorry, which page were you referring to? 

 

MR CLEARY:   It is the recommend approach. 20 

 

MS HOGAN:   So the first page? 

 

MR CLEARY:   First page.  And on existing sites, and that is sites such as our 

client’s, the recommended approach in the section 32 analysis, is that a 25 

dwelling be a restricted discretionary activity, and if it is outside the 

high quality gravels overlay, that is correct? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Correct. 

 30 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and under the proposed chapter 17 as notified it was a 

discretionary activity, that is correct? 

 

MS HOGAN:   That is correct. 

 35 

MR CLEARY:  Are you able to explain why it was a fully discretionary 

activity, as opposed to a restricted discretionary activity? 

 

MS HOGAN:   It would have gone through – so this report was prepared as 

part of the documentation in the background analysis on site size and 40 

the approach, so it would have gone into – or did, sorry – went into the 

development of the provisions and then we would have gone through 

further analysis and discussions with councillors and other team 

members working on an approach, particularly relating to quarrying 

and trying to match those things.  So hence it changed during that 45 

approach as a result of further analysis. 
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MR CLEARY:   And is that analysis documented anywhere, in terms of the 

rationale behind making it a fully discretionary activity as opposed to a 

restricted discretionary activity? 

 5 

MS HOGAN:   It would have been documented in there.  If it is not I accept 

that that may be an omission from the section 32 analysis that needs to 

be addressed. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Is it in evidence? 10 

 

MS HOGAN:   As far as I am aware, the change from restricted discretionary 

to discretionary, no. 

 

  [10.20 am] 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   No, okay.  And in terms of that status, you would accept that 

the section 32 analysis, the conclusion that that restricted discretionary 

activity for sites between one and four hectares met or achieved the 

higher order regional policy statement? 20 

 

MS HOGAN:   At this point in time based on this assessment that was - - - 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 25 

MS HOGAN:   That was the recommended approach. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And turning to chapter 6 of the Regional Policy Statement, 

you are familiar with that? 

 30 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Are you able to point to any provision within chapter 6 that 

supports a conclusion that it seeks to retrospectively remove 

development rights that existed prior to its introduction? 35 

 

MS HOGAN:   The RPS? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Chapter 6. 

 40 

MS HOGAN:   No, it doesn’t, it doesn’t do that as far I am aware or from my 

reading of it. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, okay.  And I just want to ask you some questions about 

the definition of noise sensitive activities, and will Mr Osborne bring 45 
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that up, and it is page 28 of chapter 6, if you have that in front of you, it 

will be up on the screen shortly.   

 

SJH:   Just get your timing right for future cross-examination, Mr Cleary. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   I am on for 10 minutes. 

 

SJH:   Just get your timing right for future cross-examination, Mr Cleary. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, sir.  There is a lot to go through, sir. 10 

 

SJH:   You could have asked for more and we could have scheduled it 

accordingly, get your timing right. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, sir.   15 

 

 In terms of the policy of avoiding noise sensitive activities, you would 

agree that the definition of noise sensitive activities excludes those that 

are in conjunction with rural activities that comply with the rules in the 

relevant district plan as, at 23 August 2008? 20 

 

MS HOGAN:   Correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And you understand the significance of that date, 23 August 

2008? 25 

 

MS HOGAN:   In terms of where it came from? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 30 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, my understanding is it came from plan change 1 to the 

RPS around that time. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Is it not correct that 23 August was the date on which 

variation 4 to the proposed change 1 was notified? 35 

 

MS HOGAN:   Okay, sorry, I apologise, I didn’t correctly know the plan 

change or variation number. 

 

MR CLEARY:   It is a long time ago.  But that is the variation that amended 40 

the noise contours that introduced the new contours, is that correct? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Based on what you have said, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   In terms of the client’s properties on Barters Road, as at 45 

23 August 2008, you would agree that a residential development on 
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each of those sites was a permitted activity under the city plan at that 

time? 

 

MS HOGAN:   At that time, yes. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, it was a permitted activity, okay.  And it was permitted, 

was it not, because a residential unit fell within the definition of rural 

activities in the city plan at that time? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Well, my understanding is that it doesn’t fall within the 10 

definition of a rural activity, it was specifically provided for so 

residential activity was provided for on an existing site of two hectares 

or more. 

 

MR CLEARY:   The definition of rural activity in the city plan specifically 15 

says that it may include a residential unit. 

 

MS HOGAN:   Okay, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   That is right? 20 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   So as at 23 August 2008 you would accept that a residential 

unit was a permitted activity? 25 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   The witness has now accepted that three times, Mr Cleary. 

 30 

MR CLEARY:   I have got no more questions, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Crawford? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS CRAWFORD [10.25 am] 35 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, sir, Mr Cleary has asked questions in relation 

to the jurisdictional point so I don’t need to go there.   

 

 Good morning, Ms Hogan, I am going to ask you some questions for 40 

my client, Cathedral City Development Limited, are you familiar with 

this submitter? 

 

MS HOGAN:   I am, yes. 

 45 
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MS CRAWFORD:   And you will know then that it is a 6.8 hectare site in the 

Rural Port Hills zone? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 5 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you.  Just a couple of general questions, would you 

agree that enabling the community to provide for its own wellbeing is 

at the heart of a successful recovery? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, I would agree with that. 10 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Would you also accept that one of the strategic drivers in 

this process is to minimise transaction costs and the number, extent and 

prescriptiveness of development controls in order to enable that 

wellbeing? 15 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you.  And just to clarify, am I correct to understand 

that you support rules in other zones such as the Banks Peninsula zone 20 

and Rural Urban Fringe zone that provide for existing undersized lots. 

to be developed upon with a residential unit for example? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, that is correct. 

 25 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you.  And is that on the basis that it will be 

efficient? 

 

MS HOGAN:   It is on the basis that it takes into account the existing 

environment and the character, the rural character that is intended to be 30 

maintained in those areas. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, that is very helpful.  So just turning to the 

relief sought by my client, you do understand I believe that the relief 

has been refined and somewhat narrowed since the submission was 35 

lodged? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And you state in your evidence-in-chief, and it is in the 40 

table, sir, at page 74 of the evidence-in-chief, and just while if that 

needs to be brought up I can just take the witness to it briefly.  

Ms Hogan, you state in your evidence-in-chief that there are 284 

existing undersized lots in the Rural Port Hills zone? 

 45 

MS HOGAN:   Without a dwelling. 
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MS CRAWFORD:   Correct, without a dwelling.   

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 5 

MS CRAWFORD:   Do you understand, based on the refined rule and the 

revised rule proposed by Ms Aston, that we are only talking about, at 

most, 40 lots? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, I understand that. 10 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And potentially only 20 lots if we exclude sites within the 

outstanding landscape, is that your - - - 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, that is my understanding. 15 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you.  And in terms of my client’s site, have you 

read the evidence produced in the residential chapter? 

 

MS HOGAN:   I haven’t fully read it, but I was aware of it. 20 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Are you aware of Mr Neilson’s evidence, the client, that 

the site is effectively unable to be used for any economic rural purpose? 

 

MS HOGAN:   No, I haven’t specifically read his evidence. 25 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Right, I won’t take that further.  So you still think it is 

undesirable to have restricted discretionary activity status for the small 

number of lots in the Rural Port Hills zone, is that because you think 

restricted discretionary activity status is a hint or implies that the 30 

activity might be appropriate under the policy framework, is that 

concern? 

 

MS HOGAN:   It is one of the concerns and what we are working from is an 

anticipated level of development based on 100 hectares and a dwelling 35 

per 100 hectare site and dropping that to between one and 10 hectares 

represents, in my view, a significant departure from that and the 

expectation albeit that it is based on existing sites. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And only 20 lots. 40 

 

MS HOGAN:   And only 20 and I did have the opportunity to further analyse 

those 20 sites and some of them actually already have a dwelling on 

them and some of them are also split zoned properties, as in they 

already have residential zoning on a portion of those properties. 45 
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MS CRAWFORD:   So in terms of the rule proposed by Ms Aston, it could be 

even less? 

 

MS HOGAN:   I would suggest it is probably down in the 10s. 

 5 

MS CRAWFORD:   Right.  So an additional 10 houses not in the outstanding 

landscape, on the edge of the city in the Rural Port Hills zone, that is 

not going to raise a significant rural-urban contrast issue, is it? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Not if they are placed appropriately and carefully designed, I 10 

would suggest that or agree that, yes, they could be undertaken in a 

reasonable manner. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, that is very helpful.  In terms of restricted 

discretionary activity status the Council would have the tools at its 15 

disposal to assess these sorts of matters, wouldn’t it? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Correct, yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And would you agree by comparison, if we maintain the 20 

view that non-complying status is more appropriate and no specific 

provision is made in this zone for existing undersized lots, it would be 

very difficult for those 10 landowners to establish a dwelling on those 

sites, wouldn’t it? 

 25 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, they would have significant hurdles to jump through. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And, finally, would you accept that such an approach, 

non-complying status with no provision for existing undersized lots, is 

not enabling and does not provide some recognition of the existing 30 

environment? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, I would agree with that. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you.  That is all I have, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   Thank you.   

 

MS CRAWFORD:   If I could be excused please, sir. 

 40 

SJH:   Well, you have the right if there is anything arising from Panel questions 

but - - - 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   I will wait for that, sir, thank you. 

 45 

SJH:   Mr Neill? 
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MR NEILL:   No, I have no questions. 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 

 5 

  [10.30 am] 

 

MR WILLIS:   Ms Hogan I have just a few questions for you.  Just on the 

matter of Policy 5, if I can just find it myself, and it’s not the matter 

that Mr Cleary took you to, it’s the matter above it, but it is not 10 

unrelated.  There is a deletion of the reference to the Rural Fringe Zone 

from (v), correct? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 15 

MR WILLIS:   Now, it is a minor point I guess in the scheme of things, but 

when I looked at that I thought to myself that having been, as you will 

recall, being on the Subdivision Hearing a couple of weeks ago, 

whether that in fact was consistent with where you got to in your final 

recommendation to the Panel in that regard? – and I am just thinking 20 

here of the one hectare lot provision for Banks Peninsula, and given 

that that is your recommendation, do you think the two – because your 

support for this and your recommendation then are consistent, or? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, so the deletion of the specific reference to the one zone 25 

was done in light of the approach in Banks Peninsula, which is for 

subdivision of sites less than four hectares was non-complying. 

 

 I do agree that there is a little bit of – I am not sure whether 

inconsistency is the right word, but the ability to create the one hectare 30 

plus the balance allotment, taking it to 40 or 100 for Banks Peninsula 

does create a little bit of an issue in terms of the avoidance.  However, I 

think in my view, the one hectare subdivision has been created with the 

balance allotment, so it can’t be created on its own, it has to be 

undertaken with the 39 or the 99 hectares, so in my mind it is achieving 35 

that policy on that basis, but if you took it for the literal meaning, it 

isn’t avoiding in that respect. 

 

MR WILLIS:   No, you were proposing a provision which creates a lot of less 

than four hectares, and it was just purely in a plan integration issue that 40 

struck me as being not necessarily consistent and may lead to problems, 

and I just wondered whether you want to reflect on that, but - - - 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, it could be amended to have regard to those provisions 

that specifically relate to Banks Peninsula.   45 
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MR WILLIS:   Yes, okay, well, I won’t take that point further, but perhaps if 

we can just follow on the policies, and I know the policies and 

objectives are essentially – it’s not given across them, but certainly to a 

large extent they seem to be resolved by parties, but nevertheless I had 

a few questions around some of these points, and without taking you 5 

through every one I will just pick up one or two.   

 

 The one in particular that I was going to draw your attention to was 

Policy 6 for a start, and I guess this is a question that I may ask later 

witnesses, but the term “significant indigenous vegetation”, seems to 10 

me rather a compound of two related, but distinct, concepts, one being 

the significant natural areas, which is a Part 6 matter and biodiversity 

being a function and where the imperative is to maintain. 

 

 So it struck me, when reading that term, it’s not one that I am aware is 15 

used elsewhere, anywhere in the proposal or rules or in the RPS or in 

the Coastal Policy Statement or anywhere else that I could think of, but 

you may be able to advise me otherwise, that that was potentially a 

difficult and unusual combination of words, particularly given the 

Council’s obligation or function to maintain biodiversity and not 20 

significant biodiversity, and I just wondered whether that was an issue 

that planners have caucused on and whether there was any discussion 

about that point? 

 

  [10.35 am] 25 

 

MS HOGAN:   I think we did discuss it.  Chapter 9 does reference indigenous 

biodiversity, but it is not significant. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, it is particularly the “significant”, which is a limiting 30 

factor. 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, I understand. 

 

MR WILLIS:   In fact most of your other references, you know, refer to 35 

maintaining or enhancing indigenous biodiversity as I have looked 

through here, so again, I will perhaps leave that point and take it up 

with other witnesses to see whether they have any particular view on 

that, the appropriateness of that combination of words. 

 40 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, I do accept it, I suppose it was undertaken in a manner to 

try and reduce the number of words used, but in doing so has 

incorrectly used the term significant.  I mean, I am more than happy to 

consider some alternative wording. 

 45 
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MR WILLIS:   Well, perhaps you can consider that in your version for your 

closing. 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 5 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, look, there was just one other matter I will raise at this 

point I think, and it relates actually to a matter that Ms Ash raised in 

her opening submissions briefly, and it is in the balance of your 

appendices, where you go through the site seeking rezoning and you 

give a – what I understood to be a preliminary view based on the policy 10 

construct as to where they sit, and one matter arose with me which I 

wanted to test with you, which was, as I understood it, your framework 

here was that you were not recommending zoning land or retaining the 

Rural Zoning for land that had a greenfield priority area designation 

under the RPS.   15 

 

 For example, if we go to page 244, you say that the subject land is 

identified as a greenfield priority area under the RPS, the zoning of this 

land for rural purposes would not give effect to the RPS. 

 20 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   So do I take it from that that you’re saying as a matter of 

course, a Rural Zoning is appropriate for any land that is greenfield 

priority area? 25 

 

MS HOGAN:   No, I am not saying that.  I am confirming that if it’s a 

greenfield priority area it has been zoned as Residential New 

Neighbourhood and in the context that some submitters in specific 

areas have sought that the Rural Zoning be returned to some of those 30 

areas and my statement there is that that would be inconsistent with the 

RPS or not give effect to it by returning it back to rural and hence, if 

it’s a greenfield priority area then it should be retained as Residential 

New Neighbourhood. 

 35 

MR WILLIS:   If it was proposed that way when the plan was notified, 

proposed to be notified? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Correct, yes. 

 40 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, because I was going to ask you about whether there was 

a potential conflict with your support for some of the recommendations 

of Mr Stevenson in relation to the Commercial Industrial proposals, 

where in fact in that case the debate is whether something should be – 

this greenfield priority should be rural or urban, and I thought there 45 

might be a conflict there.  But I guess your point of distinction, if I 
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understand you, is the fact that one was notified Urban, in this case 

these residential sites, versus that case where that was never the 

Council’s proposal? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 5 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, no, that is clear.  Thank you.  That is helpful.  All right, 

that will be all, thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Hogan.  Turning to Mr Jones’ property that 

Mr Cleary talked to you about, have you seen Mr Bonis’ viewpoint and 

the suggestions he put forward, I think for a way a rule might be able to 

be written for I think five properties, or potentially less than that, that 15 

have been caught by this change of the 50 dBA line, have you got a 

view on the appropriateness of including the sorts of suggestions that 

Mr Bonis makes? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, I have considered those and I agree that one of those 20 

approaches may be appropriate, if the Panel is of a mind to accept the 

argument on noise sensitive activities. 

 

 The preference from my perspective, I suppose, is in terms of creating a 

rule for five lease sites and the effectiveness of that rule for residential 25 

activities because those types of rules tend to be used once and then 

they are never used again.  So I believe Mr Bonis mentioned this, a 

scheduling type approach or just literally listing the properties and/or 

their legal descriptions I think would be a more effective way in 

dealing with it.  But either approach I am more than happy with. 30 

 

  [10.40 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   But do you still hold the view though that whichever 

approach is used for the drafting of the rule, that making provision for 35 

those sites still retains some inconsistencies with the Regional Policy 

Statement? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes.  I mean, I agree that the Regional Policy Statement is not 

particularly clear on these matters and it does raise those 40 

inconsistencies between if it is not a noise sensitive activity then it falls 

into the general category of residential activity on an undersized site, 

when you are venturing into the definition of an urban activity over 

rural. 

 45 
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 So I do accept that there still are some inconsistencies in relation to 

that, and whether or not it is accepted that it just falls into a 

discretionary category, or actually just becomes a permitted activity on 

those specific sites, then either of those would deal with it effectively. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   I understand that your preference is that it not be permitted, 

but if it is to be allowed, it is retained as a discretionary activity, or 

something like that? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Based on consistency with the way the proposal treats other 10 

sites of that size.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  So this comes to the matters raised by Ms Crawford as 

well in relation to Cathedral City Development type situation.  In the 

Urban Fringe Zone, putting aside the noise contour areas, and in the 15 

Banks Peninsula Zone, your most recent version allows some existing 

sites less than four hectares to be considered for a dwelling, albeit 

thorough discretionary activity process, and Banks Peninsula it is only 

down to four hectares.  As I understand it in the Urban Fringe Zone it 

could be less than that.   20 

 

MS HOGAN:   Mm’hm. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But you have held out and said, “No, the Port hills zone is 

different, there shouldn’t be that provision in the Port Hills Zone”.  But 25 

do I take it in your exchange with Ms Crawford that you have softened 

your view on that and that you feel given the small number of 

allotments that could be provided for, provided the rule is refined, as 

Ms Crawford said, that it is not such a strong argument against the 

same sort of approach in the Port Hills Zone? 30 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes.  I think I have, just on reflection and actually looking at 

the sites and seeing what level of development is there, and the fact that 

there are potentially only a handful of sites with appropriate matters of 

discretion and activity status, that could appropriately locate a dwelling 35 

on those sites in a manner that would maintain both the policy 

framework and maintain that distinct rural urban boundary.   

 

 I still have some concerns in relation to, you will have heard as part of 

Stage 2 Residential Hearing a number of rezoning requests, particularly 40 

along that urban boundary and in the Worsleys Road area in particular 

where there are a concentration of these 10 hectares sites.  That 

relationship between that rural urban boundary may start to blur a little 

bit, but I mean the reality is that the Port Hills, the topography has 

determined the pattern of development and I think as long as the 45 
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outstanding natural landscape is protected via the rules and through 

Chapter 9 I would accept that you could have a dwelling on those sites.   

 

MS DAWSON:   So my other question about this is, for those lots where 

provision might be made for less than four hectares, which is in the 5 

rural urban fringe and potentially in relation to Cathedral City 

Developments, if it was to go down to one hectare for the existing site 

rule, how does that fit with your interpretation of the definition of 

urban activities, and the very strong rules about avoiding urban 

activities outside urban lines in map A, even if they are existing sites 10 

and it is only a few houses.   

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes.  I mean, there is an easy way around that in terms of for 15 

the Port Hills in that you just say in between four and 10 hectares and 

you have dealt with it – that is a rural activity.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 20 

MS HOGAN:   But that probably doesn’t address the relief sought, but it would 

certainly address that policy framework. 

 

 In terms of the definition of “urban rural”, this has been one of the 

more difficult aspects of the rural proposal to deal with, just merely on 25 

the basis of the existing environment, particularly on the rural flatland.  

It is highly fragmented.  There is already a high number of small sites 

that have a dwelling on them, and this was – so where the rule was 

originally coming from as a discretionary activity, it was aligned with a 

prohibited activity status, that there would be no further sub-four 30 

hectare sites created.  So we had a pool of existing sites that we knew 

where they were and you could argue what the effects would be of 

allowing a development on those when I suppose ultimately all people 

want to do is build a dwelling on their existing site.   

 35 

 And the prohibited activity status has been removed, it is now non-

complying, and we are left with this situation of discretionary activity 

which in my mind; yes, it does fall into the urban activity category 

when a land use is put on that.  So when a dwelling is put on an 

existing site it then becomes an urban activity by definition. 40 

 

 However, the preamble to that definition is “is of the same scale, 

nature, intensity and character typical of either an urban or a rural 

environment”, and in my view the approach in the rural proposal is it is 

trying to balance being enabling of use of those small sites whilst still 45 

trying to maintain rural character and a distinction of urban over rural.   
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 I mean, ultimately the Panel may be of a view that that isn’t 

appropriate, and I would accept that.   

 

MS DAWSON:   So is that the definition of urban activity that you just 5 

summarised – is that from the RPS? 

 

MS HOGAN:   It is.  There are some slight differences in terminology that 

does create a few issues, so a rural activity means activities of a size, 

function, intensity or character typical of those in rural areas, and 10 

includes residential activity on lots of four hectares or more.   

 

 And then the flip side of that is urban activities which includes 

residential units, except rural residential activities at a density of more 

than one household unit per four hectares of site area.  So there is a 15 

slight difference - - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I see that. 

 

MS HOGAN:   - - - in how they treat residential activities over units and 20 

density.   

 

MS DAWSON:   There is a sort of a small opening I suppose in the 

introductory words of the urban activities definition, and then the four 

hectare is an inclusive, it is not an exclusive set of points.   25 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well thank you for pointing that out, because I didn’t – I just 

have a few other more specific questions, and hopefully they will just 30 

be quick questions with easy answers for you.   

 

 With the Fulton Hogan submission, Ms Ash pointed us to the fact that 

it is matched with another submission on the Open Space Zone, so 

there is potential for the need to defer the overall decision until the 35 

Open Space matters are heard.  

 

 Do I understand it that Fulton Hogan also have some submissions in on 

the ecology provisions, so the rules or policies relating to removal of 

ecological sites address, that might also be something we need to take 40 

account from the Natural and Cultural Heritage Hearing before an 

overall decision is made?  Are you familiar with that? 
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  [10.50 am] 

 

MS HOGAN:  Yes, I am, I am actually the planner dealing with the 

biodiversity part of chapter 9, so yes.  I can confirm that they do have a 

submission on stage 3 and specifically relating to that site of ecological 5 

significance and management on the activity status for removal of that 

vegetation as well. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So in term of making an integrated decision that might be 

something that we need to take into account as well, in the overall 10 

decision? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:  All right, thank you.  In terms of going back to the 15 

subdivision provisions and the relationship with the Rural zones, am I 

right in recalling that there are no subdivision rules in the natural and 

cultural heritage overlays, as proposed?  In other words, the subdivision 

and therefore the integration with this rule, is not being changed by 

what is coming up in chapter 9? 20 

 

MS HOGAN:   Based on the notified provisions it was not – chapter 8 does 

contain some provisions but based on the notified it was not changing 

the category or the activity status of subdivision in those areas. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   I suppose this is just another thing that I am alert to in terms 

of making an overall integrated decision about – we have had 

subdivision for the rural areas, now there are the land uses on those 

sites – should they be subdivided or not – and then we have got the 

natural and cultural heritage coming up later on with potential for other 30 

rules that might come in that could overlay or amend in those overlays 

the subdivision and possibly the rural rules as well.  Is that something 

that we need to be alert to? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, yes, you do need to be alert to that, and like I say, the 35 

process may change such that they do introduce provisions relating to 

subdivision and definitely chapter 9 includes – it controls buildings, 

residential buildings, so just in terms of reference the Port Hills, and 

knowing now, it has specific restrictions on residential buildings which 

I believe are currently non-complying.  So it does, and I do agree that 40 

the rural environment is directly affected by chapter 9 more so than any 

other chapter. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  In some places you refer to non-rural activities and 

there is a policy about non-rural activities, but there is also rural 45 

productive activities.  I just want to get your view about what non-rural 
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activities means in terms of say urban activities and whether they are 

just one and the same thing, versus non-rural productive activities.   

 

 It does go to the heart of a new policy or one of the policy Xs, yes, 

establishment of non-rural activities.  How do you think that word 5 

would be interpreted or what is it intended to mean? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, once again another difficulty throughout this chapter in 

terms of using that terminology, such that the definition of rural activity 

was deleted, and a phrase or a term called rural productive activities 10 

was introduced to group together those activities that are predominant 

within the rural environment and rely purely on that rural resources. 

 

 So that was as a result of mediation that we introduced the term, 

however I do note that that term is still used within this new policy and 15 

in my view a non-rural activity is something that is not provided for 

specifically within the rules and particularly targets industrial and 

commercial activities and then you would have to fall back into well 

what is an urban activity, and combine this policy with policy 1, which 

specifically talks about the range of activities on rural land that have a 20 

direct relationship with or are dependent on that rural resource.  So that 

policy and the new policy on non-rural activities should be read 

together. 

 

  [10.55 am] 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   When it comes to – I mean one of these outstanding matters, 

which is the aggregate process on where it is not a dominant activity, 

where it is not related – it was not the dominant activity on an existing 

quarrying site.  I mean it goes to the heart of, is that a rural activity or is 30 

it not a rural activity? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And do you think that policy 5 and the wording of, like 35 

“avoid establishment of non-rural activities” is clear enough to know 

whether aggregate processing would fall within this policy or not?   

 

MS HOGAN:   That question is probably better directed at Ms Radburnd, but 

in my view there is some potential.  However, it does specifically say, 40 

avoid establishment of non-rural activities, and then it does include, 

“that are not dependent on, or directly related to, the rural resource, 

unless” – and there is some criteria there that establish that. 
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 And it may be that through the second criteria, “the use of existing 

physical infrastructure”, may be the ability to include some form of 

aggregate related industry that no longer uses that resource on site. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well perhaps – and I will ask Ms Radburnd that, and I think 5 

she is coming along tomorrow, so perhaps if you just have a chance to 

talk with her about that.  My concern is that you do not get into 

policy X unless you know that you are a non-rural activity.  In other 

words, we need to know what a non-rural activity is - - -  

 10 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, I agree. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - for that policy to even start to apply and to then look at 

the subsequent clauses within it.  And it is not defined and yet it ends 

up being quite fundamental to this important policy about what can and 15 

cannot go on in the rural area. 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So perhaps I will ask her that tomorrow and if you have a 20 

chance to talk to her about it, thank you.  That is all my questions, 

thank you very much, Ms Hogan. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Ash, anything arising or any re-examination? 

 25 

MS ASH:   No, sir, no, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Hogan, you may stand down. 

 

MS HOGAN:   Thank you. 30 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.57 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Ash. 

 35 

MS ASH:   I now call Mr Richard English. 
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<RICHARD SPENCER ENGLISH, affirmed [10.57 am] 
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SJH:  Now just before we start, Mr Cross, from the Yaldhurst Residents 

Association, if you would come forward to the microphone at this table 

here. 

 

MR CROSS:   Just a slight procedural matter, sir.  We do not have any legal 5 

counsel and the two representatives, Mr Turpin and myself are here to 

legally represent Richard and the idea was we would share the cross-

examination. 

 

SJH:   That is fine but if you just come forward to the microphone so that it is 10 

in the record for us, thank you. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [10.58 am] 

 

MS ASH:   Mr English, is your full name Richard Spencer English? 15 

 

MR ENGLISH:   It is. 

 

MS ASH:   Do you have the qualifications outlined in your evidence-in-chief? 

 20 

MR ENGLISH:   I do. 

 

MS ASH:   Can you please confirm to the Panel that the matters that you have 

referred to in your evidence-in-chief and your rebuttal are true and 

correct? 25 

 

MR ENGLISH:   They are. 

 

MS ASH:   Would you please present your summary to the Panel and answer 

any questions. 30 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Thank you.  Good morning.  Hopefully my evidence-in-chief 

will give you some useful background information in your decision-

making process.  What I would like to do this morning is just give you 

a short presentation giving the highlights of that evidence.  You will 35 

excuse me if I nod or wave to Hamish across the way because the 

technology is not working very well.  Thanks, Hamish. 

 

 Yes, so I am going to cover the topics of earthquakes, demands, 

resources and rehabilitation.  Thank you, Hamish. 40 

 

 The earthquakes obviously have had very wide ramifications for the 

whole of society and also they have obviously had ramifications for 

property demand for aggregates for the rebuild.  The number I am 

anticipating there will be about 10 million tonnes worth of demand. 45 



 Page 39 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

  [11.00 am] 

 

 That might seem like quite a large number, but it is really important 

that we put that into context, when I am purporting to business as usual 

demand out to 2041, and the total which is about 130 million tonnes, so 5 

you can see that the earthquakes are in fact only a bit of blip on the 

horizon. 

 

 This chart here perhaps gives you a better representation of what is 

going on.  On the left hand side is the demand as has occurred up until 10 

July this year.  If you look along the left hand side starting 1993 

through to about 2010/2011, there was fairly steady increase, and then 

the demand is ramped right up. 

 

 That has been mainly due to the earthquakes, but not totally, because 15 

there are some quite large roading activity going on around the west of 

the perimeter of the city, which you no doubt see, plus there has been a 

lot of subdivision activity which would probably provide sections well 

into the future. 

 20 

 So this table just summarises that numbers.  The top right hand number 

probably is the most important one for the Panel to bear in mind, they 

say about 130 million tonnes of material is required between now and 

2041.  So just to remind you about that previous chart, the pre-

earthquake demand for Christchurch was around about 3 million tonnes 25 

per year.  It has risen to nearly 8 million at the moment but will drop 

back again, but it is continuously increasing. 

 

 Next slide.  So the question is “what have we got available to satisfy 

that demand?”  The area tends to act as one, but we were concentrating 30 

on Christchurch City and there is about 75 million tonnes of material 

available, plus in land terms about a half a million tonnes a year of 

material that gets transported down the Waimakariri. 

 

 Next slide.  Now the Waimakariri River is a source of a true urban 35 

myth.  People have always said – “we should be quarrying in the 

Waimak, there should not be any land based quarries.”  But in fact the 

amount of materials stored in the river, that is above the minimum 

design bed levels, is only at the order of 6-7 million tonnes in the 

Christchurch area.  So going back, that is only about two to three years’ 40 

worth of demand pre-earthquake.  So if everybody went into the river 

at present, then within a year that stored capacity would have gone. 

 

 And as I said, there is about a half a million tonnes a year coming down 

the river replenishing some of that stored material, because the current 45 

demand is about point 8 of million tonnes, so we are actually quarrying 
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more than is coming down the river, so in 15-20 years that store 

capacity would have reduced to zero. 

 

 Next slide.  So this table shows the balance between the demand and 

the resources currently available.  Again the top right hand corner is the 5 

important element for this discussion.  There is a deficit of about 45 

million tonnes of material that are required, that is the difference 

between what we currently have available and what is required over 

that period to 2041. 

 10 

 One of the main elements about aggregates is what I call the tyranny of 

distance.  Aggregates are of a very low value but they are a high 

volume product, and as a consequence transportation costs are a very 

major determinant on the delivered cost of aggregates.  It is not unusual 

for the delivery cost to exceed the gate price, so it is always important 15 

when making decisions to realise that the distance is a key element. 

 

 There are a range of factors that come into what creates that cost.  I 

have listed them there, basically it is the vehicle carrying the 

aggregates, the size of the load or in other words whether the truck is 20 

full or empty or half full, the time it takes to load in the quarry and 

unload at the delivery point, and critically the distance between the 

quarry and the point of delivery and the average speed of that journey.  

Clearly if you are in a rural environment then the delivery time would 

be less than if you were in an urban environment over the same 25 

distance, because the average speed would be much slower. 

 

  [11.05 am] 

 

 Now moving onto quarry rehabilitation, this is a key element of any 30 

activity within quarrying, it is an integral part of it and it should always 

be going on along with it.  There is a difficulty though, in that you do 

need suitable material to do the rehabilitation, and locally only roughly 

a quarter of what goes out of the gate comes back as clean fill, and that 

has quite significant ramifications for the types of rehabilitation that go 35 

on. 

 

 Ideally what you would be doing is, you would be rehabilitating as you 

go along but again that is to an extent determined by the rate of which 

the clean fill comes in.  Because there is only a quarter of the material 40 

coming back you would never fill all the quarries, or you decided to 

you would only fill a quarter of the quarries and leave the rest totally 

rehabilitated. 

 

 So the Council has said that the minimum rehabilitation is to batter the 45 

side slopes and put some top soil in the base and then re-grass it, but it 
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is up to the quarries as how they go beyond that.  But if you see in that 

photograph on the bottom there, which is actually an alluvial quarry in 

Australia, you can get some quite positive results. 

 

 So what I am saying is every quarry should have a rehabilitation plan.  5 

The rehabilitation should be undertaken on an ongoing basis.  That has 

not happened in some areas historically and so consequently at the 

moment we have got extensive areas that are currently open and should 

be rehabilitated in my opinion in a timely manner. 

 10 

 Now I understand from mediation that there is a proposal being put 

forward to have rehabilitation plans in place within two years of the 

Operative Plan, of the plan becoming operative, which I fully support.   

 

 So just to conclude, I think it is really important that planning 15 

structures need to be in place to ensure the demand for aggregates can 

be met for not only the continuum of rebuild, but very importantly for 

the long term future of Christchurch.  Thank you.   

 

SJH:   Yes, Mr Cross?  Who is going first? 20 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR TURPIN [11.07 am] 

 

MR TURPIN:   I am Jim Turpin, Sir John.  Good morning Panel and good 

morning Richard.  Richard, can you confirm first of all at page 21 of 25 

your evidence at 9.4.  You indicate an average cost of $130 an hour, 

and an average load of 16.5 tonnes to deliver the aggregate, and at 9.5 

of your evidence you estimate that the short fall of 45 million tonnes 

actually eventuates and was to be sourced from the extra 15 kilometres 

out, it would cost an extra 200 million dollars, can you confirm that? 30 

 

MR ENGLISH:   I do, yes.   

 

MR TURPIN:   Mr English, you have chosen to calculate the 200 million from 

the extremity of this 15 kilometres, have you done an exercise to show 35 

how much this extra cost might be if it was sourced from a more 

balanced and consistent average 7.5 kilometres rather than how that 

might affect the 200 million that you have reflected on? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Perhaps I will give you a bit of background about the 200 40 

million dollars.  The 15 kilometres originated as an example in 2011 

when Environment Canterbury were proposing to exclude quarrying 

from the aqua protection zone, and at that point the quarries would 

have to move out 15 kilometres further from where they are to avoid 

being in that zone.  So I felt the 15 kilometres was a useful figure to 45 
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give people an idea as to what is involved with transportation, the cost 

can become quite large quite quickly.   

 

 One of the difficulties also is if the quarries have to move outside 

Christchurch for example, there is a ring of lifestyle blocks that 5 

prevents them from quarrying in that area again, hence the 15 

kilometres.  But it was only ever put in there as an illustration to give 

you a feel for the numbers.  

 

MR TURPIN:   But a more balanced view, and to be consistent with the 10 

averages that you use in your 9.4 and 9.5 would be to have measured 

the distance, an average of 7.5, there is going to be some at no 

kilometres, there is going to be some at 15 and the other be 7.5. 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Can you just give me a second, I will just work it out. 15 

 

MR TURPIN:   So it may well be, based on - - - 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Sorry, just a second.  Yes, I would quite happily accept the 

7.5 at this stage. 20 

 

  [11.10 am] 

 

MR TURPIN:  So that 200 million would more balance, would more 

practically be 100 million?  Taken on the basis you calculate? 25 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Not necessarily because that 200 million involves some fixed 

items so yes, for the sake of the argument if you like, yes we will take 

the 100 - - -  

 30 

MR TURPIN:   So that could be – a more balanced view would be 100 

million?  I agree with you in saying there is fixed, and there is 

proportional and there is marginal costs and all of that, but it appears to 

me you have done it more on a proportional basis.  So that could be, 

that is good, thank you very much. 35 

 

 Now Mr English, do you believe there is competitive pricing and 

supply in the aggregates market? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   There is. 40 

 

MR TURPIN:   That’s great.  So in a normal competitive situation, when the 

aggregates market part of a normal situation, that where an enterprise 

wherever located has a surplus it wants to quit, it will price it 

competitively to meet the market in order to quit? 45 
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MR ENGLISH:   That is up to the individual and the circumstances as to what 

they do.  It is continually changing, what they do. 

 

MR TURPIN:   Well I think you are saying that they will.  If people have 

surplus supplies and they, in a normal competitive situation, and I am 5 

talking here now that if the supplier was in Selwyn or was in the 

Christchurch city boundary areas, the people in Selwyn will sell it 

down here or vice, versa. 

 

MR ENGLISH:   That will be their own individual decision based on how long 10 

they want to be in that particular location. 

 

MR TURPIN:   Yes, yes, you actually refer to that on point 2.2.2 on the 31st 

page of your 2014 report, where you say, “It is likely that competitive 

forces between quarries within the Selwyn district and those in the city 15 

boundaries, result in materials transferring in both directions”.  Do you 

recall that comment? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Yes, that is correct, but what you need to understand is that - 

- -  20 

 

MR TURPIN:   I understand it, that that does happen? 

 

MR ENGLISH:    Absolutely. 

 25 

SJH:   Let the witness answer please. 

 

MR ENGLISH:  So what happens is that for example material from Pound 

Road, which is the in the south west corner of the city, will travel into 

Selwyn, and material from Selwyn, and probably you are referring to at 30 

Wards Road, will travel up into the south west part of the city but it 

does not mean to say that Selwyn can actually supply the rest of the 

city.  People supply what is close to them. 

 

MR TURPIN:   Fine.  So where that happens though, that eliminates the cost, 35 

because it is competitively priced, that 100 million we are down to 

now, produces by whatever transfer around does it not? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Not necessarily because it depends on how that transfer 

interacts. 40 

 

MR TURPIN:   Fine.  It does reduce though.  Now, having said that and 

agreeing with that, could you agree that with a competitive supply and 

competition, and bearing in mind your comments at 6.14 about the 

difficulty of forecasting beyond 10 years, and considering you have 45 

expressed at 6.15 there is a plus 10 percent and a minus 25 percent 



 Page 44 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

margin of error in the estimate of the 45 million tonnes, and if I can just 

find the page, there are already significant consents under consideration 

in the current plan, all of which any may or may not progress, and let 

us not forget here when we are discussing this, but between your 

reports of 2011 and 2014, again under the existing plan, the shortfall 5 

dropped a great 60 percent or in money terms $300 million. 

 

 So taking all those into consideration, would you say it is quite possible 

there may not even be a shortfall in 2041? 

 10 

MR ENGLISH:   Could you just repeat the last question, the last part of your 

question? 

 

MR TURPIN:   Taking into account those four factors I suggested - - -  

 15 

MR ENGLISH:   Yes. 

 

MR TURPIN:   - - - it is quite possible there may not even be a shortfall of 

supply in 2041, or only a small amount? 

 20 

MR ENGLISH:   Well I can only work on those variances I have there and the 

reason I have got those quite large variances, anybody who was trying 

to forecast out 30 years, or 26 years, would be incorrect in saying those 

are the exact figures, but those are the best estimates I can give, and I 

think if you were playing forward you can only work on the best 25 

estimate rather than the best case scenario from the point that you are 

making. 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 30 

MR TURPIN:   But we are making – well I will perhaps do that when I give 

my evidence then, thank you for that.  Now with regard your rebuttal 

evidence, on page 4 of your rebuttal evidence to me, and regarding the 

industry assertion that transport costs of aggregate double every 

30 kilometres it has to travel with it, you have read my evidence where 35 

I said that that cannot be true, do you agree that statement cannot be 

true? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   I agree with you.  I have never stated in my report or in my 

evidence to this Panel that that is actually the case, and all the figures 40 

that I produced are based on actual calculations, not on the rule as such. 

 

MR TURPIN:   But that statement cannot be true? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   It is true under some circumstances; it depends on the balance 45 

between the urban and the rural, and the distance. 



 Page 45 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

 

MR TURPIN:   No, but - - -  

 

MR ENGLISH:   But I do not actually think it is material to this evidence 

because it is not something I have ever used.  The figures I am using 5 

are based on actual calculations, not on the rule of thumb, which may 

or may not be true depending on the circumstance you are talking 

about, so my calculations are based on the exact circumstances as best I 

can do, for Christchurch. 

 10 

MR TURPIN:   Yes, but it is relevant in that it was in published papers by the 

City Council to the public and used by the Council officers themselves 

to arrive at decisions that we are discussing here today.  So if it cannot 

be true, and you did not rebut that in my evidence, where I explained 

why it could not be true, it is in fact not true? 15 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Well in fact in my rebuttal to your evidence you and I are in 

agreement, we come at it from a different direction, the specific 

Christchurch circumstances we are talking about, we are saying that 

rule of thumb is not correct, but it is correct for this circumstance, for 20 

other situations.  But I do not think it is really relevant.  What really is 

relevant is the actual numbers.  Whether the rule of thumb is correct or 

not does not make any difference, it is the numbers that are important. 

 

MR TURPIN:   Well I do not agree.  You do refer in your rebuttal, if I can just 25 

digress a little bit, sir, he, we arrived at something similar in a 

percentage, but he disagreed with my methodology. 

 

SJH:   Well your role is not to make a statement now, you will have your 

opportunity to give evidence later. 30 

 

MR TURPIN:   Oh, okay. 

 

SJH:   You are simply asking questions at the moment. 

 35 

MR TURPIN:   Okay, that is fine. Well I do not agree with you, I think that 

there is a different percentage. 

 

SJH:  Well that is not a question, that is a statement. 

 40 

MR TURPIN:   Okay, well it is not true - - -  

 

SJH:   And so was that. 

 

MR TURPIN:   - - - do you believe that – sorry. 45 
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SJH:   So just ask questions please, Mr Turpin. 

 

MR TURPIN:   Yes, I am sorry.  This is the last one, you will be pleased to 

know.  Do you believe the Council and the public should be correctly 

informed and with up to date data before proposals to alter a city plan 5 

are made? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   I do, and that is exactly what I tried to do for the Panel with 

my evidence to provide you with as much up to date information as I 

can to make that and that is where I started off my comments this 10 

morning, background information. 

 

MR TURPIN:   Thank you very much, and thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 15 

 

MR TURPIN:   And that is the end of the questions. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 20 

MR NEILL:   Thank you, sir.  Thank you, Mr English.  Can we just start with 

the Waimak.  Before you started with the City Council so I will make it 

12 or 13 years ago, there was a belief that the Waimak could provide 

all metal, all aggregate required of the city? 

 25 

MR ENGLISH:   Yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   You now refute that? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   I have never accepted there was enough material there. 30 

 

MR NEILL:  Were you aware that that was the view, particularly of 

Environment Canterbury at the time? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Yes, I was and I raised the subject with the City Council for 35 

that very reason because I was concerned that the information was 

incorrect. 

 

MR NEILL:   And if there is over-extraction from the Waimak there are 

substantial environmental and flooding issues that could arise? 40 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Of over-extraction, yes, and there is particularly problems 

with undermining of the stop-banks and the bridges. 
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MR NEILL:   Okay, thank you.  Just with regard to rehabilitation, and you 

have provided a very attractive photo of rehabilitation.  Have you flown 

over the area when flying in or out of Christchurch airport? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   I have. 5 

 

MR NEILL:   And it is not a particularly attractive site at this present time? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   It is not. 

 10 

MR NEILL:   Do you consider that the issue of rehabilitation should be in a 

plan or should it be a code of conduct or should it be a management 

plan attached to a resource consent?   

 

MR ENGLISH:   Probably a combination of all of those things, because the 15 

Quarry zones were established a long time ago and so there are 

historical issues there to be dealt with which result from I believe 

existing use rights.  So a lot of it, in my opinion, would depend on the 

industry doing what they have suggested, and that is actually coming to 

the party voluntarily to try and remove that issue that you have spoken 20 

about. Rehabilitation plans, to the best of my knowledge, are now 

required for every resource consent that takes place that is issued, but 

there is the problem of the existing use rights for the Quarry zones. 

 

  [11.20 am] 25 

 

MR NEILL:   And one of those zones is of course the Fulton Hogan Pound 

Road quarry? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   That is correct. 30 

 

MR NEILL:   So if in fact there were – and I am not promoting it – if there 

were a golf course developed within that zone that would be a 

rehabilitation which would allow them to do other things whatever that 

might be? 35 

 

MR ENGLISH:   That is correct. 

 

MR NEILL:   Do you accept then that due to the lack of clean fill that it is 

almost impossible at this point to rehabilitate to the standard that you 40 

would like, pursuant to the photograph that you have provided to us? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   No, because it depends on the depth of the quarries.  The 

quarries around McLean's Island, at this stage basically Isaacs, they 

been doing a job there for 40/50 years, where, because their 45 

excavations are shallow, they actually just have re-batted the side 
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slopes and replaced the topsoil and the ground that is left is actually 

better than the land that was there before. 

 

 But you can take the other extreme like the Fulton Hogan site which is 

probably 12 metres deep, then it is much more difficult to come up with 5 

a solution. 

 

 So each quarries is subtlety different, it depend on what plan that you 

want to put forward. 

 10 

MR NEILL:   But one of the issues that exists, is the lack of clean fill to 

provide it to a level in some cases that might be appropriate for 

pleasant rehabilitation. 

 

MR ENGLISH:   It depends on how – no, I will go back – the City Plan has 15 

asked for a minimum of battling the side slopes so that at a point they 

actually can be mowed, and then to have the base just as a grassed over 

area ready for grazing.  So whether you see that as being a pleasant site 

or not is an individual issue. 

 20 

MR NEILL:   Have you done any calculations based on your total requirement 

of aggregate extraction to the number of truck movements per annum 

that would be required to achieve around 7 million ton per annum? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   I haven’t got those figures with me because they weren’t in 25 

my brief evidence, but they are readily calculable.  But one of the 

issues that we found, is that people expect movements by truck and 

trailer units, but in fact that is not actually the case, it varies, you might 

have a small contractor goes in for a small load, seven or eight tons 

where you might have the truck and trailer units which cart up to 28 30 

tons, so there is a variety of sizes in loads. 

 

MR NEILL:   No, thank you.  Thank you for your evidence. 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 35 

 

MR WILLIS:    Thank you, sir, just one question, Mr English; as you know one 

of the issues that we have got to consider is the extent to which there 

should be offsite process and material brought onto a quarry for further 

process, and so I was interested in your comments about the tyranny of 40 

distance and I am just wondering what if any – to what extent if any 

does that tyranny of distance act to dampen that desire to move 

materials to another quarry for processing, is it self-controlling to some 

extent or not, is it? 

 45 
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MR NEILL:   It depends on where the quarry is in relation to the demand and 

where the source of the material is.  So if you are moving material from 

let’s say for example, Holgate and you are moving towards the city to 

where the processing plant is, then you obviously you move that by 

truck and trailer unit and that is more efficient than having the smaller 5 

trucks that I have talked about going all the way out to Holgate.   

 

 Whereas if you had a situation where you were bringing materials in 

from say the south of Christchurch back to the north of Christchurch 

for processing, then that is probably less efficient because you are 10 

doing a double handling, does that explain it? 

 

MR WILLIS:   So is - - -  

 

MR NEILL:   So it varies from quarry to quarry. 15 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, it may be a factor in some situations but not so others. 

 

MR NEILL:   That is right, yes 

 20 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr English, I just want to make sure that I am 25 

clear about a couple of your conclusions. 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Yes. 

 

  [11.25 am] 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   So am I right that, in your view, the quarrying needs for the 

recovery situation will be over in approximately the next three years, 

by 2018, I mean in broad terms. 

 35 

MR ENGLISH:   Well I have to be clear about the words “rebuild” and 

“recovery” because various solicitors have pulled me up on that – if we 

assume that we are talking about the replacement of the buildings that 

were destroyed during the earthquake as being, they just in the next 

two/three years, all the infrastructural work will be completed so that is 40 

including the roading, which in fact is the major demand, and the 

buildings. 

 

 But the reason I am thinking about it is, there is a bit of a 

misunderstanding and belief that the rebuild will go on till to 2024 45 

which is correct from the commercial building point of view, but from 
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an aggregate demand point of view it is actually quite small because 

most of the buildings that are being rebuild are actually steel frames so 

the total amount is actually reasonably small. 

 

 So the major demands will be over within two to three years. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and you have gone through the subdivision work that is 

going on for the new housing, the infrastructure? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Yes. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   And then as you said the remaining sort of area that will 

continue is this commercial/industrial anchor projects - - -  

 

MR ENGLISH:   Yes. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - of which you have said that it will be – the aggregates 

requirements are much smaller? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   That is correct. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   And although business as usual demands maybe greater than 

it was pre-earthquake because it is always climbing after about three 

years the demand will be back to more or less what one could expect 

the business as usual demand to be? 25 

 

MR ENGLISH:   That is correct, and I think like somewhere in my evidence I 

made the point is, that mathematically it would be back at about the 

same as business as usual but there is a bit of a mixture because we are 

going to have more commercial activity and perhaps less roading work 30 

that we would otherwise have, but mathematically, yes, it is about the 

same. 

 

MS DAWSON:   About the same, and that would be about the 2018 years? 

 35 

MR ENGLISH:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  So my second question is about this expectation of 

refill – of backfill or rehabilitation of quarries to original ground level, 

am I correct interpreting your evidence to say that this could never have 40 

been a realistic expectation or likely, because it was never going to be 

enough clean fill around to fill all those quarries back up? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   That is correct, I was involved in developing the Christchurch 

Clean-Fill bylaw back in 2003, and at that point I did some background 45 

research when the obvious hit me in the eye which was exactly what 
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you just said, there was never ever going to be that amount of material 

and so several of the quarries at that stage were, their rehabilitation 

plan showed refilling back to original ground level, because it is one of 

these things that, once you have seen it, it is obviously, but it was not 

obvious to people in the first place, but it is obvious hopefully to 5 

everybody now. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And if one quarry wanted to fill back – well, thought they 

could fill back to original ground level using clean fill that just means 

that clean fills not available to go into another quarry to - - -  10 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Yes, you have an element of robbing Peter to pay Paul. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because there is only a certain amount around. 

 15 

MR ENGLISH:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the longstanding rule that has been in the quarry zones 

previously I understand about having batter slopes that are at a one in 

three gradient I think - - -  20 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - so those are not quarried out without some form of 

consent, is integral to that idea that in the long run there are going to 25 

continue to be slopes of some form and the rehabilitation will be in a 

deeper quarry there will a better lower level? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Yes. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.   

 

MR ENGLISH:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And so they are sort of all part of a package of what would 35 

always be across there? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   And just one of the other things where I think I have made 

mentioned about somebody’s smaller, narrow deep quarries, could 

potentially be problematic if they just stuck to the side slopes, you just 40 

end up with a “V” pit if you like, then those quarries should ideally be 

refilled back to more like original ground level. 

 

 But again all the circumstance is different for all the quarries and that is 

why I stick with the idea that has come out in mediation that the 45 

quarries should come forward – those that have not already got 
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rehabilitation they should come forward with them, is an ideal solution 

to what has been a long term problem. 

 

 Each quarry can then take cognisance of its own shape and its own 

clean fill coming in and what they want to do with the site afterwards 5 

and not leave the public with an area that is of no use. 

 

MS DAWSON:   In your presentation you said, I think you use the words that 

rehabilitation should be done in a timely manner, and what do you 

mean by “timely”, what is a realistic expectation of rehabilitation for 10 

these existing quarries? 

 

  [11.30 am] 

 

MR ENGLISH:   For the existing quarries, I am sorry if I sound as though I am 15 

avoiding the question, but each of the quarries is so different.  For 

example, taking Isaacs as an example, then they have quite a large open 

area but it is quite shallow and it would take very little – well, not 

really – it is less of an effort to put things back, whereas people like 

Fulton Hogan, they have got a large pit which requires huge volumes of 20 

material, would take a lot longer to do.  So I would prefer to leave that 

question unanswered because each quarry is so different. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But do you think that that is something, like what is a 

reasonable expectation of timeliness is something that should be 25 

addressed in the rehabilitation plan itself? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Definitely, it needs to be timed, quite definitely, and that 

timing does not want to be 30 years, because if you had a fresh site that 

you started at the beginning, then ideally you would be rehabilitating as 30 

you go and that you would have that rehabilitation completed within 

five years of the quarry closure.  Anything longer than that leaves the 

public at risk, that the people concerned might walk off and just leave 

it, so that is one of the reasons why we have been stating on an ongoing 

basis is a key element because you have less risk to a site being 35 

abandoned and left as a sterile hole for perpetuity.   

 

MS DAWSON:   But with the existing quarries that is potentially more of a 

risk? 

 40 

MR ENGLISH:   It is, and that is exactly why I think I support the industry 

tying itself to rehabilitation plans which are going to be approved by 

the Council and timeliness will be one of those issues that will come 

out of that plan. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr English.  That is all my questions. 
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SJH:   Mr English, you accepted that the industry is competitive at the 

moment? 

 

MR ENGLISH:  I do.   5 

 

SJH:   You have stressed the significance of transportation cost? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   I have. 

 10 

SJH:   In your calculation of shortfall and additional cost your theoretical is an 

additional 15 kilometres of cartage? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   No, sorry.  This is where I think there seems to be a 

misunderstanding.   15 

 

SJH:   What distance did you take? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   No, I took 15 kilometres, but that was only an illustration if 

everything had to be moved out 15 kilometres, I am not saying it does 20 

have to be moved out 15 kilometres, it was just an illustration to get 

effectively a feel for how, what the size and numbers are that we are 

talking about. 

 

SJH:   All right.  So what was, in the Christchurch region, taking into account 25 

Waimak and Selwyn for stuff to go into Christchurch, what is the 

average cartage distance at the moment. 

 

MR ENGLISH:   It is around about 18 kilometres one way. 

 30 

SJH:   For large truck and trailer units, when does distance start to make it 

uneconomic in the current market, at what distance? 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Well, I would suggest that if you were trying to transport 

material from Rolleston into the centre of the city, that would be 35 

uneconomic as opposed to transporting - - - 

 

SJH:   I am asking for a number in kilometres. 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Well, it depends, the reason why I picked that one is because 40 

it depends on whether you have got a rural urban mix or a total urban 

mix, I do not mean to be – It depends - - - 

 

SJH:   Well, assuming a half urban, half rural, what is your distance? 

 45 
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MR ENGLISH:   All the quarries are currently at about the same distance from 

the point of which they supply demand, so if somebody was to move 

out, let’s say, 10 kilometres from their current position, 10 kilometres 

west for the sake of the argument, then they would start to be suffering 

a bit of a problem because they are going to be losing probably, at a 5 

guess, $2-$3 a tonne, and to put that into perspective the current sale 

price is around about $13 a tonne, so that’s quite a significance 

increase. 

 

SJH:   So, say, 30 kilometres from the central city, would that be uneconomic 10 

for large truck and trailer units or not? 

 

  [11.35 am] 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Yes, it would be, against current competition, yes. 15 

 

SJH:   So why is there a constant stream of large truck and trailer units 

travelling that sort of distance loaded with aggregate down South Eyre 

Road to the city? 

 20 

MR ENGLISH:   Where are you speaking about from? 

 

SJH:   From Pesters Road. 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Which quarry is this one? 25 

 

SJH:   It is the riverbed. 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Is that Selwyn? 

 30 

SJH:   No, it is in Waimak, and it would be 30 kilometres from The Square. 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Yes, the reason for that being is because ECan charge, I think 

it is 90 cents a cubic metre as their royalty, so all you have to do if you 

are using bulk material, and that will be very – there will not be much 35 

of it in terms of the overall, then you have got a cheap source of 

material, but that is part of those 0.8 million tonnes I am talking about 

that come out of the Waimak already.  So it is a balance between - - - 

 

SJH:   It is not the Waimak, it is the Eyre Riverbed. 40 

 

MR ENGLISH:   Well, it is the same thing, it still belongs to ECan.  There is 

the material being transported - - - 

 

SJH:   So they are selling it too cheap? 45 

 



 Page 55 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

MR ENGLISH:   No, it depends on what materials they are selling and who 

they are selling it against.  It is not processed material, it will be just 

raw, what is called pit-road, so the costs that they have got a cheap 

source, by the time that they have the transport to get into town, and I 

cannot imagine quite what they are using it for, then it would be 5 

competitive with a land based - - - 

 

SJH:   Well, some of them seem to be members for the organisation you are 

also giving evidence for, so perhaps you can enlighten us then.  Is there 

anything arising Ms Ash? 10 

 

MS ASH:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  We will take the morning adjournment for 15 minutes and 

we will try to make up some time after that, thank you. 15 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.36 am] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, perhaps, sorry, just on a brief point, I see Mr Potts is 

coming up.  The first I heard of his supplementary evidence was in the 20 

legal submissions presented this morning. 

 

SJH:   Well, the first we saw of it was this morning, but it is in response to 

some evidence of yours I understand. 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, I have not seen that yet, so I would just seek leave to 

be able to review that and possibly - - - 

 

SJH:   Well, you will have to make access to it over the morning adjournment, 

Ms Limmer. 30 

 

ADJOURNED [11.37 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.53 am] 

 35 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, Ms Ash? 

 

MS ASH:   I now call Ms Jennifer Dray. 

 

40 
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<JENNIFER GERALDINE DRAY, affirmed [11.53 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [11.53 am] 

 

MS ASH:   Ms Dray, is your name Jennifer Geraldine Dray? 

 

MS DRAY:   It is.   5 

 

MS ASH:   Do you have the qualifications and experience outlined in the 

introduction to your evidence? 

 

MS DRAY:   I do. 10 

 

MS ASH:   Would you please confirm to the Panel that the information in your 

evidence-in-chief and your rebuttal evidence is true and correct? 

 

MS DRAY:   It is. 15 

 

MS ASH:   Would you please outline your summary and answer any questions.  

 

MS DRAY:   Thank you.  I have been asked to provide expert evidence on 

landscape matters relating to quarries and principally the visual 20 

screening provisions as set out in the Activity Specific Standards 

17.6.4. 

 

 Quarry and operations and ancillary aggregate processing activities can 

potentially have a negative effect upon the landscape character and 25 

visual amenity of the rural zone land in which they are located, 

specifically within the flat land form of the Canterbury Plains.   

 

  [11.55 am] 

 30 

 Landscape character can be defined as the character aspects that define 

a landscape.  One aspect of landscape character is natural character, 

which is the extent to which naturally occurring elements, patterns and 

processes of place, have remained intact.  Visual amenity is a measure 

of the visual quality of a landscape, as experienced by people who live 35 

or travel through it.   

 

 Rural zones tend to have a higher degree of naturalist and visual 

amenity because of more open spaces and less intensity of 

development, and it is this aspect of rural character is what usually 40 

valued by residents and other users of the area.  

 

 In my evidence-in-chief I have set out my expert assessment of the 

visual screening rules which have been the subject of discussion by 

submitters, which by way of summary are: 45 
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 I just though here that I would give a summary of the rules that have 

undergone discussion, and where we are at now: Activity Standard 

17.6.4.2, Minimum Building Setback from road boundaries.  A 20 

metre setback of buildings from the road has been accepted by all 

parties.  The reason for requiring this setback is to allow room for 5 

visual screening by way of earth bunding or shelterbelts and tree 

planting. 

 

 Activity Standard 17.6.4.3 maximum size of individual building.  

Agreement was reached on this standard which limits building size to 10 

500 metres squared. 

 

 Activity Standard 17.6.4.7 minimum excavation setbacks.  This rule 

acknowledges the relationship between excavation setbacks and the 

visual screening requirements in 17.6.4.12. 15 

 

 CAPG initially submitted that this rule was redundant as a three metre 

high earth bund for visual screening would require a 19 metre strip of 

land regardless of the rule.  In my evidence I explained that in my view 

the 20 metre excavation activity setback is justified to ensure that were 20 

a bund is used as a visual screen, a three metre high earth bund with a 

maximum one in three gradient on both sides will be achieved.   

 

 Activity standard 17.6.4.12, Visual Screening, this activity standard 

requires that all quarrying activities be screened from view from zone 25 

and road boundaries by one of three methods.  The intention of this 

activity standard is to be more enabling for quarry operators than the 

operative screening rule, which requires five rows of trees or bunding 

plus one row of trees.  This activity standard seeks to provide full 

screening while maximising the extent of aggregate excavation.   30 

 

 Activity standard 17.6.4.14 maximum extent of exposed excavation, 

this proposed activity standard requires that in the rural quarry zone in 

the Miners Road and Pound Road areas only two hectare per property 

be open at any one time, and within the McLeans Island area only 20 35 

hectares per property may be open at any one time.   

 

 CAPG submitted that based on the effectiveness of existing visual 

screening, in accordance with proposed activity standard 17.6.4.12, 

which is visual screening, a maximum extent of exposed excavation is 40 

not necessary, or should be increased to address of operational matters.  

However, a compromised position was agreed at mediation whereby 

the Council agreed to the deletion of the two hectare maximum 

exposed area activity standard, provided that a new rehabilitation 

activity standard 17.6.4.15 was included, to require all quarry sites to 45 
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have in place a certified quarry rehabilitation plan within two years of 

the date at which the District Plan becomes operative. 

 

 I understand that a mediated compromise has since been agreed in 

principle between parties, although the Council agreement was 5 

caveated by the need to retain the three in one batter rule and requiring 

progressive rehabilitation.   

 

 In my evidence-in-chief I have stated that the activity standard relating 

to the maximum battered slope, of three in one, ensures that the 10 

battered slope can be successfully revegetated and will also ensure a 

higher level of visual amenity, impacting less significantly on the 

naturalness and landscape character of the landscape once quarrying 

has ceased.  

 15 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

 The benefit of retaining this activity standard is that it gives certainty 

that this final gradient will be achieved.   

 20 

 CAPG have submitted that large areas of exposed excavations which 

already exist in the quarry zone are not visually apparent due to visual 

mitigation bunds and planting and that therefore a rule relating to 

maximum extent of exposed excavation is unnecessary.  However in 

my rebuttal I have stated that visual effects are only one component of 25 

landscape effects and the enduring change to the landform which arises 

from large excavation pits is a landscape effect that, while not 

necessarily visible, will bring about a permanent and significant change 

to the landscape of the Canterbury Plains.   

 30 

 However, I am aware that a large proportion of quarries currently 

operating within the Quarry zone are not compliant with the two 

hectare rule and it would be very difficult to comply retrospectively 

with this requirement.  I consider that the best outcome would be to 

require a rehabilitation plan in combination with a staged rehabilitation 35 

rule.   

 

 Fulton Hogan have proposed a rule where the maximum area of 

exposed excavation that can be undertaken as a permitted activity is 15 

hectare.  This rule would apply to all knew quarries established within 40 

the Rural Quarry zone after 1 April 2016.  I am aware that this is for 

excavation only and excludes the area required for processing. 

 

 I support the retention of a staged rehabilitation rule for new quarries 

subject to appropriate stage sizes and certainty of final rehabilitation.  45 

This would give an opportunity to assess each new quarry on a case by 
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case basis, and to properly manage the closure and rehabilitation of the 

quarry in a timely manner.  I am not an expert in the operations of an 

aggregate extraction quarry, but support, in principle, a staged 

rehabilitation rule as it ensures more certainty around the final 

landforms created post-rehabilitation. 5 

 

 Activity standard 17.6.4.15 quarry site rehabilitation.  This activity 

standard requires that the quarry site rehabilitation be undertaken for all 

quarry sites and that a Quarry Site Rehabilitation Plan shall be 

submitted to Council for approval.  I have commented in my rebuttal 10 

evidence that this rule requires a programme and timescale for 

progressive rehabilitation.   

 

 In my view this is a very open ended rule and the timeframe around the 

rehabilitation is not adequately addressed.  There is no requirement for 15 

this rehabilitation to take place over a particular period.  The risk is still 

that rehabilitation may not take place until the end of the duration of 

the quarrying activity with consequent issues around the sourcing of 

clean fill and timely restoration of the site.  Thank you. 

 20 

SJH:   Ms Limmer? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [12.03 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  Ms Dray, there are a few matters you just 25 

addressed in your summary that do not appear in your evidence and I 

just want to be clear on those.  Are you now saying that you can 

support the deletion of the two hectare rule in the Quarry zone if there 

is a rehabilitation rule, of the kind proposed? 

 30 

MS DRAY:   I am saying I can support the deletion of the two hectare rule 

providing it is substituted by a rule of some description, placing some 

controls over the extent of exposed excavation. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Right, so just to be clear on that, the sites are already open, is 35 

it your view that there should be a limit on exposed excavation or 

should they be subject to the rehabilitation rule? 

 

MS DRAY:   Subject to the rehabilitation rule. 

 40 

MS LIMMER:   And so for any new sites you are recommending a retention of 

an exposed excavation and you mentioned the Fulton Hogan site in 

your summary just then, you haven’t addressed it in your evidence, was 

it your position that 15 hectares was or was not the right amount? 

 45 
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MS DRAY:   I haven’t made a particular opinion on the 15 hectare size 

because being not an expert on quarrying I can’t say for sure one way 

or the other.  All I am saying is I do support that there is a rule around 

the exposed extent of quarrying. 

 5 

MS LIMMER:   From a landscape perspective does 15 hectares, does that 

cause you any concerns? 

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 10 

MS DRAY:   From a landscape perspective, I feel like that is erring on the side 

of too large an area when we already know that there is quarries that 

can operate at eight or nine hectares. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So when you talk about an area of exposed excavation, what is 15 

an area of exposed excavation to you? 

 

MS DRAY:   An area that has had all the topsoil stripped off and is currently 

undergoing extraction. 

 20 

MS LIMMER:   So does that include areas that have been worked out and are 

now covered by buildings, plants, settlement ponds, roads? 

 

MS DRAY:   In my mind that would be an area that isn’t exposed.  So in my 

mind I could see a scenario where an area is open for extraction, once 25 

that is exhausted the next area is opened and that first area 

rehabilitation is undertaken on that straightaway within a certain 

timeframe. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So your interpretation is different from the planner’s 30 

interpretation of what is covered by the area of exposed excavation? 

 

MS DRAY:   I think the planner, I think there is agreement that we don’t agree.  

I think there is agreement that there is not absolute certainty on what is 

being proposed and what that definition is because, and I said in my 35 

summary there, it seems that the processing area is outside of that 

proposed 15 hectare rule.  So I am unclear on exactly what that 

definition is. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And I told you that the Fulton Hogan 15 hectare proposal was 40 

to include all of the processing as well as the worked out working area, 

would that make you feel better? 

 

MS DRAY:   A little better because there is more surety then about exactly 

what area we are talking about.  Again I am not an expert on the 45 

operations, from a landscape point of view 15 hectare does seem to be a 
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large area but I also concede that each site is unique in its size, in its 

depth and its location and that there is opportunity there to just do the 

assessments on a case-by-case basis. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And for the Fulton Hogan site, you are satisfied that the visual 5 

effects will be dealt with? 

 

MS DRAY:   Yes, I have said that in my evidence, that visually that those 

effects could be dealt with from a visual - - - 

 10 

MS LIMMER:   And that site being a new site would have to provide a 

rehabilitation plan in advance, wouldn’t it? 

 

MS DRAY:   It would and it seems that the ODP that was submitted by Fulton 

Hogan would result in mitigation that would be over and above what 15 

was originally required by the new provisions. 

 

MS LIMMER:   By the rules alone, yes? 

 

MS DRAY:   Yes. 20 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, those are all my questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 25 

MR NEILL:   Yes, very briefly, Ms Dray.  Have you visited the site in Pound 

Road by Fulton Hogan? 

 

MS DRAY:   The actual golf course site? 

 30 

MR NEILL:   No, the - - - 

 

MS DRAY:   The Fulton Hogan site? 

 

MR NEILL:   - - - site. 35 

 

MS DRAY:   I haven’t, I have driven onto just the main front area but I haven’t 

visited the entire site. 

 

MR NEILL:   Have you driven past or by the road metal site in West Coast 40 

Road? 

 

MS DRAY:   Yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   Visually what do you see? 45 
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MS DRAY:   Not a lot, there is massive big shelterbelts and bunds. 

 

MR NEILL:   So whether it be 15 hectares inside or 10 isn’t visually sighted by 

those passing by? 

 5 

MS DRAY:   Correct, but in my evidence I talk about landscape effects being 

more than visual.  I talk about other points of landscape character and I 

also talk about areas of exposed excavation being quite closely linked 

to the staged rehabilitation whereby if we have better rules around 

limiting the area then there is a more likelihood of having more of a 10 

successful staged rehabilitation. 

 

MR NEILL:   And from your evidence you are supportive that the buildings be 

no more than 100 metres from the boundary, that is my reading? 

 15 

MS DRAY:   The rule that has been agreed on by all parties was a 20 metre 

setback rule. 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 20 

MR NEILL:   From? 

 

MS DRAY:   From road boundaries.   

 

MR NEILL:   From road boundaries, and you are happy with that? 25 

 

MS DRAY:   Yes, providing the visual screening is in place.   

 

MR NEILL:   What is the difference between a building of that nature and, say, 

a grain silo on a farm? 30 

 

MS DRAY:   Generally these buildings are larger and don’t necessarily have a 

particular rural character to them.   

 

MR NEILL:   So perhaps a design aspect of the building could enhance that? 35 

 

MS DRAY:   It could be.  Currently there are controls on size and height.  I 

haven’t put any thought to any other controls on building design. 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you. 40 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   No question, Ms Dray.  Thank you.   

 45 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 
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MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Dray.  In your rebuttal evidence, in paragraph 

3.10, you seem to be questioning the permitted activity rule for 

rehabilitation, and here we are talking about existing quarries, and you 

state that it is a very open ended rule and the timeframe is not 5 

adequately addressed.  What are you suggesting here?  Are you 

suggesting that from a landscape point of view, or in your opinion, that 

there should be some more teeth in this permitted activity rehabilitation 

plan rule? 

 10 

MS DRAY:   I am suggesting that.  And it might just be down to just some 

rewording in the rule, just creating more certainty around the idea of 

progressive rehabilitation, and it also might be for any new quarries 

that might open in the Rural Quarry Zone it is around the timely 

rehabilitation of those stages as well, and it could be some thought be 15 

given to ensuring that the original stage is rehabilitated by a certain 

point after the next stage opens, because then what could happen is the 

third stage could then open and stage 1 and 2 still haven’t been 

rehabilitated.  So we could end up, if it is a 15 hectare rule, we could 

end up with 45 hectares open, at any one point.   20 

 

MS DAWSON:   So are you suggesting that there could be some more 

specificity added into that rule, and that that may differ depending on 

whether it is addressing rehabilitation of an existing worked quarry or a 

new quarry that might open up in the Quarry Zone? 25 

 

MS DRAY:   Yes, I am. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Apart from the potential quarry at the Templeton Golf Course 

– we will put that one to one side – are there areas of the existing 30 

Quarry Zone where new quarries could still open up? 

 

MS DRAY:   There is one more area called Carter’s Block which is at the 

Miner’s Road Quarry Zone just off West Coast Road, and I am not sure 

what size that block is.   35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Are there any rules in the Quarry Zone at the moment that are 

different for a new quarry in the Quarry Zone, versus a continuation of 

an existing quarry in the Quarry Zone.   

 40 

MS DRAY:   In terms of visual screening? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  Sort of, in the various rules that you have referred to, or 

are they all the same? 

 45 
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MS DRAY:   I have referred to rules that really have an impact on visual 

screening and landscape mitigation.  So could you just ask your 

questions again? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Do any of those rules have slightly different requirements 5 

depending on whether it is a new quarry or an existing quarry in the 

Quarry Zone? 

 

MS DRAY:   I can’t answer that one with any certainty.   

 10 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  But you are suggesting for a rehabilitation that 

could be the case? 

 

MS DRAY:   Yes. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, that is all of my questions.  Thank you. 

 

MS DRAY:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   What do you mean by timely rehabilitation for an existing quarry? 20 

 

MS DRAY:   Again that is a difficult one, but I imagine that - - -  

 

SJH:   I realise that, but we are seeking from assistance from you. 

 25 

MS DRAY:   So I imagine that there could be some sort of rule requiring stage 

1 to be rehabilitated within a certain number of years once stage 2 has 

been re-opened.  And maybe - - -  

 

SJH:   Well an existing quarry might already be at stage 4.  I am talking about 30 

existing quarries.  What do you see as timely? 

 

MS DRAY:   I can’t tell you with any certainty, sorry.   

 

SJH:   So you can’t assist us at all? 35 

 

MS DRAY:   Not in terms of timeframe. 

 

SJH:   Okay, thank you.  Anything arising, Ms Limmer? 

 40 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir.   

 

SJH:   Ms Ash? 

 

MS ASH:   No, sir.   45 
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SJH:   Thank you.  You may stand down.   

 

MS DRAY:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.15 pm] 5 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Ash? 

 

MS ASH:   I now call Mr George Cunningham. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you. 
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<GEORGE CUNNINGHAM, affirmed [12.15 pm] 



 Page 68 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [12.16 pm] 

 

MS ASH:   Mr Cunningham, your full name is George William Cunningham? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   It is.  That is right.   5 

 

MS ASH:   Do you have the experience outlined in the introduction to your 

evidence? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Yes. 10 

 

MS ASH:   Could you please outline your summary to the Panel, and answer 

any questions.   

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   My full name is George William Cunningham.  I 15 

reside in Matamata.  I intend to briefly summarise the contents of my 

evidence by addressing the following issues.  I might point out 

primarily that in paragraph 5.2 of my evidence the word “years” has 

been missed.  That is on line 5.   

 20 

 The following issues:  How quarrying is managed in other districts, key 

factors affecting the quarrying industry in Christchurch, the meaning of 

quarrying activities, policy 12 rehabilitation of quarry sites.   

 

 How quarrying is managed in other districts.  I reiterate that it is my 25 

belief that the provision of the Quarry Zone in the existing District Plan 

has to date, enabling quarrying as a permitted activity, provided 

significant advantage to the members of The Canterbury Aggregate 

Producers Group and other independent quarry operators in 

Christchurch when compared with quarry operators in other districts.  30 

 

 In my opinion the quarrying industry in Christchurch is clearly 

experiencing higher than usual production and demand due to the need 

to supply materials for the Christchurch rebuild.  This means that the 

community that resides adjacent to existing quarry sites and indeed the 35 

community at large will be required to have some patience and an 

understanding of the unusual pressures currently being placed upon the 

quarry industry as an outcome of the effects of the earthquake.   

 

 Currently as an outcome of the rebuild and reconstruction works 40 

resulting from the effects of the earthquake, the quarry industry has 

been required to provide and deliver on demand product, at an annual 

rate that is close to three times the rate that existed prior to that event.   

 

 In my view it is difficult to obtain an accurate tonnage of quarry 45 

products currently being consumed on a daily, monthly or annual basis.  



 Page 69 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

To its credit, the quarry industry is now required to, and has to date, 

been able to respond and meet that high demand.   

 

 The Quarry Replacement District Plan appears to meet and fully 

recognise and provide for the current situation facing quarries while 5 

providing in the Plan the ability for quarries to produce and dispatch 

daily over extended hours for a period extending to 30 April 2018.   

 

 The meaning of quarry activities.  I understand there to be some issue 

in seeking to broaden the definition of quarrying with the effect of 10 

allowing a wider range of permitted activities on quarry sites.  In my 

view, I describe the act of quarrying to include but be limited to the 

preparation, removal and stockpiling of top soil and sub soil, extraction 

of in situ gravel by extraction, releasing of hard rock by blasting, 

transporting of rock or gravel to the part of the site used for processing, 15 

trucking rock or gravel screening to size and washing of products, 

transporting of process products to stock product stockpiles, loading 

out of product from stockpiles for delivery and site rehabilitation 

works. 

 20 

  [12.20 am] 

 

 The processing materials brought in from other sites is, in my opinion, 

not quarrying.  It is in essence processing and manufacturing.  In my 

experience with other quarry sites elsewhere in New Zealand there is 25 

not usually any need for this activity to be undertaken on quarry sites. 

 

 Rehabilitation of Quarry Sites: I understand that the requirement for a 

site rehabilitation plan or part of the package of the provision that has 

been agreed to by the Council and the industry at mediation.  In my 30 

view this is a very significant and positive shift and it is highly 

important that this requirement be retained. 

 

 The absence of an approved quarry management plans dealing with 

rehabilitation has, in some instances, compared to the undesirable 35 

outcome of little or no rehabilitation being planned or implemented. 

 

 Conclusion: Overall I think the proposal will provide the right balance 

to be supportive of the aggregate industry and the need for aggregates 

for the benefits of the society, but requiring appropriate checks and 40 

balances and greater emphasis on ensuring quarries appropriately 

manage their effects and rehabilitated in a stage manner. 

 

 I support the quarry related provision of the RDP.  In my view the 

provision will provide both short and long term benefits to the 45 

community through appropriately managing quarry activities in a way 
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which will not adversely affect the ability of existing operators within 

the quarry zones to continue to operate. 

 

 With respect to requirements to rehabilitate quarry sites, I understand 

that this is the first time the plan will require rehabilitation plans for 5 

quarries.  In my view this is a very significant and positive step, shift 

and is highly important this requirement be retained. 

 

 In my view, the rules in the RDP will (A) ensure that existing quarry 

operation are required to take plan positive actions to progressively 10 

rehabilitate their sites as soon as is practicable to do so, while still 

being able to continue to meet the immediate and high level of 

community demand for quarry products. 

 

 (B) ensure that newly proposed quarry activities within quarry zone is 15 

able to operate without the need of resource consent, provided they 

meet standards in relation to noise, hours of operation, maximum depth 

of extraction and maximum gradient of extraction and rehabilitation, in 

my view these standards are appropriate. 

 20 

 They are to reflect standard industry practice and will not adverse 

effect the ability to operate or proposals to establish quarries elsewhere 

in the rural zone will require discretionary activity consent. 

 

 I have read the evidence on behalf of the Canterbury Aggregate 25 

Producers Group and Maurice Carter, I did not feel it necessary to 

provide any rebuttal evidence in response as I consider my views have 

already been clearly stated in my primary evidence. 

 

 However, I am happy to answer any questions the Panel have. 30 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Limmer? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [12.24 pm] 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  Thank you, Mr Cunningham. 

 

 You have used the words “very liberal” to describe the Plans approach 

to quarrying, those are your words, so of the – about 63 District Plans 

around the country, how many did you look at to come to that view? 40 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   I did not go and look at any particular but I - - -  

 

SJH:   Just speak into the microphone so it picked up from - - -  

 45 
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MR CUNNINGHAM:   I have not particularly gone to look at District Plans, 

but I have been involved in many districts from Northland down to 

wellington and into Nelson as well. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So - - -  5 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   And I am – sorry, and Southland. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So Mr Cunningham, you have accepted though that there is 

nothing remarkable about the approach outside the quarry zones, which 10 

is that, you have to get consent? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   There are no quarry zones in any other district I know. 

 

MS LIMMER:   They geographically - - -  15 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   But recently there has been move to make quarry 

zones around existing quarries to protect those quarries from 

encroachment, but I do not - - -  

 20 

  [12.25 pm] 

 

SJH:   Just listen to the question. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sorry, Mr Cunningham, my question was actually, you accept 25 

there is nothing remarkable about the Plans approach outside the quarry 

zones, that is the approach that every new quarry needs consent? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   New quarries need consent. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   Yes and there is nothing remarkable or liberal about that, is 

there? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   If you were a quarry outside the zone then nothing 

remarkable about that. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   No.  In terms of the quarries within the quarry zone, you 

accept in your evidence they have a long history, most of them, do they 

not? 

 40 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Very long history, my information that I keep, go back 

to 1972 right through to 93 when they stop publishing it and I have kept 

up to date as much as one can either. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 45 
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MR CUNNINGHAM:   They are long established quarry. 

 

MS LIMMER:   That is right, and in many instances they preceded any plan 

rules didn’t they? 

 5 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Yes, for sure. 

 

MS LIMMER:   When you say in your evidence at paragraph 7.2 that there is 

not usually any need for processing of material from other sites to 

happen on a site, where do those sites process their material? 10 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Where do I say that – please - - -  

 

MS LIMMER:   Where you are talking about imported materials - - -  

 15 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   - - - and you say “usually that does not need to happen”? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   That is right. 20 

 

MS LIMMER:   And is that because the material is processed onsite? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Generally if you go to places like the Rangitiki and 

you are extracting apart from the one or two major plants, people take 25 

portable plants along, process it adjacent to the area of extraction and 

then take the plant away. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, so they are processed onsite.  And do you agree with the 

other evidence that processing is generally the noisiest, or potentially 30 

the noisiest part of quarrying activity? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   In a gravel zone, yes.  In higher roped (ph 2.24) 

quarries sometimes the extraction from the quarry, face blasting and 

activities up there can generate short term and very high levels of noise. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   We are not talking about quarries here that require blasting 

though are we, Mr Cunningham? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Certainly crushing and the screening, particularly 40 

screening can be pretty noisy. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   But I just add to that, some of the distinct noise issues 45 

I have had to face, is loading out of – loading onto trucks, empty 
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vehicles with their high bathtub bodies early in the morning or late at 

night, the first bucket fall can be heard quite a long way away. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So, Mr Cunningham, I asked you, do you agree with the other 

expert evidence from the noise experts that the noisiest part of 5 

quarrying activity is the processing of it? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   If you are up close, certainly health and safety are 

recognising that at the moment, but it depends on how far the operation 

located from the boundary of the property – it will be noisy but not 10 

noisy to residents if it is appropriate distance from adjoining property. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  So the size of the site can assist with mitigating that 

effect, can’t it? 

 15 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   The location of the plant on the site relative to the 

boundary of the property and adjacent properties, buildings or 

dwellings is important. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  So the smaller the site the greater the potential for noise 20 

effects from processing? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   If there is encroachment of building to the boundary of 

another property. 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   If I can ask you now, Mr Cunningham, about operating hours, 

your evidence on that point is that there is no standard practice and 

plans around this, but you do say “provision is usually made in 

consents for operating hours”, so that are different from their day times 

ones, if you like? 30 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Generally the standard practice despatch hours are 

7.00 am, maybe till 8.00 pm at night, Monday-Friday or even Saturday 

and some instances very, very few have any consent to despatch on a 

Sunday. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  So you have said here that there is normally provision 

made for outside standard times for circumstances such as civil 

emergencies or supplying inner city or motorway night works, so major 

projects effectively? 40 

 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Certainly for civil emergencies, the rules are relaxed to 

ensure that the industry can respond if there is flood or maintenance 45 

protection material required. 
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 In the case of motorway overlays and reconstruction in inner cities, 

which work has to be carried out at night, it is a general rule that there 

will be some arrangement made even short term to allow for that 

particular works to be done but now carte blanch to say that you could 5 

fix every road every night, or hall, every night. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, so the demand would fluctuate for that kind of despatch? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   It is a project-by-project situation, in my opinion. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  You have said in your evidence in a number of places 

that you think the requirement for consent is appropriate to ensure, for 

example, compliance with noise limits.  Would you also think it were 

appropriate if noise limits are complied with that the consent be 15 

declined? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   If you can comply with the noise limits in the District 

Plan I personally see no reason why you should not work 24 hours a 

day but the reality is you have to, prior to doing that, show that you can 20 

do it.   

 

 I had a situation when there were shipments of coal urgency required to 

come in to be stored in a quarry, and that was 24 hours over three days.  

We had to prove that we could bring the coal in overnight without 25 

breaching the District Plan noise rules.  So we set up data monitors and 

tested for two or three nights and we were able to comply throughout 

the year with that activity.  So if you are complying, it is illogical not to 

allow it but you have to prove you can comply with noise. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   I will just ask you, Mr Cunningham, about the gradient for 

excavation that the plan proposes, and your concern is to ensure that it 

will be able to be reinstated and you support a consenting process to 

ensure that would happen, is that correct? 

 35 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   I support it to the point where I see no reason not to 

extract the additional material there, provided you have consent to take 

it out with the appropriate replacement stabilisation of that bank. 

 There are have two reasons, one is that we would not want a wall of un-

stabilised material right round the boundary of the property, that is 40 

unsafe, and secondly, that you need to be able to have access from the 

upper level to the bottom, so you need drivable gradients as far as 

farming is concerned, because I understand the current rehabilitation 

proposals is that all the areas will be left in grass.  So that includes 

batters and floor. 45 
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MS LIMMER:   Yes.  And if the quarry site had to show, for example, that it 

had enough material on site to refill that batter immediately, that would 

assist with your concerns around that? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   I think that would be – it should not be in the rule but I 5 

do not see it should be prohibited if you applied for a supplementary 

resource consent to do that on a job on a site-by-site basis. But the 

reality is, it is taken out and forgotten to be replaced. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  But if the material is already there to be used then it is 10 

not going to be forgotten about, is it? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   If there is suitable material on site to take out x 

number of metres from that gradient and replace it with a same stable 

base gradient, I see no reason that should not occur, but I do not think it 15 

should be in the rule, it should require a separate non-notified consent 

on a site by site basis. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Well that is probably straying into a bit of planning evidence, 

is it not, Mr Cunningham?  That is probably getting beyond your area 20 

of expertise to say how the rules should be drafted. 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   I do not know, it is probably beyond my expertise how 

it should be drafted, but unless you can show that you are going to give 

it back the same as a plan provides for, then it is over to the Council to 25 

decide how they can handle that but unless there is some mechanism, 

some law or plan that says you can take it out under consent provided 

you put it back within one month, two months, then I think the batter 

rule should apply. 

 30 

  [12.35 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you.  I am just going to move on to the two hectare 

rule. 

 35 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   To the? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Two hectare rule, the two hectare limit.  You have seen the 

proposal in the plan for that, which Ms Dray has just advised that they 

do not support.  What do you understand is an area of exposed 40 

excavation? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   The total interference with the original surface of the 

site. 

 45 



 Page 76 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

MS LIMMER:   So you expect that would include all the processing areas, 

areas covered in buildings, roads, settlement ponds? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Ultimately at the cessation of activities that site will 

become available for rehabilitation so it is in fact an exposed site.  It 5 

may be taken up in an interim basis with crushing plant, stockpiles, a 

workshop, roadways, these areas all being stripped ready for 

excavation, they will be the area being excavated, but the area being 

commenced rehabilitation, all those areas in my mind add up to the 

total exposed area. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, and how many quarries do you know can operate all of 

those things in a two hectare space? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   The question again? 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   How many quarries do you know that can operate all of those 

things in two hectares? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Very few.  In fact it would be difficult. 20 

 

MS LIMMER:   I have got one more question, Mr Cunningham.  At 3.4B of 

your evidence and 5.1, well 5.1 is probably the better paragraph to look 

at, you list only four standards that activities in the Quarry zone would 

have to comply with.  You understand do you not, that there are a lot 25 

more than that? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Well certainly traffic. 

  

MS LIMMER:  I am thinking of setbacks, landscaping, building height, 30 

building size, noise? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   But that is normally in the District Plan.  When I have 

applied for resource consents we are told before we apply how far, 

close to the boundary you are allowed to go. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, no, Mr Cunningham, I am asking you, in your list here 

you have said that quarrying activities can occur provided they comply 

with those four standards, and I am asking you did you understand 

there are a lot more standards than just those four? 40 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Yes, certainly, distance from a boundary is one. 

 

MS LIMMER:   But I am – all I am asking you, do you understand that this 

zone does not depend on just compliance with those four standards? 45 

 



 Page 77 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   No. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir, I have no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Neill? 5 

 

MR NEILL:   Two simple questions.  You have talked about bringing in 

product from outside, processing material brought in, imported 

materials.  In the quarrying industry what are these materials that are 

brought in? 10 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   The only standard material brought in, particularly in 

Greywacke sedimentary quarries is lime, for stabilising base-course to 

offset the clay content in the material.  It has the ability to upgrade the 

material and make it usable rather than turn it out to waste.  Other than 15 

that it is standard quarrying activity.  No other product I know you 

would bring in. 

 

MR NEILL:   Right, I will pursue that with others over due course. 

 20 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   There are instances where I know that people will 

bring in river gravel, in areas like Rangitikei, where there are two or 

maybe three well-established operations.  They do bring in the material 

they harvest from time to time on allocation from the river. 

 25 

MR NEILL:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:  Thank you, Mr Cunningham.  Just following on from Mr Neill’s 30 

question, I take it from your answer then that you are not aware of 

other district plans providing for materials to be brought on site to a 

quarry for processing?   

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   No. 35 

 

MR WILLIS:   Other than this one obviously, okay, thank you.  At paragraph 

9.5 of your evidence you talk about quarry management plans, which I 

assume you mean, or to incorporate – perhaps you can expand on it, the 

idea of a rehabilitation plan, and you talk about those being required in 40 

certain circumstances, including where there is consents et cetera.  Are 

you aware of situations where that sort of a management plan would be 

required as part of a permitted activity rule as opposed to a consenting 

environment? 

45 
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  [12.40 pm] 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   No I don’t know of any quarrying whether it is 

permitted in any district other than this area.   

 5 

MR WILLIS:   I see, okay, thank you.   

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I have no questions, thank you Mr Cunningham. 10 

 

SJH:   Thank you.   Anything arising, Ms Limmer? 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir.   

 15 

SJH:   Ms Ash? 

 

MS ASH:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you Mr Cunningham, you may stand down and you may be 20 

released.   

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.41 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, Ms Ash. 25 

 

MS ASH:   I now call Mr Robert Potts. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  You have got a copy of the supplementary, Ms Limmer? 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   I do sir.  I have only got one and I gave it to my witness to 

have a look at, so I will just grab that back.   

 

MS ASH:   Sir, for some reason our email has faltered and I have given my 

copy to Ms Limmer. 35 

 

SJH:   All right.   
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SJH:   Just before you start, Mr Willis needs to put something on the record.  

 

MR WILLIS:   I just wish to put on record that Mr Potts and myself have been 

working on a project, although we have not seen each other recently, 

for a joint client.  It is unrelated to the matters here and outside of 5 

Christchurch. 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Ms Ash? 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [12.42 am] 10 

 

MS ASH:   Mr Potts, is your full name Robert John Potts? 

 

MR POTTS:   It is.   

 15 

MS ASH:   And do you have the qualifications and experience outlined in the 

introduction to your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MR POTTS:   Yes, I do. 

 20 

MS ASH:   Can you please confirm to the Panel that the evidence that you are 

presenting to the Panel is true and correct?> 

 

MR POTTS:   I do, yes. 

 25 

MS ASH:   Would you please present your summary and answer any questions. 

 

MR POTTS:   I have been asked to give evidence in relation to the difference 

between the highest recorded groundwater historically used by 

Christchurch City Council, and the highest seasonal groundwater buffer 30 

used by the Canterbury Regional Council. 

 

 The need for a one metre buffer between maximum quarry excavation 

depth and water table in order to enable future post-quarry 

rehabilitation and uses of the site and a description of issues associated 35 

with the conversation of fill and soil use prior rehabilitation, and 

discussion of how rehabilitation plans should be used to address these 

issues for both existing and future quarries. 

 

 I understand from the evidence and rebuttal of Dr Rutter, that seasonal 40 

high water table and highest recorded groundwater are not necessarily 

the same, with some highest readings occurring outside the seasonal 

period assessed by Environment Canterbury.  Therefore, from 

Dr Rutter’s earth investigation and from my perspective in assessing 

the viability of long term land use, the highest recorded groundwater 45 
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should be used in the Replacement District Plan, and this is a reversal 

of my opinion in 5.6 of my evidence-in-chief.   

 

 Rule 17.6.4.6 regarding the depth of excavation, in relation to 

groundwater in the Replacement District Plan, appears to have a similar 5 

function to rules 5.175 to 5.178 of the Environment Canterbury’s Land 

and Water Plan, which is primarily for aquifer protection from 

quarrying activities.   

 

 In my view the intent of the Replacement District Plan should be to 10 

ensure that the final land use activities that are undertaken on the 

rehabilitated area do not pose risks to the aquifer system long term and 

that land use remains viable, in other words that groundwater does not 

end up so close to the surface that it rules out a number of land use or 

crop alternatives in the long term.   15 

 

 A one metre buffer above the highest recorded groundwater in my view 

is sufficient buffer to allow most appropriate land uses to be undertaken 

following appropriate rehabilitation. 

 20 

 If a quarry wants to excavate closer than one metre to groundwater, 

then I consider the risks to the aquifers from that activity are an 

Environment Canterbury issue and consent is required, and that the 

applicant would have to address the risks to the aquifer during that 

consent process.   25 

 

  [12.45 pm] 

 

 In these circumstances, in my view, the key issue for the City Council 

would be the depth and composition of appropriate backfill material 30 

that would need to be replaced, so that rehabilitation and the long term 

land use can safely take place. 

 

 Rehabilitation plans are an important part of the quarrying process, 

these need to be provided at concept stage for new quarries and as soon 35 

as practicably possible within two years for existing quarries.  And I 

believe these rehabilitation plans need to be certified by Council and be 

active documents that can be modified based on backfill and topsoil 

material available at time of closure, and what this means to the 

selection of final land use. 40 

 

 When quarrying operations end quarry sites generally have been 

deprived of their topsoil, vegetation is scarce and sites tend to become 

sterile and are heavily prone to erosion.  In order to undertake 

rehabilitation the most prudent approach consists of reinstalling the 45 
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topsoil that was removed and stockpiled, and the very first step of that 

quarrying operation.   

 

 The reinstallation of topsoil of existing quarries generally happens after 

some backfilling with clean fill.  The depth of clean fill, or its nature, 5 

can be very variable and mostly depends on the procedures 

implemented by quarry operators and the availability of such 

reclamation material. 

 

 Reinstallation of topsoil is the most important prerequisite for any post-10 

quarry land use.  However, reinstalling the topsoil in certain backfill 

material does not guarantee that the original fertility or former 

environment will have been restored.  Topsoil that has been stockpiled 

for too long is prone to lose its original structure, its microflora and 

microfauna, and some of its nutrients may have leached. 15 

 

 In my opinion rehabilitation plans need to outline the depth and quality 

of topsoil to be replaced, including factors such as how long topsoil is 

stored in bunds, state their required depth of unsaturated material and 

this can be either non-excavated material or fill material between the 20 

topsoil layer and groundwater, and manage the use of building 

demolition material and other clean fill to ensure it is not over-crushed 

or over-compacted. 

 

 Thank you. 25 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   Yes, one question only.  Relates to literally paragraph 3.1 of your 

executive summary.  Environment Canterbury or Canterbury Regional 30 

Council and CRC now seem to be in duplication of their functions.  Is 

it appropriate for CCC to be imposing a rule which literally follows that 

of the rules of ECan in their LWRP? 

 

MR POTTS:   Could be a question for a planner. 35 

 

MR NEILL:   You are a hydrologist, so from your perspective? 

 

MR POTTS:   Well from my perspective I am looking at it from a long term 

point of view rather than excavation during quarrying, which from 40 

looking at the ECan rules they are primarily looking at protection of the 

aquifer during those activities, such as refuelling, truck washing and 

other activities that may pose a risk to the aquifer, so they are wanting 

to leave a one metre buffer there. 

 45 
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 I am looking at it from a final land use point of view, so that if you end 

up with some sort of light farming activity that the risk to the aquifer is 

not there, and also that the water level is not so close to the surface that 

the roots end up dying and you end up with a sticky quagmire of a 

mess.  So I am certainly approaching it from a different perspective.   5 

 

 And so from that point of view there can be rules in both plans to cover 

the different activities.  

 

MR NEILL:   I will pursue that with others in due course.  Thank you.   10 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you Mr Potts.  Look the last three points you made in 

your summary where you set out some matters you believe should be in 15 

a rehabilitation plan, are you familiar the provisions for rehabilitation 

plans in the proposal? 

 

MR POTTS:   I have read them, I am not an expert. 

 20 

MR WILLIS:   No, I guess my question, and I will put it perhaps to other 

witnesses anyway, but my question was are you comfortable that the 

way that the site rehabilitation plan is characterised and defined in here 

encompasses the matters that you regard as important as you listed one 

to three there? 25 

 

MR POTTS:   Most of them are there; I think because I have said that the 

rehabilitation plan should be a living document and they need to 

certified, that it will be a bit of a progression as the quarry owners get 

used to putting these plans together and they are approved or certified 30 

by Council that all the matters get covered, but the matters are mostly 

there.  I mean, I am being a little bit more pedantic regarding 

infiltration rates of the crushed material that might go back in, and they 

probably, once again I don’t want to get into the planning side of 

things, probably getting too detailed for a district plan type scenario.   35 

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  But would I be correct in saying that your advice in 

evidence would be that you would want the provisions of the 40 

rehabilitation plan proposal in here to be sufficiently broad and capable 

of interpretation to include the matters that you have articulated here? 

 

MR POTTS:  Yes, I do.   

 45 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  Thank you.   
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SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Potts.  No, I don’t have any questions – 

Mr Willis asked exactly the same question I was going to ask.   5 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising, Ms Ash? 

 

MS ASH:   No, sir.   

 10 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Potts, you may stand down and you may be excused.   

 

MR POTTS:   Thank you.   

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.50 pm] 15 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Ash? 

 

MS ASH:   I now call Dr Helen Rutter. 

 20 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH  [12.51 pm] 

 

MS ASH:   Dr Rutter, is your full name Helen Catherine Rutter? 

 

DR RUTTER:   Yes, that is right. 5 

 

MS ASH:   Do you have the experience and qualifications outlined in your 

evidence-in-chief, at paragraph 1.2? 

 

DR RUTTER:   Yes. 10 

 

MS ASH:   Do you please confirm that the material that is in your evidence-in-

chief and your rebuttal is true and correct? 

 

DR RUTTER:   I do.   15 

 

MS ASH:   And that includes any corrections, and would you please - - -  

 

DR RUTTER:   Yes.  So yes, I just wanted to state a couple of corrections to 

my rebuttal evidence.   20 

 

MS ASH:   And perhaps if you can do that before you begin your outline? 

 

DR RUTTER:   Yes.  Okay.  In paragraph 3.17 of my rebuttal I stated that “I 

interpret that the highest groundwater level - - -  25 

 

SJH:   I am sorry, 3.17 of rebuttal? 

 

DR RUTTER:   3.17, yes.  I stated that; “the highest groundwater level in terms 

of depth to water table M351110 was 12.35 metres below ground level” 30 

rather than 17.09 to 18.29 metres, as stated in Mr Douglas’ evidence.   

 

 And the depths to groundwater I interpreted from Mr Douglas’ 

evidence should have been 11.02 to 12.22 metres below ground level.  I 

used an incorrect wellhead elevation which then translated to the wrong 35 

depths to water for the well.   

 

 My conclusions is that there were uncertainties that can arise from 

attempting to determine a high ground water level are no changed.  

And another example of this uncertainty is actually given in 7.4 of my 40 

evidence-in-chief.   

 

 The second correction is in paragraph 3.26 of my rebuttal.  I stated that 

“34 out of 54 wells had a maximum groundwater level reading that was 

outside of the July to August period”.  This was a typo and should have 45 

stated “June to August” as given in the LWRP definition of the 
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seasonal high groundwater table.  This has no effect on my conclusion 

that using this timing tool will result in under-interpretation of the 

highest groundwater level.   

 

 So those are the two corrections.   5 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  If you go on with your summary then please. 

 

DR RUTTER:   Yes, okay.  My summary.  I have been asked to provide an 

opinion as to the potential risks of quarrying close to groundwater. 10 

 

 The Christchurch city groundwater supply relies on high quality 

groundwater from the aquifers under the city.  The water is pumped 

into supply with no treatment, a highly prized asset for both the 

Council and the residents of Christchurch.  There are few other cities in 15 

the developed world that have the opportunity to receive untreated 

groundwater.   

 

 Simple treatment of groundwater – that is disinfection – is not 

necessarily costly, however, if more complex treatment is required this 20 

can become very expensive because of the distributed nature of the 

reticulation system.  Conversely, a benefit of this distributed nature is 

that it might also be possible to mix waters if needed.   

 

 Whilst the aquifers under the city itself are protected from potential 25 

contamination from above due to the upward groundwater pressure and 

the presence of confining layers, this protection only extends to the 

western parts of the city.  Figure 2 of my evidence-in-chief shows the 

extent to which there is an upper confining layer and an upward 

pressure gradient.  Activities to the west of these lines potentially could 30 

have an impact on groundwater quality as recharge can move down and 

into the aquifer system.   

 

  [12.55 pm] 

 35 

 Once in the groundwater system, movement of solutes within the 

aquifers can be very rapid, with transport of tens of metres per day 

being suggested from previous research.  The fact that the majority of 

the flow is through a very small percentage of sediments also means 

that monitoring may not necessarily pick up potential contaminants.   40 

 

 Contrary to popular belief, the aquifers used for the drinking water 

supply are not only the deep aquifers which are expected to have high 

groundwater quality due to the long flow pass, but the upper Riccarton 

gravels are also used.  Some of the wells in this upper aquifer already 45 
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show impact from land use activities, with some elevated nitrate 

concentrations.   

 

 Wells are gradually being put in place to replace these shallow sources, 

however my current understanding is that more than 20 percent of the 5 

public supply is still from the upper Riccarton gravels.   

 

 Quarrying and then, when quarrying ceases, clean filling the resulting 

excavation, does pose threats to groundwater quality from spills, 

disposal of stormwater and wash water, leaching from fill, and the 10 

potential for groundwater to inundate the quarry floor, and from post 

quarrying land use.   

 

 Whilst the risks from any individual quarry may be considered to be 

relatively low, any risk needs to be balanced against the potential 15 

hazards to the city water supply and the combined risks from many 

quarries, increased the hazard.   

 

 If the estimated depth to groundwater is optimistic and underestimates 

the maximum height off groundwater, reducing separation distances, 20 

landfill may end up being saturated and then there is the potential for 

leachable material to enter the groundwater.   

 

 The derivation of maximum groundwater level, which is used to define 

the one metre separation, may be uncertain as shallow wells with a long 25 

record of water levels are rarely available close to the site, and the 

interpretation of highest groundwater level may be quite subjective.  

 

 In addition, my opinion is that the new ECan definition of high 

seasonal groundwater level may exclude the actual highest levels in 30 

many cases, particularly where, as I have said, these can occur outside 

of the June to August period using the definition.  And this is discussed 

in my rebuttal evidence.   

 

 Because of the uncertainty in defining maximum groundwater level, a 35 

degree of conservatism is often required.  Whilst applications use 

available data and model contours to attempt to assess the likely 

maximum, actual depths to groundwater may be found to be quite 

different.  It is not unusual to find inconsistencies between the 

predicted water levels and measured water levels.   40 

 

 In my view, the proposed rule requiring the one metre separation 

between the base of the excavation and groundwater provides 

additional time to clean up any spills, it provides additional capacity of 

the soils in a saturated zone to attenuate some contaminants, and it 45 

reduces the possibly that any fill used post-quarrying may be 
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inundated.  It also provides a safety net in terms of the possible areas 

inaccurately interpreted in the highest groundwater level.   

 

 In conclusion, for such an irreplaceable water source, it is better to 

protect the water quality rather than try to mitigate the impacts of 5 

contamination later, and therefore it makes sense to ensure a 

conservative approach to management of activities in the new zone 

takes place. 

 

 Accordingly, the allowance of a one metre free border with highest 10 

groundwater should both provide a safety margin to allow for the 

uncertainty in interpretation of highest groundwater level, and reduce 

the possibilities of contaminants entering the groundwater system.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Limmer? 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.   

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [12.58 pm] 

 20 

MS LIMMER:   Dr Rutter, just a few questions.  You have said in your rebuttal 

evidence that land use activities within the recharge zone have the 

potential to affect the drinking water recourse.  What of those land use 

activities does this plan propose to regulate for groundwater quality? 

 25 

DR RUTTER:   “This plan”, as in the District Plan? 

 

MS LIMMER:   The District Plan. 

 

DR RUTTER:   I am not sure.   30 

 

MS LIMMER:   So you have mentioned the clean fill guidelines as being only 

guidelines, but do you agree that the Land and Water Plan is such that 

very little fill of any nature could happen without consent? 

 35 

DR RUTTER:   Yes, it would have required consent.   

 

MS LIMMER:   And once it is consented that consent effectively regulates 

what can go in, doesn’t it? 

 40 

DR RUTTER:   Yes, that is true.   

 

MS LIMMER:   From your interactions with the Regional Council, about how 

many staff do you think there are in the groundwater team? 

 45 

DR RUTTER:   I am not exactly sure.  I would guess probably about a dozen. 
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MS LIMMER:   And how many in the City Council’s groundwater team? 

 

DR RUTTER:   I am not aware that the city has a groundwater team.   

 5 

MS LIMMER:   No further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   I wish to pursue that.  What discussions have you had with 10 

Environment Canterbury, CRC, in respect to this suggested rule? 

 

DR RUTTER:   With respect to the definition of highest groundwater level?  I 

haven’t. 

 15 

  [1.00 pm] 

 

MR NEILL:   What discussions have you had with them regarding the, what I 

suppose we would call duplication of functions? 

 20 

DR RUTTER:   I have not talked with them about that either.  I was brought 

into this fairly late on, so as I have said in my rebuttal I was asked to 

come and provide evidence fairly late on the proceedings. 

 

MR NEILL:   Well as a person that is a specialist in the area; do you not 25 

believe that this is more appropriate for Environment Canterbury CRC 

to be involved in, rather than the City having a new department in 

which it is overseeing what Canterbury Regional Council is already 

doing? 

 30 

DR RUTTER:   Certainly Environment Canterbury have the overriding – what 

is the right word? – responsibility for protecting the groundwater.   

 

 However, I am concerned from looking at the number of wells that 

have the highest groundwater period outside of that June to August 35 

period, that they may not be catching all the highest groundwater 

levels. 

 

MR NEILL:   So are you suggesting that CCC would be better equipped to 

capture this information without any staff, rather than Environment 40 

Canterbury? 

 

DR RUTTER:   I do not think it would do any harm for a second set of eyes to 

be looking at it.  I keep coming back to the fact that we have and 

untreated potable water supply here and to me there should be a great 45 

deal of focus on protecting that. 
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MR NEILL:   Are you aware of any situations where the quarrying industry has 

been responsible for contamination of Christchurch City ground water, 

for drinking water purposes? 

 5 

DR RUTTER:   There are various circumstances that Hayward (ph 1.53) 

reported in 2002 which is in my rebuttal of incidences of pollution, and 

admittedly a lot of those are probably down to levels of landfilling 

activities, but there is not sufficient evidence in Hayward to actually 

say whether or any of those were caused by clean-fill. 10 

 

 And on top of that there are various pieces of evidence that suggest 

changes in ground water quality, usually not to make it non-potable but 

certainly there are impacts from clean-filling sometimes on water 

quality. 15 

 

MR NEILL:  Have you had any discussions with Shirley Hayward or 

Mr Hansen regarding the reports that they have written on groundwater 

contamination? 

 20 

DR RUTTER:   No, I have not had opportunity other than I have obtained 

those reports and gone through them. 

 

MR NEILL:   So you can give no specific reason why there is a need for 

duplication of functions currently carried out by CRC and suggested to 25 

be carried out by CCC? 

 

DR RUTTER:   Other than as I said I think the two definitions of house 

groundwater level are not actually identical. 

 30 

MR NEILL:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you, Ms Rutter.  Mr Neill asked one of the questions I 35 

was going to ask you, but I do have another that I would seek your 

advice on.  On page 8 of your evidence-in-chief you list a range of risks 

as you see it to contaminants escaping to the aquifer. 

 

 I took it from your response to Mr Neill that you do not have evidence 40 

of that actually having happened in the past in terms of the spills and 

the other matters you refer to there as actually having happened or 

caused a particular risk to the aquifer? 

 

DR RUTTER:   No, I have not observed any of those but they are accepted as 45 

being potential contamination issues. 
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MR WILLIS:   Sure, yes, okay.  And would you be in a position to know how 

easy it would be to address those risks through a standard resource 

consent, as oppose to going to a non-complying consent situation? 

 5 

 It would appear to me that a number of those could be addressed, the 

risks could be reduced by controls on how and where vehicles are 

refuelled for example, and those sorts of matters? 

 

DR RUTTER:   Yes, yes. 10 

 

MR WILLIS:   Are those matters you have considered in terms of deciding 

how significant these risks are? 

 

DR RUTTER:   Yes, and I accept a lot of those, well most of those are actually 15 

covered under concept conditions.  But my list was trying to just assess 

all the possibilities to groundwater from quarrying operations. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay thank you.  No, and the other matter I think about 

seasonal water has been resolved so thank you, that is fine. 20 

 

  [1.05 pm] 

 

DR RUTTER:   Thank you. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you Dr Rutter.  You have said you can see no harm in 

having a second set of eyes on this issue.  But have you turned your 

mind, or do you think there are any potential difficulties or risks in 30 

having two separate organisations considering an issue and consents for 

the same matter on the same issue? 

 

DR RUTTER:   In my opinion I cannot see any real concerns with it, though I 

would imagine if the two organisations came up with different results 35 

then there would be some conversation between the two officers and 

indeed to me, provides some additional security, that you are not going 

to go beyond that one metre buffer. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So can you see any difficulty from an operator’s point of 40 

view of the potential for two consents with different conditions on 

them, given that they are quite separate organisations and they have to 

come to their decisions separately? 
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DR RUTTER:   Ultimately I guess it would boil down to the quarry operators 

having to adhere to the more stringent, more conservative conditions.  I 

am not really sure if that creates a difficulty. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Do you think that is efficient? 5 

 

DR RUTTER:   In an ideal world, no, but I do think that having an additional 

set of eyes like I said provides additional security against going beyond 

that one metre, and as I said earlier, the one metre rule is slightly 

different now between ECan and the City Council rules. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, thank you very much.  No more questions. 

 

SJH:   Dr Rutter, have you read the Order in Council on the Statement of 

Expectations? 15 

 

DR RUTTER:   Sorry, what was that? 

 

SJH:   The Order in Council that set up this Panel and the Statement of 

Expectations of this Panel. 20 

 

DR RUTTER:   I think I flicked through it. 

 

SJH:   Have you read it and can you answer questions on it? 

 25 

DR RUTTER:   I doubt I could answer questions on it, no. 

 

SJH:   You could? 

 

DR RUTTER:   No. 30 

 

SJH:  You couldn’t?  All right, well I cannot put the questions to you.  

Ms Limmer, anything arising? 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   Ms Ash? 

 

MS ASH:   No, sir. 

 40 

SJH:   Thank you, Dr Rutter.  You may stand down. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.07 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Ash. 45 
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MS ASH:   Sir, we call now Mr John Cook. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Is it fair to say this is the counsellor’s witness? 

 

MS ASH:   Yes, sir.  As was Ms Rutter, Dr Rutter. 5 

 

SJH:   Yes. 
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<JOHN EDWARD COOK, affirmed [1.07 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [1.08 pm] 

 

MS ASH:   Mr Cook, is your name John Edward Cook? 

 

MR COOK:   Yes, it is. 5 

 

MS ASH:   And do you have the experience and qualifications outlined in the 

introduction to your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MR COOK:   I do. 10 

 

MS ASH:   Can you please confirm to the Panel that the evidence that you are 

going to present in terms of your evidence-in-chief and your rebuttal is 

true and correct? 

 15 

MR COOK:   Yes, it is both true and correct. 

 

MS ASH:   Would you please answer any questions once you have presented 

your outline to the Panel. 

 20 

MR COOK:  Thank you.  The scope of my evidence is limited to the 

undertaking of quarrying, and then only in the context of the following 

specific situations. 

 

 The first, where the depth of excavation is to be undertaken down to 25 

depth of groundwater, at least or less than one metre above it, and need 

to mandatory public notification being such ground use consent 

application.  This applies to the Rural Quarry zone, Rural Waimakariri 

zone and Rural Urban Fringe zone. 

 30 

 The second matter is the appropriateness of including rules within the 

proposed plan that pertain to the protection of groundwater given the 

existing provisions in the LURP that have recently become operative.  

 

 And thirdly and finally, undertaking of quarrying within 500 metres of 35 

the Residential zone and need for any such land use consent application 

to also be subject to mandatory public notification. 

 

 So my evidence is in support of these provisions contained in the 

proposed plan as notified. 40 

 

 On the matters of the groundwater considerations I am of the opinion 

that due to the high reliance and value that the residents of Christchurch 

place on its artesian water supply it is appropriate for any proposal to 

quarry to less than one metre above groundwater level to be assessed as 45 
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a non-complying activity and for any such application to be subject to 

mandatory public notification. 

 

  [1.10 pm] 

 5 

 I believe that the implications of any contamination to groundwater to 

the City could be very significant. 

 

 While I accept that the requirements for consent and for mandatory 

public notification will give rise to increased processing costs, they 10 

would in all likelihood be insignificant compared to the costs that the 

wider Christchurch public would bear should a contamination scenario 

arise as a result of a quarrying undertaken to a greater depth, relative to 

that of groundwater, than what has been permitted to date. 

 15 

 In essence, I am of the belief that the stance of what I would term 

prudent avoidance should be taken to protect Christchurch’s precious 

water supply for an undertaking of quarrying to a greater depth. 

 

 I acknowledge the existing groundwater protection rules in the LURP 20 

and that any non-compliance with them requires approval as a 

restricted discretionary activity. 

 

 I am however of the opinion that those matters of discretion are 

somewhat limited and do not fully take into account the high values 25 

placed by Christchurch residents on this important natural resource.  

Proposed non-complying activity status and groundwater protection 

measures to be included in the proposed plan as a further means to 

acknowledge this. 

 30 

 Just to progress to the second matter in terms of the undertaking of 

quarrying within five metres of a Residential zone, I support the 

notified proposal’s requirement and mandatory public notification for 

any quarrying activity that is to be undertaken within the Rural 

Waimakariri zone and the Rural Urban Fringe zone where this is to 35 

occur within five metres of a Residential zone. 

 

 Given the relatively high numbers of people that reside in an Urban 

Residential zone, and given the range of potential adverse effects that 

may arise from undertaking of quarrying, I believe that it is appropriate 40 

that mandatory public notification be imposed in separation distances 

less than 500 metres.   

 

 Furthermore, I believe the fundamental principle of the RMA is being 

the ability for people to become easily involved in resource 45 

management matters.  This principle should particularly be allowed to 
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be given effect when quarrying is proposed to be undertaken in 

relatively close proximity to residential areas, and given the range of 

potential adverse environmental effects that may arise when 

undertaking quarrying in proximity to Residential zones. 

 5 

 That is the end of my statement, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Radich? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [1.13 pm] 10 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir.  Mr Cook, I want to talk to you first about the 

public notification matters you were speaking of last.  Just to help the 

Panel understand where they are, have you got a copy of the latest 

version of the proposal in front of you?  This is the 6 November 2015 15 

version? 

 

MR COOK:   No, I do not. 

 

MR RADICH:   You do not have that.  I wonder if one could be provided. 20 

 

SJH:   Well we can bring it up if you give us the particular - - -  

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you very much.  Page 34, this is 17.3.2.4D3, page 34.   

 25 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you, now if you just scroll down the place a little 

bit please, do you see the portion with the yellow highlighter there.  So 

this is a discretionary activity, it is the Rural Urban Fringe zone, 30 

Mr Cook, and that is one of the provisions is it not, where there has 

been the removal that you are objecting to?  That is right, is it not? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 35 

MR RADICH:   Yes, and just if we could go now to the next page please of 

page 35 – and you will see under NC, that page 36, NC4, just down one 

page – there is also the removal there, is there not, in the second 

highlighted portion and that is the point you are objecting to also, is it 

not? 40 

 

MR COOK:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   All right, and to be clear then, if we take another example just 

to frame ourselves, on that same page in NC4, the first of the yellow 45 

highlighted struck-through provisions, that is the other aspect of your 
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objection, is it not, the enablement to or the ability to assess for the one 

metre distance.  So you are objecting to the removal of that provision 

there are you not? 

 

  [1.15 pm] 5 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   All right. So dealing with a notification first of all, you would 

accept of course, would you not, that a consent authority has under the 10 

RMA a discretion as to whether or not to publicly notify a provision, an 

activity? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 15 

MR RADICH:   And that is in section 95A? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   And you know that a Council must, it must notify if it is of the 20 

view that the activity is likely to have adverse effects that are more than 

minor?  That is right, is it not? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 25 

MR RADICH:   And there is a considerable body of case law on that provision 

is there not? 

 

MR COOK:   I will take your word for that, sir. 

 30 

MR RADICH:   All right. 

 

MR COOK:   I mean I am not a lawyer, sir. 

 

MR RADICH:   And the idea is to focus, is it not, in that provision, on effects 35 

that may affect the public or the environment generally? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   And effects will vary, will they not?  They will vary generally 40 

speaking but having a quarry in mind, in terms of location, will they 

not?  And size and scale of an activity? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct, assess those sorts of matters, yes. 

 45 
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MR RADICH:   Nature of the surrounding land and where people live in 

relation to it, for example.  These are all things that vary on a case by 

case basis, are they not? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   You have accepted, I think, that mandatory notification across 

the board would increase costs, have you not? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct, it would be anticipated. 10 

 

MR RADICH:   Create significant, in some cases, delays? 

 

MR COOK:   That may well be a consequence. 

 15 

MR RADICH:   For applicants and for the community at large, would it not? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   A blanket requirement, I put it to you, is shuttered thinking in 20 

terms of the variations that occur from activity to activity.  Do you 

agree with that? 

 

MR COOK:   We are talking about at the margins here in terms of the 

proximity of a Residential zone.  So because you are operating on the 25 

margins in terms of the overall Rural zones, the Rural Waimakariri and 

Rural Urban Fringe zone, there should be recognition of that. 

 

MR RADICH:   Have you read the Strategic Directions decision of the Panel, 

Mr Cook? 30 

 

MR COOK:   I have read the Strategic Directions objectives. 

 

MR RADICH:  You are aware, are you not, therefore, that the Panel must 

through this process minimise transaction costs, were you aware of 35 

that? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   And minimise prescriptiveness? 40 

 

MR COOK:   As a general concept, yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Minimise the requirements – and I am reading from 

3.3.2A(iii), “Minimise the requirements for notification or written 45 

approval”, you are aware of that provision? 
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MR COOK:   As a general concept, yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   If your view was to prevail, the antithesis of those provisions 

would be created, would it not? 5 

 

MR COOK:   I think it would be seen in the context or situation that we are 

referring to here, in terms of undertaking of quarrying within relatively 

close proximity to Residential zones. 

 10 

MR RADICH:   The evidence of the Council planner is at odds with yours, is it 

not, and that is why you are giving evidence, Mr Cook? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 15 

MR RADICH:  And her evidence if I can put it, this is Ms Radburnd’s 

evidence at paragraph 10.89, I will just read you a little bit of it.   

 

 “Not all quarry proposals are the same.  Some involve small-scale 

operations, others large-scale.”  And her view is that to publicly notify 20 

as an as yet unknown quarrying activity would be predetermining 

matters.  You would agree with her to that point would you not, that 

there is variation and predetermination in a blanket rule? 

 

MR COOK:   There is certainly variation in quarry applications.  I would not 25 

go as far as to say it is pre-determination though. 

 

MR RADICH:  All right.  Looking at the ability of authorities to regulate 

groundwater protection, now if I can look please at the proposal, again 

now to page 80 of the proposed. 30 

 

 Yes, and the portions in yellow there are also portions at which you are 

at odds with the Council planning evidence, that is right, isn’t it? 

 

  [1.20 pm] 35 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   And the excavation there to a depth of no greater than one 

metre is seen to be permitted and this is of course in the Rural Quarry 40 

zone, isn’t it, just in that zone, that is right, isn’t it, this provision? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   And restricted discretionary for more than a metre and your 45 

position is that non-compliance with the permitted status should render 
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it non-complying rather than restricted discretionary, that is right, isn’t 

it? 

 

MR COOK:   That is correct, yes. 

 5 

MR RADICH:   And you would seek the reinstatement of provisions in other 

zones of a similar provision, would you not? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct, so there is a standard approach to the groundwater level 

matters across all the applicable rural zones. 10 

 

MR RADICH:   But the reality is of course, as you have heard if you have been 

in the room, that this is a matter that is covered directly by the 

Canterbury Land and Water Regional Plan, is it not? 

 15 

MR COOK:   As a restricted discretionary activity it does limit discretion to 

those matters contained within those rules within the LWRP. 

 

MR RADICH:   Just to be clear, you have given evidence yourself, haven’t 

you, that rule 5.1.7.5 of the Canterbury Land and Water Regional Plan 20 

provides expressly that the use of land to excavate material is permitted 

provided that there is more than a one metre undisturbed distance 

between the deepest part of excavation and aquifer 1, as described 

there, and that it is restricted discretionary beyond that, that is the case, 

is it not? 25 

 

MR COOK:   I thought it was subsection 2 of that rule, sir. 

 

MR RADICH:   It is probably not available to the Secretariat but I have in my 

hand rule 5.1.7.5 and rule 5.1.7.6.  The former creates a permitted 30 

activity provided there is the one metre distance.  The latter provides it 

as a restricted discretionary activity if it does not comply.  That is the 

case, isn’t it, that is your understanding? 

 

MR COOK:   These rules I have outlined in my evidence-in-chief on page 4. 35 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, well, they are the rules, are they not, are you agreeing 

with me in terms of the way in which I am putting it?  There you are, 

you have got them there, yes, 5.3 of your evidence, 5.1.7.5, 5.1.7.6? 

 40 

MR COOK:   Sorry, what was the question again, about was it - - - 

 

MR RADICH:   Well, these are the very matters that you are seeking to have 

further regulated in this district plan, are they not? 

 45 

MR COOK:   In particular rule 5.1.7.6. 
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MR RADICH:   If you look at the table on page 80, that is more or less the 

same thing as rule 5.1.7.5 in the regional document, is it not?  It is 

covering the same area? 

 5 

MR COOK:   But I believe with restricted discretionary activity, there is 

restricted discretion as per those particular matters. 

 

SJH:   You have really got to answer the question, Mr Cook, not something 

slightly different. 10 

 

MR RADICH:   The provision in the plan we were looking at starts with 

permitted for the one metre gap and then defaults to restricted 

discretionary, does it not? 

 15 

MR COOK:   Can the rule come up on the screen again please? 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, if that could go back to page 80 please.  That rule there 

you will see permitted, if the depth is no greater than a metre, you will 

see that, and then restricted discretionary is now the status for anything 20 

more than that, do you agree with that? 

 

MR COOK:   That is the revised proposal, correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   And if you look back at your evidence on 5.1.7.5 and 5.1.7.6 25 

of the Canterbury Land and Water Regional Plan it covers the same 

territory altogether, does it not? 

 

  [1.25 pm] 

 30 

MR COOK:   What came up in the earlier screen did not specify what those 

matters of discretion were as opposed - - - 

 

MR RADICH:   I see. 

 35 

MR COOK:   As opposed to rule 5.1.7.6. 

 

MR RADICH:   The subject matter is covered and the activity status is 

covered, is it not? 

 40 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   All right.  Again, looking at the statement of expectations, it 

cannot possibly be reducing prescriptiveness and transaction costs, can 

it, to double up on a rule that is already there in a regional plan? 45 
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MR COOK:   I believe this is a unique situation in terms of I believe one of the 

most valued resources that people of Christchurch cherish and I think 

there should be recognition given to it and therefore the suitability for 

equivalent rules – well, similar rules to apply also in the proposed plan. 

 5 

MR RADICH:   So – and no one would dispute the utter importance of this 

resource – but do you say because it is important we need two bodies 

regulating it, that is your evidence, is it not? 

 

MR COOK:   Two bodies but they come from different directions and for non-10 

complying activity status it does give a wider ambit of matters of 

consideration in terms of the proposed plan which is not available via 

the LWRP. 

 

MR RADICH:   Well, I think in your evidence you call it, I am looking at 5.2.2 15 

of your evidence, dual guardianship, that is a phrase you have used, is it 

not? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 20 

MR RADICH:   Again I put it to you, is that not the antithesis of the objective 

of this Panel to reduce prescriptiveness, to get things down to the 

lowest level possible in terms of regulation, it is the antithesis of that, is 

it not? 

 25 

MR COOK:   As a general matter, yes, but I believe given the importance and 

the reliance of Christchurch on its artesian water supplies I think that is 

an overriding factor, that in this case should be taken into account in 

terms of the proposed plan. 

 30 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Limmer? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [1.27 pm] 35 

 

MS LIMMER:  Thank you, sir.  Mr Cook, does the plan propose mandatory 

notification for any activities other than quarrying? 

 

MR COOK:   Not that I am – I am not sure. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:  And does the plan seek to regulate other land use activities for 

their potential effects on groundwater other than quarrying? 

 

MR COOK:   I am not aware of any others. 45 
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MS LIMMER:   In preparing your evidence on how important groundwater 

quality is to the City Council did you look at its submission on the 

Land and Water Plan that is still available on ECan’s website? 

 

MR COOK:   No, I did not. 5 

 

MS LIMMER:   So have you asked or otherwise been made aware that despite 

filing an extensive submission the City Council did not submit on this 

activity or the status or the definition for the one metre buffer? 

 10 

MR COOK:   I took into account the two rules, already quoted on their face 

value - - - 

 

MS LIMMER:   But I am asking - - - 

 15 

SJH:   No, that is not the question, Mr Cook.  Put it again please, Ms Limmer. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Certainly, sir.  Were you made aware, or have you asked about 

whether the City Council, in the preparation of the Land and Water 

Plan sought non-complying status or sought to change the definition of 20 

seasonal groundwater level? 

 

MR COOK:   No, I did not, not on either account. 

 

MS LIMMER:   The concept of dual guardianship that you have put forward – 25 

I take it you are familiar with the Land and Water Plan? 

 

MR COOK:   These two rules, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   The rest of it? 30 

 

MR COOK:   It is a very extensive document so, no, I am not aware of it in its 

entirety. 

 

MS LIMMER:   All right.  Well, perhaps if I just read you a couple of 35 

passages.  

 

 So in the Land and Water Plan at page 21 it recognises the potential for 

overlapping functions in relation to effects of land uses on waterbodies.  

And then it says, “Working together the Regional Council and 40 

territorial authorities can most effectively manage the interface of land 

uses and freshwater resources”.  Has the City Council raised its 

concerns in respect of this rule with Environment Canterbury? 

 

MR COOK:   No, not that I am aware of. 45 
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MS LIMMER:   Do you agree with the Land and Water Plan that it is most 

effective to work together? 

 

  [1.30 pm] 

 5 

MR COOK:   In terms of administering such a rule? 

 

MS LIMMER:   In terms of the issue of the interfacing land uses and 

freshwater resources. 

 10 

MR COOK:   Sure, there will be benefits arising from it. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Again in the LWRP – sorry, the Land Water Plan, page 26, it 

says: “Close cooperation is needed between the Regional Council and 

District Councils in relation to the respective plans, to ensure 15 

complimentary approaches that avoid duplication”.  Is the approach 

you favour a complimentary approach which avoids duplication? 

 

MR COOK:   By the proposed plan assessing this groundwater issue as a non-

compliant activity; it can take in a wider array of issues and are limited 20 

in terms of the restricted discretionary activity as contained in a LWRP. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sorry, Mr Cook, what I ask you about is this plan says that 

close cooperation is needed to ensure complimentary approaches that 

avoid duplication.  Is it your evidence that this is not duplication? 25 

 

MR COOK:   There will be degree of duplication, but then there is also a wider 

range of matters that can be assessed under the ambit of non-complying 

activity. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, and those matters do not relate to groundwater quality 

though do they? 

 

MR COOK:   The Land Water Regional Plan deals with groundwater in a very 

much sort of scientific, environmental perspective.  Whereas there may 35 

well be cultural issues, a wider acceptance of public acceptance of a 

security of fresh clean water supply. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So, Mr Cook, the matters of discretion are, include the actual 

and potential adverse environmental effects on quality of water, that is 40 

a matter of discretion, so that can be a reason to turn the application 

down, can’t it? 

 

MR COOK:   Are you referring now to rule 175 and - - -  

 45 

MS LIMMER:   I am referring to the Land Water Plan rule. 
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MR COOK:   Yes, sure. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, and actual and potential effects, include cultural effects 

do they not? 5 

 

MR COOK:   Cultural effects will be a component of it. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So your non-complying status would allow a whole bunch of 

other effects to be brought into play other than groundwater quality, 10 

wouldn’t it? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 

MS LIMMER:   You pointed out the Land Water Plan contains a specific 15 

groundwater protection zone for Christchurch, you agree that would be 

relevant to any application under the Land and Water Plan rules, in fact 

there is a zone that you say reinforces the importance of this resource? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct, yes. 20 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you would also be familiar then with the objectives, the 

high quality freshwater is available to meet community drinking water 

needs? 

 25 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And the policy that specifically requires protection of sources 

of drinking water, those would be relevant on an application under the 

Land and Water Plan wouldn’t they? 30 

 

MR COOK:   Correct, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Do the land and water provisions exclude notification at all? 

 35 

MR COOK:   I understand for these particular, rules they are silent on the 

matter of notification. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  So the “additional set of eyes”, that Dr Rutter has spoken 

about could be brought to bear through notification, couldn’t it? 40 

 

MR COOK:   You referring now to the regional rules? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Under the Land and Water Plan and additional set advice for 

the City Council could be brought to bear through notification, couldn’t 45 

it? 
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MR COOK:   Potential is there, correct. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Potential outcome of your approach is approval by one 

authority and decline of consent by another; do you think that fosters 5 

investment certainty? 

 

  [1.35 pm] 

 

MR COOK:   Probably not. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   And another potential outcome of your favoured approach is 

an application could be declined for reasons for example of noise, do 

you think that fosters investment certainty? 

 15 

MR COOK:   I can’t see how groundwater depth brings noise into this 

particular issue. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Or do you think a non-complying activity can have regard to 

any effect? 20 

 

MR COOK:   It has got to be relative to the topic. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So you think non-complying status can be compliant to the 

reason for the breach of the rule? What did you rely on for that 25 

opinion?  Isn’t that the very point of a restricted discretionary activity? 

 

MR COOK:   But by its various nature, it is restricted discretionary to that 

effect. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   That is right, so the matters that you can have regard to are 

restricted, aren’t they, whereas on a non-complying activity they are 

not? 

 

MR COOK:   But then that will – under the non-complying activity there is 35 

then the potential to assess relevant matters that may well be beyond 

the ambit of those specified as a restricted discretionary activity. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And wasn’t that my question, Mr Cook, exactly, is that a 

potential outcome is that an application under this rule could be 40 

declined for completely unrelated matter, do you think that fosters 

investment certainty? 

 

SJH:   Please answer. 

 45 

MR COOK:   Yes, I am just trying to think – I am not sure. 
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SJH:   You have made the point, Ms Limmer. 

 

MR COOK:   Yes. 

 5 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir, I will leave it there. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you.  Mr Cook, I take it you are appearing on behalf of 10 

the Christchurch City Council elected members, as an expert today? 

 

MR COOK:   That is correct, sir. 

 

MR NEILL:   Can you indicate to me the difference between the constituents 15 

of Christchurch that are represented by the CCC and the constituents of 

Christchurch who were and are to be in the future, represented by 

elected members from Canterbury Regional Council? 

 

MR COOK:   The constituents within the Christchurch City area I suppose is a 20 

subset of the wider regional population. 

 

MR NEILL:   But is there any difference as to whether their elected 

representatives represent a regional authority or a city council? 

 25 

MR COOK:   I would have thought that elected representatives from the City 

Council may well have a more localised view on the issue as opposed 

perhaps with the elect representatives from the Regional Council. 

 

MR NEILL:   Have you had any discussions with the Canterbury Regional 30 

Council regarding the submission of your elected representatives and 

your appearance today? 

 

MR COOK:   No, none whatsoever. 

 35 

MR NEILL:   Have you ever had any discussions with Shirley Haywood or 

Carl Hansen, the two experts at Canterbury Regional Council in respect 

to water contamination and the quarrying industry? 

 

MR COOK:   No, none whatsoever. 40 

 

MR NEILL:   Are you familiar with the Natural Resources Regional Plan, a 

plan formerly operated by Canterbury Regional Council? 

 

MR COOK:   I have had limited dealings with it. 45 
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MR NEILL:   Are you familiar with the provisions in that plan as it related to 

quarrying and the distance levels for ground level? 

 

MR COOK:   I understood that plan required the minimum of one metre 

separation from the greater depth of quarrying down to the groundwater 5 

level. 

 

MR NEILL:   And is that plan reflected in the new Land and Water 

Management Plan? 

 10 

MR COOK:   I am not sure of the finer points but I think that is a principle, 

yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   As a planner and RMA consultant are you familiar at all with the 

costs likely to be incurred by a quarrying participant, for a resource 15 

consent? 

 

MR COOK:   You have figures banded around but I do not have any direct 

involvement with that side of things. 

 20 

  [1.40 pm] 

 

MR NEILL:   But you indicated that there might be an increased cost, but you 

weren’t defining the increased cost; would it be small or substantial? 

 25 

MR COOK:   Well I suppose it depends how you define small or substantial, I 

am not sure perhaps tens of thousands of dollars for want of a figure, 

sir.   

 

MR NEILL:   Tens of thousands?  250,000 perhaps, question? 30 

 

MR COOK:   Not sure. Not quite sure what sort of range of costs may well be 

incurred because of what we are talking about.   

 

MR NEILL:   Have you given any consideration to the costs of having dual 35 

guardianship between CRC and Christchurch City Council and the cost 

to the ratepayer for that dual guardianship? 

 

MR COOK:   Maybe it is more the potential costs, if there was contamination 

of the groundwater supplies arising from - - - 40 

 

MR NEILL:   Well what might dual guardianship do to address or remedy that 

situation that cannot be done by the existing organisation which carries 

out that responsibility and is required to under its Acts of Parliament? 

 45 
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MR COOK:   That is section 71 of the Resource Management Act, I believe 

also allows for territorial authorities - - - 

 

SJH:   Not the question Mr Cook, please answer the question. 

 5 

MR COOK:   Sorry, can you please repeat your question. 

 

MR NEILL:   Are you able give any indication of the benefits, and I am 

rewording this slightly, of having dual guardianship that is not at 

present being carried out by Canterbury Regional Council? 10 

 

MR COOK:   I think as a non-compliant activity it does provide additional 

scope for the Christchurch City Council to consider such matters 

beyond what is provided for in the Land and Water Regional Plan. 

 15 

MR NEILL:   Over the last five years can you give examples where quarrying 

has caused contamination of our groundwater aquifers? 

 

MR COOK:   I am not aware of any such situation, sir. 

 20 

MR NEILL:   Are you aware over the last five years of any breaches of the one 

metre rule? 

 

MR COOK:   Personally and professionally, no. 

 25 

MR NEILL:   Okay, if you were to be told that there was a recent breach, is it 

something that you should have been aware of when you were 

preparing your evidence? 

 

MR COOK:   I understand there has been recent news media issues over an 30 

existing quarry in Old West Coast Road, which had featured in The 

Press a few weeks ago.  I am not quite sure what the outcome was or 

what was the actual situation.  

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you Mr Cook.  Just a couple of very quick questions for 

you. 40 

 

 You quote the Regional Policy Statement, of policy 5.3.2, do you 

accept though that the methods which give effect to that, I think fairly 

clearly, refer to the Regional Council having a role inputting that policy 

and the corresponding methods for the territorial authorities do not 45 

mention that at all, do you accept that? 
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MR COOK:   Sir, which policy, sorry - - - 

 

MR WILLIS:   In your evidence, your prior evidence you have referenced the 

Regional Policy Statement on page 7, but you haven’t quoted the 5 

method.  

 

MR COOK:   And your question was, I am sorry? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Look you just quoted the policy 5.3.2, you haven’t discussed 10 

the method, but the method it seems to me on my reading as we sit here 

and discuss it is that it very clearly puts the implementation of that 

policy in the hands of the Regional Council, and as I said the 

corresponding set of methods for territorial authorities are silent on 

anything to do with that policy implementation.  Is that something you 15 

have considered or aware of? 

 

MR COOK:   No, sorry that matter I overlooked, sir.   

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, that is fine, thank you.  There is one other issue that it 20 

seems to me in the reading of a piece of evidence that one of the key 

risks associated with this issue is the deposition of the material that 

goes on top of whatever layer of thickness must remain at the bottom of 

the quarry. 

 25 

  [1.45 pm] 

 

 What is your understanding of the rules that would control that, either 

from the Regional Council or from the Replacement District Plan?  Do 

you have an understanding of what clause would control that particular 30 

risk? 

 

MR COOK:   That is where this metre separation aspect comes into it.   

 

MR WILLIS:   Talking specifically about the deposition of material on top of 35 

the - - - 

 

MR COOK:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   In other words, the quality of the fill? 40 

 

MR COOK:   I understand that to be clean fill, but beyond that, sir, no I am 

sorry.  

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, all right, we will leave it there, thank you. 45 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Cook.  Just one question, in your rebuttal in 

paragraph 3.10 you talk about your involvement with some approvals, 

recent involvement with quarrying applications on the outskirts of 5 

Christchurch and the degree of public disquiet over how such approvals 

are not subject to full notification and therefore preventing people from 

being involved. 

 

 Can you please just fill us in on what that situation was, and who you 10 

acted for in that situation, and what your involvement was? 

 

MR COOK:   Sure.  It was a quarrying proposal along Roberts Road.  The 

applicants were the Waterloo Business Park.  I represented the 

submitters, it was a limited notified application where the boundary 15 

was set at 250 metres, the existing dwellings, whether you were 

captured or not in terms of that proposal, some people were just beyond 

it, but there was a lot of aggrieved neighbours.  That some were 

included, some were not from the same proposal, based purely on the 

location of their dwelling. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the situation was limited notified? 

 

MR COOK:   It was a limited notification, correct. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   So there were submissions and some people were able to 

have their say? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   But you are saying that, and you represented some of those - 

- - 

 

MR COOK:   Exactly. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   - - - but other would have liked to have had their say? 

 

MR COOK:   Very much so, they thought they had been equally affected, 

given the scale of quarrying.  This wasn’t a large proposal but still a 

sizeable one, and they thought it was a rather harsh decision made by 40 

the Council in the issue of limited notification.  That was based on 

strictly a 250 metres, which I understand is based on the Victorian EPA 

in Australia in terms of where they would recommend as a minimum 

recommended setback of 250 metres for any residential activity from a 

quarry that does not include blasting. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   So did the Council follow due RMA process in order to come 

to its determination about notification? 

 

MR COOK:   It was done through Commissioners, but I think it becomes a 

mute call in terms of the assessment of effects on the environment, in 5 

terms of the persons who they believe would or would not be affected. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But if a proper process was involved, albeit that some people 

might come to different decisions? 

 10 

MR COOK:   I think a very clinical approach was taken by the Council where 

they drew a line 250 metres around the quarry site, and if your dwelling 

was within it you would be deemed to be affected, if you are beyond 

that line you were not.   

 15 

MS DAWSON:   And that was agreed by the Commissioner involved? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much Mr Cook.  That is all I have, 20 

thank you.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Cook, have you done a review of all possible activities 

within Christchurch that potentially threatened the aquifer and to see 

how they are treated under the Proposed Plan? 25 

 

MR COOK:   No I have not. 

 

SJH:   You didn’t consider that at all? 

 30 

MR COOK:   No. 

 

SJH:   Your only concern is protecting it from this one activity 

 

MR COOK:   Correct. 35 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  You answered some questions from Mr Radich about the 

Statement of Expectations, but 1.7 of your key document, you don’t 

mention the order in Council or the Statement of Expectations.  I take it 

from that you don’t consider them to be key documents? 40 

 

  [1.50 pm] 

 

MR COOK:   I cannot recall my particular response to Mr Radich’s question. 

But, no, I am not aware of the statement of expectations in terms of the 45 

Order in Council, which I believe you refer to. 
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SJH:   Well, are you aware of the Order in Council, and have you read it? 

 

MR COOK:   No, I have not. 

 5 

SJH:   The Statement of Expectations, which is an appendix to it, you have not 

read that either? 

 

MR COOK:   Correct.  

 10 

SJH:   Okay, thank you. Ms Limmer, anything arising? 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir.  

 

SJH:   Mr Radich? 15 

 

MR RADICH:   No, thanks. 

 

SJH:   Ms Ash? 

 20 

MS ASH:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Cook. You may stand down.  

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.50 pm]  25 

 

SJH:   We will take the lunch adjournment now until 2.15 pm. Thank you. 

 

ADJOURNED [1.51 pm] 

 30 

RESUMES [2.21 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, Ms Ash. 

 

MS ASH:   Sir, I now call Mr Mark Gregory. 35 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 
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<MARK GREGORY, sworn [2.21 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [2.21 pm] 

 

MS ASH:   Mr Gregory, is your full name Mark Andrew Gregory? 

 

MR GREGORY:   Yes. 5 

 

MS ASH:   Do you have the experience and qualifications outlined in the 

introduction to your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MR GREGORY:   I do. 10 

 

MS ASH:   Can you please confirm to the Panel that the evidence that you 

presented in your evidence-in-chief, and your rebuttal evidence, are 

true and correct? 

 15 

MR GREGORY:   Yes, I can. 

 

MS ASH:   Would you please read your outline and answer any questions from 

the Panel. 

 20 

MR GREGORY:   Thank you. 

 

 I have been requested to provide evidence on behalf of Council in 

relation to two issues.  Firstly the matter of quarry access which has 

arisen as a result of Maurice R Carter’s and the Canterbury Aggregate 25 

Producers Group submissions seeking deletion of the rule 17.6.4.5 that 

requires restricted discretionary resource consent for all new quarry 

accesses in the rural quarry zone; this has been addressed in my 

evidence. 

 30 

 And secondly, the transport effects relating to the sought rezoning of 

the Templeton Golf Course site for the purposes of quarrying; which 

has been addressed in my rebuttal. 

 

 My summary of evidence is as follows: The submitters sought deletion 35 

of rule 17.6.4.5 requiring restricted discretionary activity consent for 

new quarry accesses.  The result of this would be that the establishment 

of any new accesses would be considered in the context of the 

provisions of the transport chapter. 

 40 

 The transport chapter in appendix 7.10 provides for new accesses as a 

permitted activity but for accesses generating up to 100 vehicles per 

day and requires resource consent, controlled or restricted discretionary 

for quarrying activities that generate more than 250 vehicles per day.  

The higher activity status applies to quarrying activities where access is 45 

proposed to be located within 250 metres of a residential unit. 
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 If rule 17.6.4.5 were deleted from the rural chapter then there will 

effectively be a gap in the rules for quarrying activities that generated 

between 100 vehicles per day and 250 vehicles per day.  The Council 

and submitters have agreed that the traffic engineering design reasons it 5 

is not appropriate to extend permitted activity status to sites serving 

more than 100 vehicles per day. 

 

 Another rule is needed to ensure that accesses to quarries provided for 

between 101 and 249 vehicles per day are appropriately assessed. 10 

 

  [2.25 pm] 

 

 Through expert conferencing and mediation the parties have agreed 

that new accesses should require consent as restricted discretionary 15 

activities, subject to the matters of discretion specified in the transport 

chapter after the high trip generator rule – and I refer here to matter 

7.3.19. 

 

 It is noted, however, that the assessment matters relating to the high trip 20 

generator rule do not address amenity effects on nearby residential 

activities.  It is a planning matter which is discussed in the evidence of 

Ms Radburnd. 

 

 From a transport engineering perspective the proposed rule and 25 

assessment matters can be supported because it allows for the 

assessment of new access design against the required road engineering 

design criteria.  This agreement represents a positive outcome in terms 

of network safety and efficiency. 

 30 

 I shall now summarise my rebuttal regarding the rezoning of the golf 

course. 

 

 I agree with Mr Christopher Rossiter that the traffic effects of the 

Fulton Hogan proposal are likely to be largely neutral on the wider 35 

network.  Should the proposal be advanced any traffic related issues 

could be resolved, as the likely effects associated with vehicle access 

would be controlled under rule 7.2.3.10 and assessment matter 7.3.19 

part 3 in the transport chapter, chapter 7. 

 40 

 Although there are uncertainties at this stage around increases in golf 

course traffic, following the proposed redevelopment of the golf club it 

would be expected that additional traffic would be accommodated 

within the wider network.  In any case, golf course peak demand is not 

anticipated to coincide with network peak demands. 45 
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 Access design related issues which would potentially have the most 

significant network impacts would be controlled or subject to restricted 

discretionary assessment under the high trip generator rule. 

 

 It is my opinion that the overall traffic effects of changing the land use 5 

of both the quarry and golf course are likely to be less than those at 

present.  This is because of the existing traffic effects; it is the heavy 

vehicle traffic that has far greater potential to impact upon the network 

due to the operating characteristics of trucks and the operating speed 

and design of the frontage roads. 10 

 

 There is a reported expected decrease in truck traffic of 100 to 200 

vehicles per day and this alone could significantly reduce traffic 

impacts compared to present levels. 

 15 

 Taking this into account and the potential effects of an increasing golf 

course traffic described, I agree with Mr Rossiter that the traffic effects 

of rezoning are likely to be less than existing and likely to be subject to 

matters of control under chapter 7. 

 20 

 That is my summary. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   No questions, sir. 25 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   No questions. 

 30 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions for me thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Gregory, you may stand down. 35 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.28 pm] 

 

MS ASH:   That will get us through it quickly, will it not? 

 40 

 I now call Dr Belinda Margetts. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

45 
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<BELINDA ISABELLE MARGETTS, sworn [2.29 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [2.29 pm] 

 

MS ASH:   Dr Margetts, is your full name Belinda Isabelle Margetts? 

 

DR MARGETTS:   Yes. 5 

 

MS ASH:   And do you have the experience and qualifications outlined in the 

introduction to your evidence-in-chief? 

 

DR MARGETTS:   Yes, I do. 10 

 

MS ASH:   Can you please confirm to the Panel that the material that is in your 

evidence is true and correct? 

 

DR MARGETTS:   Yes. 15 

 

MS ASH:   And could you please now summarise your position to the Panel 

and answer any questions. 

 

DR MARGETTS:   As part of my role at the Christchurch City Council I have 20 

been asked to provide evidence on the appropriateness from an 

ecological perspective of minimum waterway setback distances from 

quarrying activities, as set out in proposed rule 17648. 

 

 The notified version of activity standard 17648 carried over the 150 25 

metre setback from the Operative Plan.  Quarrying within 150 metres 

of waterways was a restricted discretionary activity. 

 

  [2.30 pm] 

 30 

 Submissions on this rule requested smaller setbacks or no setbacks for 

some waterways, for example artificial waterways.  In response to these 

submissions and as a result of agreement reached at mediation, two 

setbacks are now proposed to reflect the different values of the two 

classifications of waterways within the proximity of quarries. 35 

 

 For environmental asset waterways which have a higher ecological 

value, the proposed setback is 150 metres.  For network waterways 

which have a lower ecological value the proposed setback is 50 metres.  

Where setbacks are less than these thresholds resource consent is 40 

required as a restricted discretionary activity.   

 

 In my opinion the agreed position is appropriate from an ecological 

perspective.  I consider that setting different size setbacks for 

waterways of different values is the most efficient way of managing the 45 

effects from quarrying on waterways.  I also consider that the agreed 
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distances set appropriate permitted activity standards.  Where these 

distances are not achieved it is appropriate that a resource consent b 

required so that potential effects on the waterways from quarrying can 

be assessed.  Thank you. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 10 

 

MR WILLIS:   No questions. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   No questions either from me, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Dr Margetts, you may stand down.   

 

DR MARGETTS:   Thank you. 20 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.31 pm] 

 

SJH:   What is the situation with Mr Camp? 

 25 

MS ASH:   Sorry, I have skipped one, I am so enthusiastic to get through it, I 

apologise profusely. 

 

SJH:   I was thinking I had missed something. 

 30 

MS ASH:   Mr Camp won’t have any idea what is going on, thank you.   
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<STUART CAMP, sworn [2.31 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [2.32 pm] 

 

MS ASH:   Mr Camp, is your full name Stuart Camp? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, it is. 5 

 

MS ASH:   Do you have the experience and qualifications outlined in the 

introduction to your evidence? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I do. 10 

 

MS ASH:  Can you please confirm to the Panel the evidence you are presenting 

is true and correct? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I do. 15 

 

MS ASH:   Could you please present your summary to the Panel and answer 

any questions. 

 

MR CAMP:   Thank you.  My evidence considers the potential noise effects 20 

arising from Fulton Hogan’s proposal to rezone the Templeton Golf 

Course site for quarrying.   

 

 Both the operative and proposed district plan noise rules set standards 

for noise that are determined by the zoning of the site receiving the 25 

noise rather, than the zoning of the site where the noise is created.  This 

means that rezoning the Templeton Golf Course site for quarrying will 

not change the noise standards that must be met for neighbouring sites.  

The noise standards for dwellings in the rural zones adjoining the site 

are the same as for all residential zones within Christchurch and are 30 

amongst the most stringent in the country. 

 

 In my view the district plan’s noise standards, both operative and 

proposed, are appropriate to ensure an acceptable level of noise if a 

quarry is established on the existing Templeton Golf Course site.  A 35 

quarry can be designed to comply with the noise standards, although 

some mitigation is likely to be required for the main processing plant. 

 

 A consenting process would be appropriate to address noise effects if a 

Pound Road site access other than the existing golf course entrance is 40 

proposed.  The proposal by Fulton Hogan includes the requirement to 

develop the site in accordance with an ODP which shows the existing 

entrance being retained.  An alternative entrance would require a non-

complying consent and hence an assessment of noise effects.  I am 

satisfied that this is an appropriate mechanism to address my noise 45 

concerns. 
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 Restrictions on hours of operation for quarries are not required to 

address noise effects provided quarries comply with night time 

permitted activity noise standards.  That said I support a consenting 

process, whatever that looks like, when hours of operation are to be 5 

extended to ensure that noise levels are properly assessed so there is 

confidence that the night time noise standards will actually be 

achieved. 

 

 Night time loading of aggregate is appropriate providing this only 10 

occurs close to the permanent processing plant to ensure appropriate 

separation distances from residential neighbours.  The proposed plan 

requires resource consent for any dwellings within 250 metres of a 

quarry.  In my view this distance is ample to ensure that potential 

adverse noise effects are properly assessed. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   No, sir. 

 20 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   No questions, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I do have some questions. 

 

MR CAMP:   Thank goodness. 

 30 

  [2.35 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   In paragraph 4.13 of your evidence, you draw a distinction 

between a change in what I think you have referred noise amenity 

rather than noise effect per se, what did you mean by that? 35 

 

MR CAMP:   Simply that if you look at it from a noise level point of view you 

say, “Well, there is no real effect of it, it is considered an appropriate 

level of noise, it applies anywhere and everywhere around the country”.   

 40 

 But it is clear that there will be a change in the acoustic environment to 

that property so it is not fair to say there is no change resulting from it, 

I just don’t believe there will be an effect.  So that is the only way I can 

describe it is to say that is an amenity type effect. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Are there situations where those amenity effects need to be 

considered and assessed as to whether they are acceptable or not for 

that particular environment, even though the noise levels get the tick? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I think there is a need but I think that that then becomes 5 

more of planning issue or a much broader issue than just noise. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And would it be influenced by the type of noise, the tones, 

the time of day? 

 10 

MR CAMP:   Yes, it would but I have addressed that to a large extent in my 

evidence, that quarrying noise is actually not particularly noticeable.  It 

is not like a frost fan or something that is very, very distinctive.  

Quarrying noise is quite, I hesitate to use the word “benign”, but it is 

very broadband. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   On the same sort of theme, when and where do you consider 

it is appropriate to consider noise effects on the routes of traffic to and 

from an activity, because they aren’t picked up by the onsite noise 

standards? 20 

 

MR CAMP:   That is true. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But once a truck leaves the actual entrance to the site it 

continues to have effects but under what circumstances is it appropriate 25 

for those to be considered an effect of establishing an activity or is it 

ever? 

 

MR CAMP:   Well, in essence we always do and that is dealt with, I have 

addressed that briefly in my rebuttal.  Mr Humpheson for CAPG talks 30 

about that more generally.  I have commented on it in relation to the 

Pound Road situation only because that was really my brief. 

 

 Fundamentally it comes down to how much other traffic you have got.  

If you put 10 trucks onto a road that only carries 50 vehicles a day then 35 

there is a noticeable change.  If you put those same 10 trucks onto Main 

South Road nobody would even notice the difference.  So we tend to 

look at that in terms of a change in noise level and generally during 

daytime it is not a problem, it is more when you are wanting to move 

into night time it becomes a consideration.   40 

 

MS DAWSON:   So if at night times a significant number of trucks were going 

onto a road that would otherwise have been very quiet, that is a 

legitimate effect to be considered from the activity? 

 45 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   So if there were no standards on hours of operation and there 

were only the standards on the noise standards on the site, then those 

effects wouldn’t be taken into account? 

 5 

MR CAMP:   No, unless you put a limit on the number of truck movements at 

night. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but if you didn’t have any of such and also the high 

traffic generator, we just heard from Mr Gregory that the high traffic 10 

generator or the traffic number rules don’t deal with amenity, they only 

deal with safety of vehicles and that they can be accommodated on the 

road network. 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   So is it your opinion that there is a place for some rule that 

allows the offsite noise amenity effects to be considered in some 

circumstances? 

 20 

MR CAMP:   I think it can be useful to have it.  Before one decides whether 

there is a need for it, I think it is appropriate to look at what traffic is a 

quarry likely to generate at night.  When you look at where they deliver 

aggregate during the day most of those sites are not operating at night. 

 25 

  [2.40 pm] 

 

 So on a day to day basis, even if a quarry is allowed to operate at night, 

chances are they would only be producing relatively small numbers of 

vehicle movements.   30 

 

 There will be times, of course, which may be what you are alluding to, 

where you are building a new Southern Motorway, for example, where 

they might decide to do work 24 hours a day, but it will always be for a 

short period of time for doing that 24 hours a day – it might only be a 35 

few days, it is not going to be a year-round activity. 

 

MS DAWSON:   You have just looked at the Pound Road site, haven’t you? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   So on that site you have said that, that is a busy road so the 

access would be out onto a major route? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   But are you able to comment as to whether that will be the 

situation in all other sites within the existing quarry zone? 

 

MR CAMP:   Within the existing quarry zone – I have thought about it more 

generally in terms of other quarries that are being consented, and it is 5 

certainly not always the case then.  In terms of the quarry zone, yes, I 

think the quarry zones all run out onto, (INDISTINCT 1.17) certainly 

very, very quickly – Miner’s Road itself, for example isn’t particularly 

busy but you have got essentially no houses there and then you are onto 

a busy road.   10 

 

MS DAWSON:   But is that something that would need to be considered before 

a blanket rule that said, “Don’t worry about hours of operation” would 

need to be considered? 

 15 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I think that is a question that wants to be asked, yes.   

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Thank you.  In your rebuttal you say that a noise 

management plan approach might suffice rather than controlling I think 

hours of operation.  Is a noise management plan suitable for 20 

considering offsite noise?  How does a noise management plan manage 

24/7 trucking offsite and the noise from that? 

 

MR CAMP:   It probably doesn’t directly.  It probably comes back to your 

previous question about perhaps having a limit on the number of 25 

vehicles at night for example so that you have got something to assess 

that against.   

 

 The point I was making about the noise management plan is that if you 

are going to do quarrying at night – let’s say you were going to do 30 

processing at night – If you don’t have some sort of proof mechanism 

chances are it won’t comply. 

 

 So you do not really want to allow a quarry to sort of set up and then 

find that they are not even close to complying because it is then very, 35 

very difficult and expensive to fix, and may not ever happen, but what 

that proof process is, I don’t think matters too much, and a noise 

management plan that had to be certified would be adequate to provide 

that level of certainty to Council.  There would be other mechanisms, 

obviously.   40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  But as I understand your evidence, it is your opinion 

that just having a permitted activity with standards to meet day and 

night carries risk that if that is not proved in advance or demonstrated 

in advance either through a consent or a nose management plan, there 45 

is a risk that if it is not, if those noise standards are not achieved, it is 
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difficult to retrospectively fix that and people may be affected in the 

meantime? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Now I have just got one other question.  My only other 

question is, where is the nearest dwelling to the Pound Road Quarry 

site?  The Templeton golf course side? 

 

MR CAMP:   That is Ms Harnett’s property which is just south of the property.   10 

 

MS DAWSON:   On Pound Road? 

 

MR CAMP:   On Pound Road, yes.   

 15 

MS DAWSON:   And you have assessed that the noise at that house could be 

met? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I have.  And you will notice in my evidence for Fulton 

Hogan which you will hear, that she has a Certificate of Compliance 20 

which allows another dwelling on her property which is also quite close 

to the golf course course boundary.  So I have looked at that as well.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Right.  Thank you very much.  No more questions.   

 25 

SJH:   Okay, thank you.  Anything arising in re-examination?  Thank you, Mr 

Camp, you may step down.   

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.44 pm] 

 30 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Ash? 

 

MS ASH:   I call Mr Russel Wedge. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 35 
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<RUSSEL WEDGE, affirmed [2.45 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [2.45 pm] 

 

MS ASH:   Mr Wedge, is your full name Russel Grant Wedge? 

 

MR WEDGE:   It is.   5 

 

MS ASH:   Do you have the experience and qualifications outlined in the 

introduction to your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MR WEDGE:   I do. 10 

 

MS ASH:   Could you please confirm to the Panel that the evidence you are 

presenting is true and correct. 

 

MR WEDGE:   It is. 15 

 

MS ASH:   Would you please outline your summary to the Panel and answer 

any questions.   

 

MR WEDGE:   Thank you.  My full name is Russel Grant Wedge.  Fulton 20 

Hogan, in their submissions, seek to change the zoning of the 

Templeton Country Club from Open Space Community Park Zone to 

Rural Quarry Zone, and that zone of the existing quarry between Pound 

Road and Hasketts Road from rural Quarry Zone to Open Space 

Community Parks Zone.   25 

 

 Their submissions seeks to defer this zoning until the exchange of 

recreation reserve land between the Templeton Country Club and the 

establishment of new recreation reserve on the site of the Pound Road 

Quarry, is completed.   30 

 

 The Templeton Country Club land is classified s Recreation Reserve 

under the Reserves Act 1977.  It leased the Templeton Golf Club – the 

Club has a lease until 2021 with a right of renewal for a further 

33 years.  If the Templeton Golf Club were to move to the adjoining 35 

quarry site they would have to terminate their lease and apply for a new 

lease over their new site.  A new lease would require public 

notification.   

 

 The Council administers the Templeton Country Club Reserve which is 40 

derived from the Crown.  If the reserve is no longer required for 

recreation activities the recreation reserve classification under the 

Reserves Act 1977 could be revoked and the land returned to the 

Crown.   

 45 
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 Fulton Hogan’s submission to rezone the Templeton Country Club 

Reserve to Rural Quarry Zone is not permissible with the recreation 

reserve classification under the Reserves Act.  The classification would 

need to be revoked, changed or exchanged to enable any acquiring of 

the land.  A final decision in relation to this would be made by the 5 

Minister of Conservation.   

 

 Fulton Hogan are proposing to exchange the reserve in three stages 

with land near the adjoining quarry.  The reserve classification is 

registered on the title of the Templeton Country Club and cannot be 10 

partially removed for an exchange to occur.  It can only be changed or 

removed as the one entity unless a subdivision application was to be 

lodged under the Resource Management Act.  Fulton Hogan have not 

addressed in their submission how part of the Templeton Country Club 

could be exchanged under the Reserves Act in stages.   15 

 

 Fulton Hogan propose that a land exchange under the Reserves Act 

would be appropriate because the quarry site could be redeveloped in a 

way that provides for additional recreation facilities and benefits.   

 20 

 In my view the proposed land exchange is likely to be problematic 

because at present the Templeton Country Club Recreation Reserve is 

being used for a recreation activity that meets the requirements of the 

Reserve Act.  If the Templeton Golf Club were to cancel their lease the 

Council would advertise for expressions of interest for recreation 25 

activities.  If the reserve could not be used for a recreation activity, the 

Council would be obliged to hand the land back to the Crown.   

 

 Fulton Hogan are proposing to develop a multi-recreational facility and 

international golf course in their quarry once this land is exchanged 30 

with the Templeton Country Club Recreation Reserve in three stages.  I 

have concerns with the development and ongoing administration of a 

multi-recreational facility and international golf course would include 

costs and complexities, with a high level of risk which would be 

inconsistent with current Council policy.   35 

 

 Fulton Hogan quarry land does not need to be vested as reserve with 

the Council, or for a land exchange to take place in order for a golf 

course and multi-recreational facility proposal to proceed.   

 40 

 The Council is currently reducing its landbank by selling areas of land 

that are no longer required.  The Council owns a significant amount of 

undeveloped land in Templeton and there has been no indication from 

the Council that additional land would be required in the Templeton 

area, as would be the case if the Pound Road Quarry site were to be 45 

acquired.   
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 Although the operational practices of a golf course may not have been 

taken into consideration indigenous vegetation requirements under the 

operative District Plan, the Council could work with the club through 

the lease agreements to develop a Management Plan for the indigenous 5 

vegetation and management of the course in the future. 

 

 Overall, I remain of the opinion that the exchange of reserve land for 

other land, section 15 of the Reserves Act 1977, the Templeton 

Country Club for the Fulton Hogan Quarry is inconsistent with the 10 

purposes for which the reserve is classified under section 17, 

subsection 1 of the Reserves Act of 1977 for the reasons stated above. 

 

 Thank you. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Limmer? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [2.50 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir.  Mr Wedge, if an application is made by Fulton Hogan 20 

under the Reserves Act you wouldn’t be the decision maker on there 

would you? 

 

MR WEDGE:   The Council is the administrative body. 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   You personally? 

 

MR WEDGE:   Me personally? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 30 

 

MR WEDGE:   It would be a counter-decision. 

 

MS LIMMER:   That is right.  So at most you might be able a reporting officer 

to the Council in that decision? 35 

 

MR WEDGE:   Correct. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And like any reporting officer your recommendations would 

not be binding, would they? 40 

 

MR WEDGE:   It is up to the Council to make the decision. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  Now you have said that there is not enough detail 

provided to assess the reserves exchange application, that is not 45 
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surprising given this is a rezoned request under the Resource 

Management Act, is it? 

 

MR WEDGE:   That is correct. 

 5 

MS LIMMER:   You have expressed the view that if this rezoning were 

approved by the Council, by the Panel, in the form proposed, they 

would remove public notification from the reserve exchange process. 

 

MR WEDGE:   In my rebuttal that is actually not quite - - - 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   Is that not of your view, you don’t know that to be the case? 

 

MR WEDGE:   Sorry, let me start again.  The Reserves Act says, and if I go to 

- - - 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   Perhaps Mr Wedge, if I just rephrase it, do you know that 

Public Notification of the Reserve Exchange Proposal would not 

occur? 

 20 

MR WEDGE:   I believe that the Council would use its right to public notify 

under the Reserves Act. 

 

MS LIMMER:   You have expressed a similar concern in respect of section 

54.2A in public notification of a new lease to the golf club.  Again I ask 25 

you the same thing, do you know public notification would not occur? 

 

MR WEDGE:   With our leases it is Council practice to public notify them as 

required under the Reserves Act. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   So those two items would be through the Reserves as well as 

this process? 

 

MR WEDGE:   I believe so. 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   Throughout your evidence you talk about validation needing 

to be undertaken for the reserves exchange, you wouldn’t be the person 

doing that, would you? 

 

MR WEDGE:   Council policy is to engage an independent valuer. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   But you accept that should there be a difference in values that 

can be remedied through that exchange of money, and in fact the 

Reserves Act expressly provides for that, doesn’t it? 

 45 
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MR WEDGE:   In the past where we have gone through the exchange reserve 

process for other land we have undertaken a valuation and if there is a 

variation the Council has looked at other monetary exchange. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, and the Reserves Act contemplates they may not be the 5 

same value and will ask for an exchange to achieve equality, that’s 

what the words say, isn’t it? 

 

MR WEDGE:   Yes, I think one of the factors they have taken into 

consideration. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   You have talked in your evidence about the golf course 

management practices; do I take it from your paragraph 3.1.6 in your 

rebuttal that you think there is only bad management that has an effect 

on ecology of the golf course? 15 

 

MR WEDGE:   I haven’t mentioned that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sorry? 

 20 

MR WEDGE:   I have not mentioned if it is bad management, all I have 

mentioned is that the management practices can be looked at through a 

management plan. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Right, well in paragraph 3.1.6 of your rebuttal you say that 25 

maintaining a golf course can be detrimental where best practice 

procedures are not adhered to. 

 

MR WEDGE:   Correct. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   So are you saying that it is only bad practice that has an 

effect? 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 35 

MR WEDGE:   So when you are referring to management practice you are 

referring to the ecology? 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, Mr Wedge I am talking just about your paragraph 3.1.6 

where you infer that if best practice is followed everything is okay, is 40 

that your evidence that is they comply with best practice regular golf 

course maintenance will have no effect on ecology – mowing, weeding, 

spraying? 
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MR WEDGE:   What I was referring to that that is the ecology of the golf 

course and not the ecology of other factors that may be around the golf 

course, a golf course. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Have you got your 3.16 in front of you? 5 

 

MR WEDGE:   This is on the? 

 

MS LIMMER:   On your rebuttal evidence. 

 10 

MR WEDGE:   Rebuttal, 3.16.  Sorry I have got 3. - - - 

 

MS ASH:   Excuse me it is on the screen. 

 

MR WEDGE:   Sorry, now I understand. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   So are you saying, do I take from that that you were saying 

that it is only bad golf course management that has effects on ecology 

despite the fact these courses are mowed, sprayed - - - 

 20 

SJH:   No, he is just agreeing with someone else’s view that it can be 

detrimental. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, I was simply asking whether it is his evidence because I 

wasn’t clear that best practice is employed, then these effects occur. 25 

 

SJH:   Well it doesn’t relate to this, because this paragraph is simply agreeing 

with someone else’s comments that even with best practice not adhered 

to there is an effect.  So what is the question? 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   That was all I was trying to understand was what he was 

taking from that. 

 

SJH:   Well that is what it says. 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   Because that certainly isn’t Dr Lindsay’s evidence. 

 

SJH:   Well put to him.  If you are in cross-examination and you are saying it 

doesn’t accord with your witness’s statement you put the specific 

statement to him, that is the way to do it properly. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   Certainly sir, but if I might just do that, you say you agreed 

with Dr Ropa Lindsay but you add to that caveat where best 

management practices are not employed, is that your opinion? 

 45 

MR WEDGE:   I stick by my statement that I have there. 
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MS LIMMER:   Sorry? 

 

MR WEDGE:   So in my statement here I say that “where best practice 

management is not always adhered to…”, so the damage can occur if 5 

best management practices are not adhered to. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  But that is not the statement in 3.15 that you are 

agreeing with, which is simply the golf course management practices?  

I am just trying to understand if you are saying something different, 10 

you say you agree, but you have added the words “best management 

practices”. 

 

SJH:   I think the point is, it is being put to you that what you say about best 

practice is not what Dr Ropa Lindsay said, do you accept that 15 

proposition or not?  And you can go direct to her evidence rather than 

your own quote if you wish to do so. 

 

MR WEDGE:   Sorry, I am now getting confused. 

 20 

SJH:   Well the way it has been put, I am not particularly surprised to be 

honest.  Can we bring up the Dr Ropa Lindsay’s evidence at paragraph 

56.1, please?  And keep your 3.16 there in front of you. 

 

MR WEDGE:   Okay. 25 

 

SJH:   Now, if you read 56.1 there.  So being put to you, as I understand it, that 

your 3.16 in your rebuttal doesn’t accurately reflect what is stated in 

the first sentence of 56.1 because there is no reference there to best 

practice. 30 

 

  [3.00 pm] 

 

MR WEDGE:  So my point I was trying to make is that golf management 

practices can still be harmful to ecological wet areas outside of the golf 35 

course.  Does that help? 

 

MS LIMMER:   It does assist, Mr Wedge. 

 

MR WEDGE:   Thank you. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   Moving to your next paragraph then, 3.17, following on from 

the same thing, you then say that the lease requires compliance with all 

the statutes, ordinances, regulations and bylaws, in respect of that 

protection of biodiversity.  Which ones did you have in mind in 45 

particular? 
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MR WEDGE:   The Reserves Act has a clause in the recreation reserve that 

indigenous plants should be protected.  (INDISTINCT 1.09)  

 

MS LIMMER:   So I take it then you are referring to section 17.2E where it 5 

says, “where indigenous flora or fauna are present on the reserve those 

features or that flora or fauna shall be managed and protected to the 

extent compatible with the principle or primary purpose of the reserve”.  

Is that what you had in mind? 

 10 

MR WEDGE:   Correct, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And going on from that, at 3.18 you say the Council has the 

ability, through its internal property leasing team to work with the golf 

course.  Is there anything in particular in the lease that requires a golf 15 

course to change its practises? 

 

MR WEDGE:   I do not think I have mentioned how a golf course changes 

practises. 

 20 

MS LIMMER:   Okay, so when you talk about the internal property leasing 

team working with the golf course this site has been an ecological 

heritage site since 93 in the plan, have those discussions been had? 

 

MR WEDGE:   I am not aware of them.   25 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you would agree, Mr Wedge, that the lease in fact allows 

grazing on the site, does it not? 

 

MR WEDGE:  I cannot remember.  It may do, I cannot remember. 30 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, I have no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 35 

MR NEILL:   Thank you. It seems that something which appears to the layman 

quite simple is difficult.  Is that so? 

 

MR WEDGE:   Yes. 

 40 

MR NEILL:   Is it difficult because the Council wish to make it difficult or is it 

difficult because the law and the acts under which it is given 

occupation require it to be difficult? 

 

MR WEDGE:   The Reserves Act – this particular exchange of reserve land is 45 

complicated because, well there are two reasons.  One is because they 
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(INDISTINCT 3.23) application in that they are proposing to do it in 

three stages.  If they were for example and as we have mentioned in 

previous meetings with Fulton Hogan, if their proposal was to do this 

in one stage, then the process under the Reserves Act would be a lot 

simpler.  But obviously that has a lot more commitment and a lot more 5 

financial commitment, and it would be extremely hard to do 

(INDISTINCT 3.45)  

 

MR NEILL:   In your rebuttal evidence you express some concern about the 

financial risk.  Are you concerned that Fulton Hogan do not have the 10 

capacity to fulfil their obligations and therefore could leave you with a 

bunny? 

 

MR WEDGE:   No, not so much that issue, it is more the issue that the 

Council, with the current situation we are, we administer the land and 15 

as mentioned the Templeton Golf Club have a lease with us over it.  So 

the activities that the Templeton Golf Club undertake on that land is 

totally up to them, as is their financial risk.  The proposal is actually 

putting Councillors in a possible situation hereby they would not only 

look at taking over another piece of land in exchange but also the 20 

development that is to occur on that land, whereas our current situation 

is we are only the landowners, you might say.  We do not really have a 

lot to do with the activity occurring on that land which is leased out. 

 

MR NEILL:   Put simply, the land that you own, which is classified as reserve, 25 

will be swapped for a larger piece of land next door which would be 

developed into a golf course which would benefit the members of that 

golf club? 

 

  [3.05 pm] 30 

 

MR WEDGE:   That I think is the ultimate plan.  The problem is the process.  

The problem is that Fulton Hogan is not handing over or is not 

exchanging with the Council one completed golf course in one go.  

They are advising to do it in three stages and they are proposing to also 35 

operate the current course as well and the complexity comes into it 

whereby the Council would not only be looking at taking over this new 

piece of land, as owning the land, but also the structures that are on it.   

 

 So Fulton Hogan are proposing to have some sort of contract that 40 

would have some guarantee that what they are proposing to be built 

would be built. Whereas our current situation is that we are not 

involved with any building activities or any commercial activities or 

anything to do with that happens on that land.  Does that sort of make 

clear, that (INDISTINCT 1.11) 45 
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MR NEILL:   Not particularly but the members of the golf club, what do they 

want?  Because they really are the people who utilise the land, they are 

the community that we all talk about, because unless you pay your four 

hundred and something for your summer sub – I saw it on the sign 

outside there yesterday – you actually do not have access to the land so 5 

it is not available to the world at large in true terms.  So what is their 

view? 

 

MR WEDGE:   You would need to ask the golf course.  The reason I say that is 

because we have a lease with them.  With that, sir, if said golf course 10 

for example was to triple their membership where they are at the 

moment, or alternately if they were to go bankrupt, that is up to the golf 

course.  So our agreement with the golf course is purely as a landlord.   

 

 So therefore whether the golf course was to stay where they are or 15 

whether they were to go to Fulton Hogan site – if Fulton Hogan for 

argument’s sake was to develop their quarry as a golf course without us 

owning the land, that is fine, we have no problems with that.  Because 

the golf course can go anywhere they want to go, because if they were 

to shift from our current site we would then advertise for another lessee 20 

basically. 

 

 So this is where it has got quite confusing and with the proposals 

coming across because we are, the Council is really administering the 

land and not the activity on the land.  We have a lease which actually 25 

removes us from that. 

 

MR NEILL:   But if the golf club chose to do that there is a resource under the 

land which is beneficial to somebody which has a financial benefit to 

the Council? 30 

 

MR WEDGE:   At the moment - - -  

 

MR NEILL:   (INDISTINCT 2.57) 

 35 

MR WEDGE:   - - - at the moment, because the reserve classification on there, 

that reserve, that resource cannot be used. 

 

MR NEILL:   Just one last question.  You have indicated a little bit of concern 

about flora and fauna and trees and things like that but are we not 40 

talking about a highly modified piece of land?  It is not pristine tussock 

country or anything else, it is a highly modified piece of land that you 

are here referring to. 
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MR WEDGE:   The best person to actually answer that would be – sorry, I am 

not really – my concern is more about the reserve process rather than a 

- - - 

 

MR NEILL:   You referred to it briefly in your evidence though. 5 

 

MR WEDGE:   Yes, the only reason I raised it in my evidence was because 

there is a mechanism through the lease agreement to put management 

practices in place.  As it has been highlighted there are some issues 

there. 10 

 

MR NEILL:   Right.  But at the moment it is restricted solely to that of golf and 

that is the only activity that the Templeton CC can actually utilise that 

land for at the present point in time? 

 15 

MR WEDGE:   They hold a lease for golf. 

 

MR NEILL:   I see, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 20 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you, Mr Wedge, do you manage these reserves 

(INDISTINCT 4.17) on a regular basis?  I mean is this something you 

do on a – you know, how many processes of revocations and exchanges 

and things do you do? 25 

 

MR WEDGE:   I am a Senior Planner with the Council and yes that is part of 

my job description. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, so this sort of a, as I say exchange, revocation or 30 

whatever it might be, is something which the Council will be engaged 

in on what sort of a basis in? 

 

MR WEDGE:   In terms of its? 

 35 

MR WILLIS:   Frequency. 

 

MR WEDGE:   It depends whether – we also, so their main area, we will do 

those, as will also our Property Unit as well.  Basically it is hard to say 

but I know I have done a few exchanges within the last year or so.  I 40 

have done one revocation. 

 

MR WILLIS:   And would that be in the sort of scale we are talking about here 

or is this something out of the ordinary?  I am trying to get a feel for if 

you have got experience and you can tell us how long this sort of 45 

process might take. 



 Page 142 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

 

  [3.10 pm] 

 

MR WEDGE:  In my separate evidence I talk about the Council process. 

 5 

MR WILLIS:   Yes. 

 

MR WEDGE:   Generally it takes anywhere from about three to six months, 

the reason being the period that we have to go for public notification 

and it would depend upon the submissions that come through and the 10 

hearing that comes from that. 

 

MR WILLIS:   And your point though about it being proposed at this stage 

anyway as a three stage process, you would multiply that by three I 

take it although that would be phased out over a period of time? 15 

 

MR WEDGE:   Each stage - - - 

 

MR WILLIS:   As I understand the proposal, yes. 

 20 

MR WEDGE:   Yes, it would be open to public notification which requires the 

hearing under the Reserves Act. 

 

MR WILLIS:   And the staging that Fulton Hogan are proposing, over what 

period are we extending this? 25 

 

MR WEDGE:   So in the Fulton Hogan submission they have mentioned three 

years. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Three years and each three years we are looking at a three to six 30 

month process I think you said? 

 

MR WEDGE:   I was under the impression it was one stage per each year. 

 

MR WILLIS:   I see. 35 

 

MR WEDGE:   There is not a lot of detail on that. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, all right.  I am just trying to get a feel for, we talked 

about it being complex but it is clearly a manageable complexity, you 40 

do it a lot I guess is what I am saying? 

 

MR WEDGE:   Yes, there is also the other aspect is the lease itself.  So with a 

change of a lease for example, if the lease was to be surrendered for the 

Golf course they would have to apply again for another lease.  That has 45 

its own separate notification, its own separate hearings process which is 
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separate to the exchange process under the Reserves Act, so there is 

two different processes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Which would run parallel? 

 5 

MR WEDGE:   Not necessarily, no, the land would have to come first to be 

into the Council to administer the land before they could advertise for a 

lessee over the land. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  Now, you mentioned the lease and I notice you have got 10 

some comments in here about the conditions of the lease at the moment 

which seem to control some general land uses ploughing, digging, 

cropping and, as we have heard or as the evidence says, there are some 

ecological values on the site.  In terms of the lease that hasn’t been a 

matter in the past that you have sought to specifically protect through 15 

the lease conditions? 

 

MR WEDGE:   I haven’t been involved at all in that process. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Would that be the sort of typical thing that you might on a 20 

renewal of lease consider or would be raised by submissions? 

 

MR WEDGE:   Yes, I think - - - 

 

MR WILLIS:   When was the last time this lease was renewed? 25 

 

MR WEDGE:   Well, it actually is up for renewal now. 

 

MR WILLIS:    So when was the last time, when was it last signed? 

 30 

MR WEDGE:   I am sorry I don’t know. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay. 

 

MR WEDGE:   I know that we have a property unit which handles the lease 35 

side, leasing agreements. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, no, thank you that is fine. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Wedge.  In your evidence-in-chief you seem 

to express some concern about the public notification process for a 

reserve exchange being thwarted or diverted by the fact that the change 

of zoning might have taken place.  I wasn’t clear in your answer to 45 

Ms Limmer whether you are less concerned about that now or whether 
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there is still some lack of clarity in the Reserves Act about whether the 

fact that a zoning might have change, whether that would affect the 

likelihood of the Reserves Act change being publicly notified? 

 

MR WEDGE:   In the Reserves Act, in 11.2 of my in-chief evidence, the 5 

Reserves Act says that “Provided that such a notice of intention shall 

not be necessary where an order to exchange to be made a change has 

been made in an operative district scheme under the Town and Country 

Planning Act”.  The reason that on further consideration after writing 

this, the words used in the Reserves Act is “intention shall not be 10 

necessary”.   

 

 Basically we interpret that to mean that the Council still has the right to 

publicly notify as opposed to at first glance at that we thought that that 

excluded the Council’s right to publicly notify but now we believe that 15 

actually because it says “shall not be necessary” rather than actually 

saying “it is”. And talking to some elected members their feeling is 

very much that we would want to notify should this occur. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So it gives the opportunity not to notify. 20 

 

MR WEDGE:   Exactly. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But it doesn’t say “you must not notify”? 

 25 

MR WEDGE:   Exactly. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And at the moment the elected members, that have indicated 

to you that they would notify? 

 30 

MR WEDGE:   Would want to, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So that takes me to my second question, have the elected 

members formerly reached a position on how they might view a request 

to enter into a reserve exchange? 35 

 

  [3.15 pm] 

 

MR WEDGE:   We have not discussed this in a formal nature with the 

councillors. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   So they have not come to any resolution about whether they 

will accept such a potential offer? 

 

MR WEDGE:   No.  For the councillors to consider this there would have to be 45 

a former report to the Council and on previous discussions with Fulton 
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Hogan we – over the last, over a few years – we left it whereby Fulton 

Hogan was to make a formal application to Council, whereby staff 

would write a report to the Council on their behalf.  But we never 

received a formal application from Fulton Hogan. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   So this process that we’re in now has come in before that 

process - - -  

 

MR WEDGE:   Yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   - - - has commenced within the Council’s formal procedures? 

 

MR WEDGE:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can you also – you have talked about that the Council would 15 

be taking on more than just a new piece of reserve land but that looks 

as though Fulton Hogan might be asking the Council to enter into 

contract which has additional risks and responsibilities involved in may 

be taking on guarantees or that sort of thing, what processes would – or 

do you know and can you let us know what processes would be involve 20 

within the Council about taking on those sorts of additional contractual 

responsibilities, that would be a separate process to the Reserves Act 

matters and - - -  

 

MR WEDGE:   Yes, definitely.  The Reserves Act is really looking at the 25 

exchange of the land and these equate to – consider that as if it was 

bare land rather than actually looking at built structures on it.   

 

 So from what I understand from the Fulton Hogan proposal, they 

proposing not only to exchange the land but also to provide buildings 30 

and other activities on the land, and they are proposing to enter some 

legal agreement with – a “bond” I think was mentioned – if that was the 

case that would have to be considered by our legal department to enter 

into those documents. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   And is that something that might – I mean if there is money 

involved would it need to go through annual planning or long term 

financial planning sort of processes if need be? 

 

MR WEDGE:   In my opinion the annual plan looks at – well the LTP, Long 40 

Term Plan, looks at two things, they look at actually the financial side 

of it but also they take into consideration the risks involved as well. 

 

 So the financial side of it, Fulton Hogan are proposing that they will 

actually build these facilities and give them to Council, but there is 45 

actually an ongoing maintenance of those facilities and there would be 
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also be a renewal of the asset as well, those two things are actually 

mentioned in the LTP. 

 

 With the risks associated, the Council would need to consider the risks 

as well, which yes they could be in there but that would be up to the 5 

councillors to follow the decision. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so in terms of the Council making decisions amongst its 

various priorities for spending its money on maintenance or having new 

facilities that is the sort of priority that in an overarching sense the 10 

annual plan and ultimately the LTP, sort of provides guidance on? 

 

MR WEDGE:   Certainly, because within the operational budget of the LTP 

covers the asset renewal and the maintenance side of the asset, and it 

has to be accounted for. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  And so my final question is, you mentioned I think and 

both to Ms Limmer and to Mr Willis that there could be some 

difficulties in terms of the lease arrangements and the Council 

persuading the golf course to adopt best practice or different 20 

management regimes in relation to protecting the ecological values on 

the current golf course site, am I right in picking up that that – how 

would that be implemented, is that difficult or is that something that 

could be readily done within the current lease arrangement? 

 25 

MR WEDGE:   From my limited knowledge of reading the lease, I believe that 

a lease has provision in there – well the lease does require them to 

follow the statutes, such as the Reserves Act and has Ms Limmer has 

pointed out.  The care and maintenance of the ecological side of things 

is applicable under that reserves clause. 30 

 

 I am not aware of the past of any maintenance practices being talked or 

being put into a management plan, put into practice with the Golf Club 

to highlight care and maintenance of the ecological plants, ecological 

areas, flora and fauna, but that could certainly be done.  I think there is 35 

provision in the lease to do that. 

 

  [3.20 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much, thank you, Mr Wedge, that is all from 40 

me. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Putting aside the individual retail concerns you express in 

your evidence, would it be fair to say at this stage at a high level there 

is too much uncertainty for you? 45 
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MR WEDGE:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising, Ms Limmer? 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir. 5 

 

SJH:   Ms Ash, or re-examination? 

 

MS ASH:   No, sir. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Wedge, you may stand down. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW  [3.20 pm} 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Atkins, do you want to come forward to the microphone? 15 

 

MS ATKINS:   Thank you, sir.  Thank you, sir and thanks to the team for 

slotting us in today.  I did manage on Friday to send through some very 

brief legal submissions, I do not know whether they have made it to 

you - - -  20 

 

SJH:   Yes, they have made it to us, thank you. 

 

MS ATKINS:   - - - which I will just quickly refer to and then we will go 

straight into the evidence of Mr Hodgson. 25 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS ATKINS:   So obviously in the submissions I just outlined the issues that 

Horticulture New Zealand have in relation to the rural area and 30 

essentially they are two part, firstly the importance of recognising rural 

production and having enabling provisions to do that, and secondly 

dealing with reverse sensitivity issues. 

 

 Since rebuttal was filed and Mr Hodgson did evidence-in-chief and 35 

rebuttal there were three matters outstanding, two of which have been 

resolved through the filing of the Council’s rebuttal, and I have dealt 

with that at the bottom of page one in terms of Ms Hogan’s evidence 

and you heard from Ms Hogan this morning as I understand it.  

 40 

 We have now dealt with the issue of the discretion relating to reverse 

sensitivity effects and we have dealt with the definition of artificial 

crop protection structures, greenhouses and crop support structures and 

we have no issues with those changes and support them. 

 45 
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 So the only outstanding matter, is the matter in relation to Orion, who 

you will be hearing from tomorrow, and Ms Appleyard is obviously 

here for them today.  And that is in terms of the submission seeking n 

electricity distribution protection corridor and Mr Hodgson’s rebuttal 

directly focuses on that point.   5 

 

 So Orion is seeking corridor protection provisions in relation to 

buildings as well as sensitive activities.  We have absolutely no issue in 

identifying the local distribution network on district plan maps or on 

Land Information Memoranda to inform landowners and resource users 10 

of their existence.   

 

 There is also no issue with advising land users of the need to comply 

with NZECP 34 2001.  However the requirement for Councils to 

enforce that code and/or methods that go further than that code is not 15 

supported.  It is our view that this should be addressed either through a 

review of the code – and we do understand there are some issues with 

it, it is rather an old code now – or that there be national policy 

developed on local distribution networks, rather than what we are 

facing at the moment, a somewhat piecemeal district plan by district 20 

plan approach that may deliver different results in different areas and 

create interpretation and administrative difficulties for all parties. 

 

 Now having said that, I will just interpolate there, we do consider the 

matters as between Orion and Horticulture New Zealand are 25 

imminently resolvable and in Mr Hodgson’s rebuttal he has provided 

some ways in which those matters can be addressed. 

 

 Now rather than me read those out, I actually thought they were 

actually a better summary of where we are at with regard to the 30 

planning evidence, so without further ado I was going to stop at that 

point and call Mr Hodgson forward to give his evidence to you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Limmer, I think you are finished for the day so you may 

be excused if you want to. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir. 
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<VANCE ANDREW HODGSON, affirmed [3.24 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ATKINS [3.24 pm] 

 

MS ATKINS:   Thank you, Mr Hodgson, if you could just confirm that your 

full name is Vance Andrew Hodgson and you have the qualifications 

and experience set out in your evidence? 5 

 

MR HODGSON:   I do. 

 

MS ATKINS:   And that your evidence-in-chief and your evidence in rebuttal 

are true and correct? 10 

 

MR HODGSON:   That is correct. 

 

MS ATKINS:   Thank you, and if you could just pick up perhaps where I left 

off in terms of summarising the remaining concerns, and then answer 15 

any questions that my friends or the Panel may have. 

 

MR HODGSON:  Thank you, will do. Thank you, your Honour, and 

Commissioners.  So just in summary, just reiterating Ms Atkins’ 

comments that the Horticulture New Zealand, and certainly from a 20 

planning perspective, I fully support the recommendations of 

Christchurch City Council Planning Officer, Deborah Hogan, in 

regards to the submissions and relief sought from Horticulture New 

Zealand. 

 25 

  [3.25 pm] 

 

 In terms of my concerns with the provisions proposed by Ms Buttimore 

for Orion, my evidence has identified that the fencing setback proposed 

has been reduced from the notified version.  But nonetheless in my 30 

opinion it replicates NZECP 34, and while we are happy with the 

response, it is just again a flag that duplication of NZECP 34 is not 

something that Horticulture New Zealand supports. 

 

 And in terms of the permitted activity statuses for various farm 35 

buildings within the corridor; these, in my opinion, were unclear and 

some recommendations had been put forward in my evidence around 

how we thought this could be tidied up, particularly in regards to clarity 

around activity P2 for farm buildings as a permitted activity in the rural 

zones. 40 

 

 This in my opinion shall relate to farm buildings and in that regard I 

have suggested some changes that pick up terms referencing to 

horticultural structures in the provisions.  In my opinion this should 

refer to artificial crop protection structures and crop support structures 45 

for consistency and clarity with the recommendations from the Council 



 Page 151 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

officers to include definitions around those two types of structures, that 

certainly are horticultural structures but having a robust definitions 

provides clarity for consistent administration into the future. 

 

 And the second suggested change was in regards to produce packing 5 

facilities that are referenced in the Orion and Transpower provisions for 

the corridor protection.  My suggestion was that the reference should be 

to produce packing buildings which would ensure that the standard 

applies to or does not apply to curtilage and outdoor storage areas 

which are common activities with produce packing facilities. 10 

 

 And thirdly, issue in regards to a reference to irrigation infrastructure 

and the standard, to ensure that it does not apply to mobile machinery 

and had flagged some concerns in regards to the types of activities that 

term irrigation infrastructure might encompass given that irrigation 15 

infrastructure can cover everything from I guess the pipe to a farm 

drainage canal, to a pump house or a water storage device, a lagoon or 

a pond. 

 

 And with that I notice that there was no section 32 analysis in regards 20 

to costs of the additional regulation over and above NZECP 34, and 

noted that the regulatory regimes needed to support rural production 

should avoid unreasonable cost and delays and while the standards 

proposed are likely to be achievable for most activities the cost of 

demonstrating compliance may affect a landowners decisions to 25 

continue carrying out the activity or investment in an area. 

 

 And, in my opinion NZECP 34, it must be complied with by all 

landowners whether or not these provisions exist in the District Plan or 

not. 30 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Ash? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [3.28 pm] 

 35 

MS ASH:   Just a couple of points of clarification, Mr Hodgson, good 

afternoon. 

 

MR HODGSON:   Good afternoon. 

 40 

MS ASH:   Just confirming, Mr Hodgson, that you had a chance to look at Ms 

Hogan’s amendments in relation to the definitions that you requested? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Are these amendments in Ms Hogan’s rebuttal evidence? 

 45 
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MS ASH:   Well its attached to her rebuttal evidence but it is the three 

definitions that you requested, artificial crop protection structures, 

greenhouses and crop support structures. 

 

MR HODGSON:   I have, thank you. 5 

 

MS ASH:   And so they satisfy your concerns? 

 

MR HODGSON:   They do. 

 10 

MS ASH:   And in relation to the two matters of discretion for minor 

residential units and buildings setbacks? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Again, yes happy with the recommendations of the Council 

officer. 15 

 

MS ASH:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Appleyard? 

 20 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [3.29 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, good afternoon, Mr Hodgson. 

 

MR HODGSON:   Good afternoon. 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now I want to start with your rebuttal evidence where 

you say in paragraph 3 that you are responding to Ms Buttimore on 

behalf of Orion and Ms Mackenzie for Federated Farmers; is the 

position of Horticulture New Zealand the same as the position of 30 

Federated Farmers? 

 

MR HODGSON:   I think probably a little different.  Horticulture New Zealand 

has worked hard with Transpower particularly and now have a 

memorandum of understanding around how we think the national 35 

corridor should be protected and a consistent position on standards to 

be introduced into district plans.  I am not aware of Federated Farmers 

having the same national opinion or MoU or consistency. 

 

  [3.30 pm] 40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Have you had discussions with Ms McKenzie in relation 

to this particular hearing? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Yes, I have. 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   And when did those occur? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Just prior to the file of the rebuttal evidence. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay.  Have you appeared at these hearings previously? 5 

 

MR HODGSON:   No, I have not. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  So are you aware that witnesses for Orion who are 

appearing tomorrow, Mr Watson and Ms Buttimore, have given 10 

evidence previously to the Panel in relation to other chapters? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Yes, I have read their evidence. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Have you read the evidence in the Strategic Directions, 15 

Residential, Industrial, Commercial and particularly Subdivision 

chapters? 

 

MR HODGSON:  My apologies, I could not clarify if it was Subdivision, I 

have certainly read their evidence from the earlier chapters in 20 

Residential. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, the Subdivision Hearing was fairly recent, I think it 

was last week or the week before and it had some detailed evidence 

about the difficulty with reliance on the code.  You have not read that 25 

evidence? 

 

MR HODGSON:   No, I am sorry, I have not. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Were you aware that Ms McKenzie gave evidence for 30 

Federated Farmers in relation to that hearing? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Yes, Ms McKenzie advised me she had. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And have you read the transcript of her evidence and the 35 

cross-examination? 

 

MR HODGSON:   I have read part of it, yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Now in paragraph, sorry back to your original statement 40 

of evidence.  Paragraph 2 you give your qualifications which includes 

planning qualifications? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Yes. 

 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   And in paragraph 5.1 you confirm that you have read and 

are complying with the code of conduct? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Yes. 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:  Could I take you to paragraph 4.1 of your evidence?  

There you set out the material that you have referenced in preparing 

your evidence.  I take it from that list that you have not considered the 

Order in Council? 

 10 

MR HODGSON:   No, that is not correct, I had read the Order in Council, that 

is in regards to the Residential section. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  No, the Order in Council, that relates to this Hearings 

process. 15 

 

MR HODGSON:   No, not that I can recall. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Also not listed there is the Canterbury Regional Policy 

Statement.  Have you not read that document either? 20 

 

MR HODGSON:   I have read it in regards to other proceedings. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Did you read it before you wrote this evidence? 

 25 

MR HODGSON:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  The Land Use Recovery Plan is not mentioned here.  Have 

you read that? 

 30 

MR HODGSON:   No, I have not. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now I would like to take you back to your rebuttal and 

paragraph 7 and there you are referring to the fact that the National 

Policy Statement does not cover Orion’s assets or does not justify the 35 

higher protection directed by the National Policy Statement.  Orion’s, 

you have suggested to your knowledge that it does though, does it, has 

it? 

 

MR HODGSON:   No.  No, I am sorry, I have not - - -  40 

 

MS APPLEYARD: Are you suggesting that Orion are asserting that the 

National Policy Statement does apply to their assets? 

 

MR HODGSON:   No, I am not. 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:  In fact Ms Buttimore says the complete opposite, does she 

not? 

 

MR HODGSON:   I agree. 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD: Thank you. In fact what Ms Buttimore relies on is 

provisions in the Regional Policy Statement, does she not? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Yes. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   And where is your discussion of her evidence relating to 

the relevant provisions of the Regional Policy Statement? 

 

MR HODGSON:   I do not disagree with the conclusions of that - - -  

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:  No, that is not the question I asked you. You are a Planner 

giving evidence. 

 

MR HODGSON:   Right. 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD: Where is your discussion of the Canterbury Regional 

Policy Statement? 

 

MR HODGSON:   I have not provided one. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Are you aware that there is a definition in the Canterbury 

Regional Policy Statement which explicitly includes Orion’s assets as 

regionally significant infrastructure? 

 

MR HODGSON:   I am. 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD: Are you familiar with the definition of strategic 

infrastructure in the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement? 

 

MR HODGSON:   I am. 35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Would you accept that Orion’s network is also strategic 

infrastructure in terms of that plan? 

 

MR HODGSON:   I would.  I think it is difficult to try and isolate Orion’s 40 

infrastructure as being only of local interest within an urban area that is 

of regional if not national significance. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I am wondering if we could have objective 5.2.1.   I think 

it is G.  Could I ask you to read that?  Did you consider objective 5.2.1 45 

when you wrote your evidence? 
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  [3.35 pm] 

 

MR HODGSON:   Yes, I did.   

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   So you would accept that that objective is relevant to 

Orion’s assets? 

 

MR HODGSON:   I do.   

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:  Have you read chapter 6 of the Regional Policy 

Statement? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Yes, I have read chapter 6.   

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   And what can you tell us about how that directs the Panel 

to deal with strategic infrastructure? 

 

MR HODGSON:   I would like to review it, if I could, on the screen.   

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   Possibly, if I could help, probably a good starting place is 

objective 6.2.1.  Would you accept that that is an objective integrating 

strategic and other infrastructure services with land use and 

development? 

 25 

MR HODGSON:   I would. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And that would include Orion’s assets? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Yes. 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Could I have policy 6.3.5?  did you consider policy 6.3.5 

when you were writing your evidence? 

 

MR HODGSON:  As I say, I have certainly read the policies and in terms of 35 

this evidence, yes, it doesn’t change my opinion.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Are you aware that there is specific reference to a 

requirement of this Panel to include methods to deal with that 

integration issue - - -  40 

 

MR HODGSON:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   - - - with regards to strategic infrastructure?  And you 

accept that section 75.3 of the RMA requires that? 45 
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MR HODGSON:   Absolutely.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So if we don’t include provisions in this plan, how would 

the Panel be giving effect to the RPS? 

 5 

MR HODGSON:   I am not opposed to provisions being included in the plan. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Okay.  If we don’t include provisions that mirror or 

duplicate the code, how would this plan give effect to the RPS?  What 

provisions would there be? 10 

 

MR HODGSON:  The Panel relying on the Code itself, and the Electricity Act.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, in this plan.  What would there be in this plan? 

 15 

MR HODGSON:   There wouldn’t be anything.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   We heard some evidence at the subdivision hearing last 

week about a general lack of awareness of the Code.  Have you got any 

experience of that that you can share with us? 20 

 

MR HODGSON:   Not personally, no.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So you can’t tell us about what the average horticultural 

farmer would know or not know about the Code? 25 

 

MR HODGSON:   No, I can’t, I’m sorry. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And what does your organisation do to raise levels – or 

sorry, not your organisation, Horticulture New Zealand do to raise 30 

levels of awareness around the need to comply with the Code? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Sorry, I couldn’t answer that on behalf of Horticulture New 

Zealand.   

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you know whether there has ever been a prosecution 

under the Code? 

 

MR HODGSON:   No, I don’t.   

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   And do you know who the entity is that would bring a 

prosecution if there were one? 

 

MR HODGSON:   I would assume that it is the transmission line network 

operator.   45 
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MS APPLEYARD:  You say there is no cost benefit analysis as to the 

provisions that Orion seeks. Did you not read the evidence of 

Mr Butcher? 

 

MR HODGSON:   I did, yes.   5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  And do you not consider that to be an analysis of the 

costs? 

 

MR HODGSON:   My comments there were in regards to the cost to the land 10 

owner foregoing the opportunity lost for rural production within that 

corridor.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  I have no further questions. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   No questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 20 

 

MR WILLIS:   Just quickly, Mr Hodgson.  I am just trying to be very clear 

about what it is and what it isn’t your evidence is seeking here.  I 

understood from the questioning from Ms Appleyard that you are not 

actually opposing proposing provisions that are currently in Ms 25 

Hogan’s latest version of the proposal? 

 

  [3.40 pm] 

 

MR HODGSON:   That is correct, that is clear in my evidence.  It is only in 30 

regards to some of the terms that he used and the definitions around 

them. 

 

MR WILLIS:   So, and that is in relation, that is the use of the term 

“horticultural structures”, which you are seeking to be changed to 35 

referring to those two other terms, which are now included in the 

definition of Ms Hogan’s latest version, but are not otherwise, so 

otherwise appear in the provisions? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Correct.  Horticulture structures is an undefined term in the 40 

plan, whereas those two definitions for crop protection structures and 

crop support structures, as recommended by Ms Hogan, would be 

included as new definitions. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, so she has done that already hasn’t she, she has included 45 

the definitions but they do not currently appear in the provisions, but 
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what you are suggesting is they should now be, now that they are 

defined, they should actually be used, is that correct? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Yes. 

 5 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, and just can you just explain again the produce packing 

facilities, what your proposal is there, I am just? 

 

MR HODGSON:   Certainly, the produce packing facilities are usually, are 

reasonably large integrated facilities where produce is brought to a site 10 

from within a single grower’s operation, or might be a cooperative, and 

there is usually a large building associated with under cover storage of 

produce and packing facilities and outdoors there will be curtilage for 

truck manoeuvring and parking and there will also be outdoor storage 

of bins as well. 15 

 

 So my suggestion was changing the term from “produce packing 

facilities” to “produce packing buildings”, given that it would be the 

building that I would assume is the sensitive part of the activity relative 

to the infrastructure, not the curtilage or the bin storage. 20 

 

MR WILLIS:   So what your proposal would do, if it was accepted, would 

slightly narrow, or somewhat narrow in, like us, any views about how 

slight it might be, but it would somewhat narrow the current application 

that produce packing facility terminology, but it would be on, in respect 25 

of matters in your opinion, wouldn’t be at risk of breaching the code 

anyway? 

 

MR HODGSON:   That’s right. 

 30 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, I think I understand, thank you, sorry about that.  No, 

that is all, thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Just following on from Mr Willis’ questions, it is 

in my, it is difficult for me to follow your paragraphs 14 through to 18, 

to make sure it is clear what, how you are anticipating that P2 might be 

structured to take into account your changes. 

 40 

 Would you be prepared to do a version of P2 that would meet the 

suggestions you made? 

 

MR HODGSON:   My apologies, Commissioner, we could certainly submit 

that as a tracked change option. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   It would certainly be easier for us to understand what you are 

suggesting. 

 

MR HODGSON:   Sure. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Ms Appleyard? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, Sir. 10 

 

SJH:   Ms Ash? 

 

MS ASH:   No, sir. 

 15 

SJH:   Anything arising, or re-examination? 

 

MS ATKINS:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:  Can you arrange to have that lodged with us, say, by the end of the 20 

week? 

 

MS ATKINS:   Absolutely, sir, no problem. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Hodgson, you may stand down. 25 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.43 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you, everybody.  We will adjourn until 10.00 am tomorrow 

morning. 30 

 
MATTER ADJOURNED AT 3.43 PM UNTIL 
TUESDAY, 17 NOVEMBER 2015 


